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Our Business 
 

The principal activities of the Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited group (group) are the supply of clean 
water and the treatment and disposal of wastewater. Yorkshire Water Services Limited (Yorkshire 
Water), the group’s regulated utility subsidiary in UK, is responsible for both water and wastewater 
services. In addition to the main trading entity, the group also comprises six financing companies, 
the activities of which are described in more detail later in the Strategic Report. 

Yorkshire Water  

Yorkshire Water is the principal UK subsidiary of the group, providing water and wastewater services 
to more than five million people and 140,000 businesses. Every day, Yorkshire Water supplies around 
1.3 billion litres of drinking water to homes and businesses in Yorkshire. Through the efficient 
operation of its extensive wastewater network and treatment facilities, it also ensures that the 
region’s domestic and industrial waste is returned safely to the environment.  
 
Yorkshire Water results are largely presented as the ‘UK Regulated Water Services’ segment.  
 
Business strategy: Yorkshire Water provide some of life’s most essential services to the people and 
businesses of Yorkshire, playing a key role in the region’s health, wellbeing, and prosperity. We do 
this by supplying water and wastewater services and being custodians of essential infrastructure 
and the natural environment. 

Whilst Yorkshire Water is a highly regulated business, the strategy is also to go beyond compliance 
and further support Yorkshire by working in partnership to champion healthy, thriving livelihoods 
and sustainable economic growth.  
 
Further details of Yorkshire Water’s business strategy are detailed within this Strategic Report. 
 

Our business strategy for Yorkshire Water 
 
We provide some of life’s most essential services to the people and businesses of Yorkshire, playing 
a key role in the region’s health, wellbeing, and prosperity. We do this by supplying water and 
wastewater services and being custodians of essential infrastructure and the natural environment. 
Water companies are unique institutions, and the history of water and sewage services has seen a 
number of hybrid structures sitting between the public and private sectors. Although ownership 
structures have varied over time, the use of private capital to fund investment has been a constant. 
Yorkshire Water sees itself as a public service provider first and foremost. Public service ethos runs 
deep in our culture and is matched by environmental commitment. We have an over 30-year track 
record of delivering privately financed investment for public and environmental good. A 
commercial focus means that investment is delivered efficiently and effectively and provides best 
value for customers.  

The bills customers pay do more than just cover the cost of the direct service they receive in their 
homes and businesses. They contribute to Yorkshire’s resilience from flooding, and they help to 
improve the quality of our rivers and coasts. They mean that large parts of our upland landscapes 
can be managed sustainably, and over time they will help us invest to combat the impact of climate 
change. The impact of climate change is considered further in our Love our environment section.  
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Asset management periods (AMPs)  
Yorkshire Water, along with the other water companies in England and Wales, operates in five-year 
cycles known as AMPs. For each AMP we agree and work to a plan that is developed through 
extensive assessment, planning and customer engagement. The planning process is known as the 
‘Price Review’. These five-year plans are set in the long-term context of a 25-year strategic direction, 
our ‘long-term strategy’, which we are in the process of reviewing. The current reporting period 
covers 2020-2025 and is known as AMP7. 
 
Within our five-year plan is the setting and agreeing with Ofwat and customers the performance 
standards that they expect of us. These form the basis of our performance commitments (PCs). 
Some of these PCs are so important to service standards that they attract a penalty for lower than 
expected performances, or a reward for higher than expected performance. These are the Outcome 
Delivery Incentives (ODIs). 

Our long-term strategy  
Our long-term strategy sets out our purpose and how we intend to deliver it through our strategic 
goals - the Five Big Goals; the behaviours that we value; and the approach to governance. Our 
strategy is summarised in the diagram following.  
 
Our purpose is clear, 'we're proud to play water's role in making Yorkshire a brilliant place to be - 
now and always'. Being proud to play water’s role means that we provide essential water, 
wastewater and customer services to the people and businesses of Yorkshire, reliably and to a high 
standard. Making Yorkshire a brilliant place to be means that we strive to improve the region’s 
health, wellbeing, and prosperity by supporting communities, protecting, and enhancing the 
environment, creating an amazing place to work, and ensuring our services are affordable. We carry 
this out in a way that meets the needs of everyone, of our customers, colleagues, and stakeholders, 
for today and for the future. We make sustainable choices that seek to balance the needs of today 
with the needs of future generations.  

Water is one of life’s essentials and we are concerned about taking care of it in the right way for 
everyone, all the time. How we do this really matters: our services rely on the natural resources we 
take from and return to the environment; therefore, we need to protect and enhance Yorkshire’s 
environment. How we transport and recycle water that has been used by our customers, the way 
we look after our land, our broader support to local communities and the partnerships we develop, 
will make a difference to Yorkshire. 
 
Customers continue to prioritise high quality, uninterrupted services, meaning that service 
resilience is a priority. We need to plan carefully to ensure that we can not only deliver resilient 
services today, but that we can continue to do this in the future, despite the increasing pressures 
from climate change, population growth and increasing pressures on the environment, further 
information can be found in our Love our environment section. Our services impact and are 
impacted by environmental and community resilience and we look to enhance these in how we 
deliver our services. Our broader organisational resilience is critical to our ability to deliver our 
services into the future, and we continue our focus on financial resilience, cyber security and 
emergency planning. 
 
As a result of the fast-changing external landscape, and increasing stakeholder expectations, we 
continue to evolve our long-term strategy. Over the last year there have been several significant 
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changes in some of the external factors that impact on our organisation, our customers, 
stakeholder and partners. The impact of these changes is acutely felt by customers and 
communities in respect of the cost-of-living crisis and by businesses in increasing costs to deliver 
services. The need to maintain affordable services to customers and to deliver those services safely 
and efficiently is the focus of business-as-usual activities, our transformation programme and our 
AMP7 performance improvement plan.  
 
Increasing political, regulatory and stakeholder expectations, particularly in respect of the 
environment have been seen through amendments to the Environment Act, resulting in stretching 
Environment Bill targets for the water industry and in the Environmental Audit Committee’s inquiry 
into water quality in rivers and coasts. Our strategic response is to continue to develop our plans to 
do more to benefit the environment, including our ambitious net zero operational carbon plans, 
commitment to monitor and provide transparent data on the operational of all our storm overflows 
and our plans to improve Yorkshire’s rivers and coasts. 
 
We have started preparing our plans for the next Price Review, which takes place in 2024 and covers 
the period 2025-2030 (AMP8). As part of this process, we will set out our plans for AMP8 in the context 
of a 25-year plan. Our strategic goals are under review and will be updated taking account of 
changing externalities and customer and stakeholder priorities. These will set the context for our 
refreshed long-term strategy and AMP8 delivery plan. 
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Purpose led decision making 

At the heart of our strategy is the recognition that our core business fundamentally relies on 
financial, natural, and social resources. Whilst there are major challenges to the resilience of our 
essential water and wastewater services, we know how important it is that we maintain the trust of 
our customers and stakeholders by always acting with integrity and being open about our 
performance. To help us make sure that our decision-making fully considers with these matters, we 
are using the concept of the Six Capitals to embed purpose-led decision making at the core of our 
business. 
 
Our Six Capitals approach is designed to help us become more sustainable and resilient by 
considering value in the broadest sense. Capital is often thought of only as money, but in fact 
describes any resource or asset that stores or provides value to people. The Six Capitals, as 
summarised in the diagram below, are important to us as they help us measure the total value we 
deliver to Yorkshire through our work.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Six Capitals approach helps us measure progress towards our strategic goals, ensures that 
purpose is at the heart of our day-to-day decision making, and provides a framework in which we 
can clearly communicate the impact we have on Yorkshire with customers and stakeholders. We 
have instigated a range of projects to examine our impacts and dependencies across the capitals, 
assessing a range of economic, environmental, and social attributes associated with our activities. 
These consider both our negative and positive impacts on society and the environment, and 
strengthen the evidence base that supports our decision making. Some examples of our latest 
progress developing and deploying the Six Capitals approach include: 
 

• Conducting an annual assessment of our total impact and value, which is published in a 
report called ‘Our Contribution to Yorkshire’ and reviews the 2021 reporting year. This is our 
third report of this type and builds on the previous versions using new techniques and data. 
The report shows the strong net positive contribution Yorkshire Water delivers for society, 
and it highlights further areas where we have risk and opportunity needing further attention. 
The report is available at www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/capitals. The fourth report, 
reviewing the 2022 reporting year, will be published in October 2022.  

• Continuing to apply the Sustainable Finance Framework (SFF), which we introduced in 
January 2019, applying the Six Capitals approach to monitor the impact of our operations 

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/capitals/
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and investments. We have raised to date £1,200m of debt through the framework, which we 
discuss further in the financial section of this Strategic Report. You can find more details 
about our SFF at www.yorkshirewater.com/media/dbrc0hjo/investor-impact-report  

• Applying and embedding the Six Capitals assessment functionality that is integrated in our 
planning and optimisation system, the Decision-Making Framework (DMF). We used the tool 
to optimise and report the impact and value of our five-year business plan from 2020 to 
2025, and we are now working hard to embed this across our business to help shape the 
design of every asset management solution. 

• Using our DMF Six Capitals tool to enhance our understanding of the risk we face from 
climate change, including economic valuation of this risk. We explore this work in more 
detail in our Love our environment section.  

• Developing a Six Capitals land planning tool that will support our new land strategy. This will 
ensure we realise the maximum value from our 28,000 hectares of land holdings across 
Yorkshire by protecting sources of water while delivering other benefits such as flood 
management, recreation, farming, wildlife, and carbon storage. 

We also support the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) and are ensuring our strategy and 
activities grow our contribution to them. Through the United Nations (UN), the global community 
has formally adopted a set of 17 Goals which define and drive towards sustainable development. 
The 17 SDGs are underpinned by 169 targets. You can find out more about the SDGs at 
https://sdgs.un.org/.  
 

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/media/dbrc0hjo/investor-impact-report.pdf
https://sdgs.un.org/
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Our Five Big Goals 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Putting people first 

We're proud to be a people business. We need the most 
engaged and capable colleagues to ensure we deliver a positive 
impact on our customers and stakeholders every day. We'll 
develop a deep understanding of both our customers and 
colleagues to ensure we design best in class experiences. 

Being great with water 

We want to play an active role in helping everyone in Yorkshire 
work together to look after our water. Our customers rely on us 
to provide safe water, take away and recycle wastewater, work 
smart to minimise the amount lost through leaks and reduce 
pollution and flood risk. 

Love our environment 

We want to protect the environment in whatever we do. Our 
customers trust us to look after and sustainably manage the 
land we own, and we want to open it up for everyone to enjoy. 
We'll lead by example in Yorkshire on big environmental issues 
like committing to net zero carbon emissions by 2030. 

Being a great partner 

We want to lead by example in Yorkshire and we'll use the best 
from around the globe to do that. We'll be open about what we 
do, work in collaboration with customers and in partnership with 
others to help our region, and our business, to grow. We'll 
celebrate the diversity we have in Yorkshire, opening 
opportunities for as many people as possible. 

Keeping services affordable 

We want our services and bills to be affordable for everyone, so 
no-one need worry about having to pay. To do this we drive high 
quality and operational excellence through having a culture that 
champions customer and colleague needs, continuous 
improvement, and innovation. 
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Our business model 
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Yorkshire Water  
The following sections cover the Five Big Goals used to measure Yorkshire Water’s financial and 
non-financial performance criteria.  

Our Five Big Goals - Putting people first 

Health & Safety  

When putting people first, nothing is more important than the safety, health and wellbeing of our 
colleagues, partners, and customers. Our goal is Zero Harm, not as a statistical target, but as a 
moral imperative, and as such we are committed to driving a proactive safety culture that is 
addressed through people, plant, and process.  

Our key measures 
Measure Units 2021 2022 2023 
    Actual Target Actual Target 

Lost time injury rate (LTIR) No./10,000 hours 0.21 0.27 0.24 0.3 

Sickness absence rate % 3.06 7 3.53 3.5 
Process safety Incidents 5 <12 0 <5 
Leadership safety activities (eg: 
site visits) 

No. activities 7,057 6,885 6,632  6,672 

Last year, following an external assessment of our safety culture we implemented a revised health, 
safety, security and environment (HSSE) strategy based on people, plant and process, which has 
driven an improvement in our safety culture that is reflected in our HSSE performance. 
 
Occupational safety 
This year we have achieved our LTIR target, this is a slight increase on the previous year’s 
performance and is represented by a majority of incidents being the result of slip, trip and falls. In 
order to maintain focus on the prevention of injury we also look to our near-miss incidents and 
those with high potential outcome to drive learning and improvement. In line with this, we have 
established Incident Review Panels and Learning Review Boards, that assess the quality of 
investigations and captures broader lessons to drive continual improvement. 
 
Health and wellbeing 
The sickness absence rate was ahead of the target for the year. Covid-19 has been effectively 
managed through the Covid-19 management group that has continually monitored and 
responded to the changes in guidance. It is still very difficult to estimate what is now 'normal', but 
given the easing of Covid-19 restrictions and the fact it is still endemic we have increased sickness 
absence forecasts to account for this. We have observed the direct and indirect impact of Covid-
19 on colleagues’ wellbeing, with the majority of occupational referrals being related to mental and 
emotional wellbeing. In order to support our colleagues, we have continued to train mental health 
first aiders and provide specialist counselling support services to those colleagues who have 
required support. In addition, health campaigns and specialist support groups have been 
established to promote health lifestyles in line with public health agenda. 
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Process safety 
The maturing of our approach to process safety continues and is reflected in our performance of 
zero process safety tier one and tier two incidents. Last year we established a five-point plan 
covering the (i) control and assessment of major process safety risks, (ii) competence of operators, 
(iii) implementation of leading process safety indicators and (iv) implementation of process safety 
management framework and (v) delivering a program process hazards review for legacy assets. 
Collectively this controls process safety risks throughout the lifecycle of the asset. This is overseen 
by the Process Safety Strategy Group chaired by the HSSE Director, who in turn reports annually to 
the Safety, Health and Environment (SHE) Committee. 
 
Safety leadership  
Safety is set by the tone from the top and one of the areas that is measured closely by the 
leadership team. Outside the measurable performance in this area, reflected in the table above, we 
have delivered a Board and executive level workshop on safety culture and have established 
executive level Committee for HSSE, chaired by the CEO to ensure that issues can be raised and 
resolved at a senior level. This complimenting the work of the SHE Committee. 
 
Public safety  
At the forefront of our mind is public safety, a wide area of activity which spans from when a 
customer calls one of our contact centres, when our colleagues are operating on public highways, 
and to when visitors attend one of our scenic reservoirs. In the past year we have established a 
Public Safety Strategy Committee that consists of senior leaders within the business to ensure that 
we are doing all we practically can to safeguard the public. As such, the group looks at topics such 
as safeguarding vulnerable customers, ensuring our facilities have the necessary protective 
measures, as well as education and campaigns to inform the public of potential hazards. We 
currently are looking at developing leading performance indicators to measure and ensure that we 
are continuing to deliver.  
 
Contractor safety 
We have made great strides in our vision of ‘One Yorkshire Water’, with increased engagement with 
our contract partners both with our capital and service delivery world. We have established a 
regular cadence of meetings with our partners so they can share best practices with other parts of 
the business. In the last year we have made a focus on reporting and learning from incidents, so as 
to prevent future incident from recurring. We placed a specific lens creating clarity in relation to 
contract and vendor management to ensure that our partners understand our expectations in 
respect to safety and that our Yorkshire Water colleagues understand their commitments to 
ensuring that our partners operate safely. 
 
Our approach to safety 
In line with our safety strategy each year, we review our safety improvement plan so make sure we 
are driving continuous improvement through learning. The plan set out key milestone deliverables 
for focus areas such contractor safety, process safety, occupational health, occupational safety 
and security. This year we delivered all major milestones of the plan that in turn has contributed to 
our strong performance. In the coming year we will continue to focus on process safety and 
contractor safety and embed the work that has been done, whilst placing a greater focus on 
engagement with our colleagues to learn from them. 
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Our Colleagues  

Our key measures 

Measure Units 2021 2022 2023 

    Actual Target Actual Target 

Staff turnover – voluntary leavers % 5.02 <10.00 10.2 <10.00 
Competency and progression – internal 
promotions and moves 

% 15.31 15 18.48 16 

Diversity & Inclusion – Proportion of 
workforce who are female 

% 32.16 36 32.23 36 

 
Working ethically and respecting human rights 
Our human rights policy recognises international human rights, as set out in the Bill of Human Rights 
and the principles described in the UN Global Compact. The policy can be found on our website at: 
www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/human-rights-policy. It is a fundamental policy of 
Yorkshire Water to conduct its business with honesty and integrity and in accordance with the 
highest standards of ethics, equity and fair dealing. Our Code of Ethics was relaunched in the year 
and includes our policies on anti-corruption and anti-bribery. This has been accompanied by 
mandatory online training for all of our colleagues to ensure everyone understands the ethical 
standards that we expect of our people. We have taken steps to assure there is no slavery or human 
trafficking occurring within our organisation or its supply chains. Our Living Wage accreditation 
ensures all employees are paid over and above statutory wage levels. We also embed contractual 
requirements throughout our supply chain activities and check compliance through a range of 
assurance controls, including the requirement that all suppliers will abide by our Living Wage 
Commitment. In compliance with the Modern Slavery Act 2015 we publish an annual statement on 
our commitment to the issue. Our latest statement can be found on our website at: 
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/our-policies/modern-slavery-act/.  

 
Ensuring responsibility throughout our supply chain 
We are committed to promoting a supply chain that delivers the long-term provision of great value 
and highly resilient services to our customers. Our ambition is to work in collaboration with our 
suppliers to responsibly address current and emerging social, economic, and environmental 
challenges, both locally and globally. Poor labour practices have the potential to exist in all supply 
chains, both overseas and within the UK. All new supply contracts and purchase order terms oblige 
our suppliers to comply with the Modern Slavery Act 2015, including the abolition of human rights 
abuse in all its forms. We will continue to work with our supply chain to ensure compliance with 
relevant legislation and seek to improve labour practices. We partner with external experts to help 
us to understand the parts of our supply chain that represent the greatest risk, and work with them 
to gain assurance that poor practices are not in place. Our Sustainable Procurement Strategy sets 
out our objectives in full and is aligned to the wider Water Industry Public Interest Commitment: 

www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/sustainable-procurement-strategy  

www.water.org.uk/publication/water-uk-public-interest-commitment-update.  

http://www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/human-rights-policy
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/our-policies/modern-slavery-act/
http://www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/sustainable-procurement-strategy
http://www.water.org.uk/publication/water-uk-public-interest-commitment-update
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Attracting great people and maintaining the skills we need 
We recognise that our people are our most important assets and it is key to attract, retain and 
engage top talent with the skills we need to make our workforce resilient, to ensure our success, 
both now and in the future. It is noted in the key metrics table that 2021 saw a lower turnover of staff 
which was largely due to the uncertainty around Covid-19, as restrictions have eased and with 
external economic pressures, we have seen an increase in employee turnover levels this year. 
However, the 2022 levels are more reflective of pre-pandemic rates. Our people strategy and 
supporting programme of change will transform the way we develop our people through a range 
of initiatives, developing talent programmes and rewarding our colleagues with great and flexible 
working environments, fair wage, and reward package.  

In 2022 we have: 

• 164 apprentices, 31 who have been brought in externally and the remaining 133 existing 
colleagues; 

• 24 graduates over two cohorts currently in our programme; 
• Taken the opportunity from the Government's 'Kickstart' scheme which provides funding to 

employers to create jobs for 16-25 year olds on Universal Credit. We currently have 26 
individuals on this programme; 

• Seven colleagues in our 'T-level' programme. The 'T-level' programme is similar to an 
apprenticeship, however, they spend most of their time in the classroom as opposed to learning 
on the job; 

• Continued investment in social recruitment channels, utilising social media tools to attract a 
wider and more diverse talent pool, allowing us to reach candidates more readily and enable 
talent to understand our culture. This improves our candidate pools and expands our talent 
pipelines; 

• Continued use of online tools to assess and interview colleagues virtually; 
• Continued on-the-job assessments for operational colleagues, which are aligned to the 

technical competency framework allowing us to develop, retain, recruit a skilled workforce;  
• Continued operational front line and management onboarding and induction plans that 

provides critical skills and knowledge to help new colleagues succeed in their role. This has 
meant we can integrate new employees and help them to understand the systems and 
procedures followed by the organisation. New employees settle down quickly in the new work 
environment and the support enables them to flourish in their role; and 

• Continued with our commitment to diversity and inclusion with investment in various 
programmes, more detail of this is given in the Equality, diversity and inclusion section below. 

 
Equality, diversity and inclusion 

We are committed to providing an equitable, diverse, and inclusive (ED&I) working environment. 
This is integral to delivering our Five Big Goals and our vision of ‘Putting people at the heart of 
everything we do’. We know that an effective ED&I approach is imperative in maintaining successful 
performance and ensuring equity of opportunity amongst all existing and future employees.  
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Below we provide diversity statistics for the current and prior period: 
 

 

 
 
In note 6 to the Financial Statements we disclose figures relating to a total of 3,931 employees, for 
the UK regulated water services, who were employed based on monthly averages throughout the 
financial year. The figures stated in the tables above relates to the number of employees at 31 
March 2022. Both approaches are accurate and are provided in the format stated by the relevant 
regulatory requirements.  
 
Like many companies in the water sector, historically we have had a predominantly white male 
workforce. We continue our focus on improving our diversity across genders, LGBT+, race, disability, 
social background and more, to better reflect the communities we serve. We are currently reviewing 
our targeted data-led approach, that underpins our strategy to better inform us on where we need 
to move the dial on ED&I. Examples of activities we are doing in this area are:  

• We have recently appointed an experienced ED&I manager; 
• We are reviewing our ED&I strategy and look to ensure ED&I is embedded in everything we do 

across our business; 
• We have worked to integrate the improvements identified in the last review of our recruitment 

process to ensure it is supportive of difference and inclusion; 
• Continuing to publish Our Workforce Diversity Report, as well as the Ethnicity and Gender Pay 

Gap reports. Together they capture in detail our data and the activities we have taken geared 
towards ED&I in our business; 

• Our business disability forum has launched, and a clearer centralised process has been 
created to enable our people to quickly receive any support they need; 

• We monitor progress, using quantitative and qualitative data to highlight where barriers exist, 
show the impact of our interventions, and make appropriate adjustments where needed. We 
also use employee surveys to evaluate initiatives, to assess if policies are working for everyone, 
and to provide a platform for feedback and improvements; 

• We have continued our investment in our Leadership programmes and a commitment to ED&I 
education. We ensure that our leaders are upskilled on mental health and have mandated 
eLearning courses covering issues across ED&I including Unconscious Bias and Trans 
Awareness; and 

• We recently introduced an auto-signature template which includes preferred pronouns, and 
four employees participated in a ten-week training program covering LGBT+ issues in the 
workplace. 

Our programmes 
• Our Women in Leadership programme, for those future leaders looking to progress to senior 

leadership or operational roles - ten more women entered the programme in September last 

Gender 
Male Female 

2022 2021 2022 2021 
Statutory 
directors 

7 9 3 2 
70.0% 81.8% 30% 18.2% 

Senior managers 
30 27 14 13 

68.2% 67.5% 31.8% 32.5% 
Remaining 
employees 

2,856 2,879 1,012 995 
73.8% 74.3% 26.2% 25.7% 

Ethnicity 
White BAME Not disclosed 

2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 
Statutory 
directors 

10 11 0 0 0 0 
100% 100% 0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

Senior 
managers 

27 29 2 2 15 9 
61.4% 72.5% 4.5% 5.0% 34.1% 22.5% 

Remaining 
employees 

2,274 2,501 187 206 1,407 1,167 
58.8% 64.6% 4.8% 5.3% 36.4% 30.1% 
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year. There is a strong network between the alumni, and 60% of attendees since 2017 have either 
moved up, sideways or improved their career prospects within the business. 

• Our Black, Asian and minority ethnic (BAME) Leadership programme, for those future leaders 
looking to progress to a band three management role or above. We have had three cohorts 
completing the course so far since 2019, and 60% of our people from the 2019 cohort have either 
moved up or sideways within the business. These cohorts also form a strong network within the 
business. 

• We work with the Trade Union Congress (TUC) and trade unions, to provide career support and 
employment to young people (age 16–25 on Universal Credit) as part of the Government’s 
'Kickstart' programme. 

External relationships 
These activities look to improve the attraction, recruitment, development, and promotion across all 
areas of diversity in Yorkshire Water and further drive inclusion: 

• Business Disability Forum membership - which gives all our people access to an advice service 
with support for any matters around disability and provides managers with a range of support 
and guides to assist their teams with disability. 

• Lighthouse Futures Trust Partner - which supports children and young adults on the autistic 
spectrum. We run supported internships for students with an autistic spectrum condition. In the 
first year, five out of the seven secured further opportunities within Yorkshire Water. We currently 
have eight people from the Lighthouse Trust who joined us in 2021 as interns and continue to 
enjoy their roles with us. 

• We are a part of an employer’s forum supporting internships and employment for students with 
autism across the region. 

• Yorkshire Diversity Forum - with approximately 70 members, businesses from across Yorkshire 
come together on a quarterly basis to discuss best practice around ED&I. This allows us to 
benchmark progress against other organisations and explore what others are doing to adopt 
and adapt ideas where appropriate. 

• We continue to participate and share in partnership learning within the Energy Utility Skills 
partnership and, together with other members, we are part of the wider inclusion commitment. 

• We play a key role in the Leeds Anchor Institutions network and are part of the Social Mobility 
Business Partnership. 

We will continue to proactively monitor and report on all this work. Our aim is to put people at the 
heart of everything we do, to create an environment that appreciates difference, is inclusive and 
where everyone can feel free to be their authentic selves. 

Gender pay gap 
We started reporting information on the gender pay gap in 2015. Since then, we have seen the 
development and implementation of The Equality Act 2010 (Gender Pay Gap Information) 
Regulations 2017 and we have published our gender pay gap data, in line with the Regulations, as 
summarised below. The most recently published data is for the 5 April 2021 and is included for 
information below. Data for 5 April 2022 is expected to be published later in 2022. Further information 
about our gender pay gap and the action we are taking to address it can be found on our website 
at: www.yorkshirewater.com/careers/working-for-yorkshire-water/diversity-inclusion  
 
  

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/careers/working-for-yorkshire-water/diversity-inclusion/
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Pay and bonus gap 

Year 
Mean 

Hourly 
Median 
Hourly 

Mean 
Bonus 

Median 
Bonus 

2021 4.1% 5.7% (3.4%) 0.0% 
2020 (0.5%) (0.3%) (6.3%) 0.0% 

Receiving bonus 

Year Females Males 

2021 88.3% 93.9% 

2020 91.2% 93.5% 

Pay quartiles 

Year 
Top quartile 

Upper middle 
quartile 

Lower middle 
quartile 

Lower quartile 

F M F M F M F M 

2021 22.9% 77.1% 24.1% 75.9% 21.5% 78.5% 33.0% 67.0% 

2020 23.8% 76.2% 22.7% 77.3% 19.5% 80.5% 26.0% 74.0% 

*Published figures are to 5 April for each year in line with Regulations. 

Both the mean and the median pay gaps in 2021 have seen an increase from the respective 2020 
figures. A change in the demographics of some specific parts of Yorkshire Water, and the impact of 
the Covid-19 pandemic on payments included in the April 2020 data, are largely behind this 
increase in the gap. Although they have increased very slightly from 2020, they remain lower than 
those seen in most of the previous reporting years, and well below the national average.  

Ethnicity pay gap 
Our ethnicity pay gap data for 2021 is summarised below: 

  

Mean hourly 
pay 

Median hourly 
pay 

2021 2020 2021 2020 

General 
pay gap 

3.6% (8.8%) 9.6% 2.1% 

In 2021, the mean ethnicity pay gap has narrowed towards equality of 0%, down from (8.8%) to 3.6%, 
but the median ethnicity pay gap has increased from 2.1% to 9.6%, with both the pay gaps 
favourable for white colleagues. Relative to the total number of colleagues across the population 
covered by the 2021 data and, who disclose their ethnicity, there is a proportionately greater 
representation of BAME colleagues in our most senior pay band and our most junior pay band. 
Conversely, this pattern of representation is reversed for the pay bands in between which covers 
the majority of the professional and senior management population. As a result of this, there is a 
difference between the mean and median pay gap figures for 2021.  

There has been an increase in proportion of colleagues who have not disclosed their ethnicity and 
hence are not included in the pay gap calculations. This is predominantly due to a change in 
process for capturing diversity data for new starters. With the development of the broader 
approach to ED&I, this must help focus the business on reducing this gap based on a greater 
disclosure rate.  
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Further information about our ethnicity pay gap and the action we are taking to address it can be 
found on our website through our workforce diversity report at:  

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/41349-Yw-Workplace-Diversity-Report-Web-Jan-
2021  
 
Our customers  
We’ve continued to deliver on our Customer Experience strategy with the intent to become “one of 
Yorkshire’s most customer and colleague valued organisations”. This recognises that our household 
customers are unable to choose other water companies, and so should really value the experience 
when comparing us with other organisations they do choose to deal with. The strategy also helps 
us deliver on Ofwat’s measure of service, the Customer Measure of Experience (CMEX), which is an 
industry comparability measure of performance. This measure not only assesses a customer’s 
service experience but is equally weighted with a broader survey of their overall perception of 
Yorkshire Water as a brand. This makes it even more imperative that we’re living up to our customer 
expectations every day. Our final CMEX score has fallen compared with prior year and was one 
place behind our target. We are preparing a detailed insight review to understand how our 
performance can be improved. 

As well as working to improve the overall experience we deliver to customers, we are also targeting 
a reduced cost to serve, ultimately making bills more affordable. The delivery of the strategy is a 
balance between in-year agile change to ‘fix the basics’ and longer-term change investing in our 
strategic capabilities to enable a more digitally enhanced customer experience.  

This year we’ve focused on equipping colleagues across the business with the support they need 
to deliver on our promise to customers. This has included many improvements delivered through 
our agile change framework such as enhanced online payment, metering and account 
management journeys and developing our online incident map to show customers bursts and 
leaks that have already been reported to us. We have completed the redesign of the website to 
better help customers to find the information they need, and the work was awarded ‘best use of 
digital in energy and utilities’ at the Digital Impact Awards 2021. 

We’ve also been investing in colleague capabilities by equipping them with the right skills and 
knowledge through our new promise training framework and by introducing a new operating model 
in our customer management centre aimed at being set up to recover customers when customer 
experience is not at the level we aspire to be at. Our billing centre (Loop) were awarded the ‘gold’ 
standard for Investors in People in 2021. 

We have experienced higher than normal volumes of customer contacts in billing as customers are 
anxious about the cost of their bills in relation to increased consumption during the pandemic, as 
well as the rising costs of living. We’ve also seen high volumes of water and wastewater calls 
particularly around weather events such as the winter storms. This increase has put pressure on 
both colleagues and our existing digital channels and reinforces the need for future investment in 
our digital customer experience to better manage the customer demand. 

We have been unable to grow our Priority Services Register at the rate originally hoped due to issues 
with data sharing and General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR). Despite this, the Priority Services 
Register satisfaction score has outperformed its target, demonstrating that we are meeting the 
needs of those customers in vulnerability.  

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/41349-Yw-Workplace-Diversity-Report-Web-Jan-2021
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/attachments/41349-Yw-Workplace-Diversity-Report-Web-Jan-2021
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Developer Services have made significant progress with the performance transformation required 
to improve the Developer Services Measure of Experience (DMEX) score and provide a better 
platform for development growth in Yorkshire. Whilst our DMEX ranking has dropped to 17th, we are 
in a strong position to Improve on this in 2023 and are working towards a target of 14th in the next 
financial year. In addition, our gap sites performance has improved to a position where we are on 
target for the PC.  

For next year the focus continues to be on equipping the business with the required skills, tools and 
capabilities to further improve the value customers experience from Yorkshire Water. Change 
activity will focus on: 

• Delivering simpler customer journeys by introducing new standards as part of our business 
transformation programme and assurance framework, driving digital transformation with 
improved channel capabilities, and implementing a stronger incident response policy that 
prioritises vulnerable customer needs.  

• Making a difference to customers through a new operating model in the customer 
management centre and embedding a performance excellence culture to drive focus on 
performance and efficiency. 

• Supporting colleagues with the skills needed to deliver for customers through the next 
phase of our Promise Academy training plan. 

• Being a strong advocate of our customers’ needs, working closely with Consumer Council 
for Water (CCW), Water UK and our partners to collaborate on affordability, vulnerability 
and service issues. 

 
Our key measures 

 
Communities 

Supporting communities through education and volunteering 
Our education programme supports delivery of our core business strategy, through provision of 
diverse content drawn from the breadth of services we provide. The programme provides key 
opportunities for us to engage with our customers from an early age, helping them to understand 
the value of what we do, learning about safety around water, and exposing them to new 
opportunities for their own futures.  
 
As well as creating social value through education, these early interactions with our customers also 
give us multiple business benefits. These include helping us to build trusted relationships with 

Measure Units 2021 2022 2023 
    Actual Target Actual Target 
Customer Voice  Score 4.67 4.7 4.53 4.6 
CMEX Ranking 8th 9th 10th  9th 
DMEX Ranking 16th 16th 17th 14th 

Priority Services Register 
No. of customers on 
the register 

77,395 >90,000 88,702 169,725 

Priority Services Register 
Customer satisfaction 
% 

91 84 80 88 

Gap sites % 60 >83 82.8 >86 
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students and their families, and to benefit from water efficiency and ‘what not to flush’ behavioural 
change. Sessions can also inspire them to forge careers, either directly in our workforce, or in roles 
that help to address skills shortages in the industry more broadly. 
 
The programme has continued to evolve during the Covid-19 pandemic, and we now offer a range 
of face-to-face, virtual and online programmes to both primary and secondary audiences. We run 
many of our face-to-face sessions from our dedicated education centres at our treatment works 
and at our nature reserve at Tophill Low, giving students the opportunity to benefit from learning 
outside the classroom. Our treatment works programmes include learning about the value of water, 
the water cycle and our water and sewage treatment processes. Those at Tophill Low focus on the 
importance of water to wildlife and nature with our ‘Life on the water’ and ‘Life underwater’ sessions.  
Since September 2021, our education team have also been working in partnership with Living with 
Water to build understanding across Hull and the East Riding about the threats and opportunities 
water brings to the region. The Living with Water Community Hub is a one-of-a-kind facility 
providing an inspiring and interactive space for schools, students and the wider community. This 
‘wet lab’ is a hands-on space designed to educate people on water cycles and flood risk in the 
area. Our education sessions here include showcasing sustainable drainage solutions (SuDS), 
learning how to register for flooding alerts and staying safe during flooding events. 
 
During 2022, our education programme reached a total of 21,354 students and adults and delivered 
25,446 hours of education. Under the requirements for our education PC, where feedback was 
required from attendees, we reached 18,667 students and adults and delivered 22,576 hours of 
education. One highlight of the year was our virtual water safety day, where we delivered live virtual 
assemblies to over 8,000 young people and teachers. Water Safety live events are now embedded 
throughout our educational calendar alongside our popular ‘Ask the Operator’ events. 
 
This year, we have also continued to expand our careers offering, providing live assemblies to 
schools across the region. October 2021 also saw the return of our Industrial Cadets work experience 
programme, which this year focused on leakage and water conservation. As part of our Big 
Ambition to put people at the heart of everything we do, our 'Give Back Bring Back' policy allows 
colleagues up to four working days per annum to get involved in community-based volunteering. 
Our programmes focus on four main themes which are directly linked to our business: education, 
environment, customers in vulnerability and employability. This volunteering benefits not only the 
organisations and people we support, but also our colleagues as they get the chance to use their 
experience in new situations, develop new skills and learn about the communities we serve across 
the region.  
 
Supporting WaterAid - Our long-standing charity partner 

We continue to support WaterAid to help bring clean water, decent toilets, and hygiene to 
communities in Ethiopia. This year we have supported their 20 Towns Capacity Building Project 
which focuses on strengthening urban water, sanitation and hygiene capacity. Now entering its 
second phase, WaterAid Ethiopia continues to build on their foundations, currently reaching 44 
small and medium-sized towns across four regions of the country. In January 2022, we were 
delighted to learn that our colleague, David Rose, who was instrumental in our work with the 20 
Towns project, has been awarded the President’s Award for Outstanding Contribution to WaterAid. 
Over the past 12 months, whilst the majority of our fundraising activities have been curtailed due to 
the Covid-19 pandemic, we have taken the opportunity to explore new options for fundraising and 
linking our work to our Six Capitals reporting structure. This year, our WaterAid payroll giving 
programmes raised over £39,900 through the charitable giving of colleagues and past employees.  
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Our Five Big Goals - Being great with water 

Clean Water 

Our water business collects and treats over a billion litres of water every day, treating the product 
to a food grade, and distributing to five million consumers daily. That volume of water is collected 
in 120 impounding reservoirs and abstracted from over 20 groundwater and river sources. It is 
treated to the highest standards at 50 water treatments works, distributed through 35,000 km of 
pipe work, and stored at optimum conditions to meet the demand 365 days a year when our 
customers want it.  
 
The key measures for our water service are noted in the table below. In 2022, the water business 
has been impacted by seven named storms, with Storm Arwen having a particularly significant 
impact on water supply interruptions. Underlying performance remains strong with the drive for a 
15% reduction in leakage successfully completed. CRI was impacted by a few high scoring sample 
failures, whilst unplanned outages (UPOs) were also higher than planned but maintained the trend 
towards upper quartile performance. Our performance against mains repairs benefitted from 
improvements in process under the new Water Services Partnership which has performed well in 
its first year. Achieving reward on our supply pipe replacement commitment brought benefits to 
customers and leakage during difficult post Covid-19 operating conditions. The improved 
performance comes from the increased levels of investment in capital maintenance and 
maintenance activities of the water treatment and distribution assets, as well as improved 
processes for response and resilience.  
 
Our key measures 

Measure Units 2021 2022 2023 
    Actual Target Actual Target 
Asset health - Mains 
repairs 

No of repairs per 1,000 km 
mains 

215 <183.6 169.8 181 

Asset health - UPO % 3.87 <4.42 3.82 3.73 
Leakage % reduction  3.5 >7.4 7.9 >9.4 
Drinking water contacts No./10,000 properties 10.5 <10.6 10.9 <9.7 
Drinking water quality (CRI) Score 2.34 0 4.83 0 
Water supply interruptions Mins:secs 07:14 <6:08 10:38 <5:45 

The forward plan has tight regulatory targets for all six measures. We are looking to meet the upper 
quartile threshold for performance set by Ofwat for UPO and CRI and continue the improvement in 
leakage across the remaining years of this five-year regulatory period. Significant effort has gone 
into improving our repair and maintenance performance on the distribution network as our current 
Water Service Agreement enters its final year. A successful tender process has created conditions 
for the new Water Services Partnership to further improve service and reduce cost of these 
activities, which are a significant part of our everyday operational response. Management of our 
water resources saw supplies maintained at a healthy position throughout 2022, and also providing 
the ability to support local flood resilience activities in the Calder Valley. 
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Wastewater 

Our wastewater business receives approximately a billion litres of wastewater every day and 
collects everything from the sinks, toilets, and baths from our domestic customers. We also receive 
industrial effluents from business customers across the region and via our combined sewers we 
collect water that runs from roads and other spaces which feed them. That volume of wastewater 
is collected, pumped, and treated through 52,315 km of sewer, 2,385 sewage pumping stations and 
608 wastewater treatment works before safely returning to the environment. The key measures for 
our wastewater service focus on pollution incidents and sewer flooding (internal and external to a 
customer’s property). These measures target reducing the potential for environmental and societal 
harm which can happen from operating such an expansive asset base.  

A number of improvements have been made in relation to wastewater performance, which is 
reflected in most of the measures reported below. Pollution incident numbers are, however, showing 
an increase, as a result of a change in methodology from the Environment Agency (EA) associated 
with third party power failures, and with incidents that are being now classed as “polluting” despite 
being permitted by the EA to discharge. YW has been discussing these changes with the EA for some 
time and recommends that greater consistency and clarity be introduced to pollution incident 
categorisation. The EA have committed to review the position and have written to the sector with 
potential changes for 2023. Underlying performance with pollution incidents remains unchanged 
from 2021, and management are reviewing the pollution incident reduction plan (PIRP) to deliver 
further improvements in AMP7.  

Sewer flooding has improved in Yorkshire in 2022, although it has fallen short of the annual target. 
This was a result of the three named storms that Yorkshire experienced in February, without which 
measures would be met. External sewer flooding remains ahead the regulatory target, whilst 
internal sewer flooding performance despite still improving is still an industry outlier and significant 
focus is being placed on improving performance to the industry average. The sewer network 
department has been restructured to allow greater focus on performance in 2023. 
 
Along with other water and sewerage companies, the performance of our wastewater assets has 
come under significant scrutiny in the course of the year. At the beginning of March 2022, we 
received notification of a request for information from Ofwat, made under section 203 of the Water 
Industry Act. This request has been made as part of the regulator’s industry-wide investigation into 
flow to full treatment (FFT) at wastewater treatment works. FFT is the measure of the amount of flow 
which our works have to treat before use of storm discharge. We have complied fully with the 
request and will continue to cooperate with Ofwat in the conduct of its investigation. Compliance 
with FFT has already been the subject of considerable management attention and we have set up 
a task force within the wastewater team to ensure that we manage the risks effectively. 
 
Our key measures 

Measure Units 2021 2022 2023 
    Actual Target Actual Target 

Pollution incidents 
No. of incidents per 
10,000 km sewer 

24 <23.74 27.36 <23 

External sewer flooding No. of incidents  5,038 <6,809 4,578 <6431 

Internal sewer flooding 
No. of incidents per 
10,000 km sewer 

3.34 <1.63 2.83 <1.58 
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Our forward plan has tighter regulatory targets for all three measures again. Our wastewater area 
is looking to meet the upper quartile threshold for performance set by Ofwat for pollution incidents 
and continue the improvement across the remaining years of this five-year period. The new PIRP, 
coupled with greater incident learning and management focus should deliver improved 
performance. We are investing significantly in sewer flooding through our transformation 
programme, the benefits of this investment will begin to land in 2023 and will deliver longer term 
step change improvements. This investment includes 40,000 network loggers to monitor remotely 
the performance of the sewer network to allow proactive interventions. 
 

Our Five Big Goals – Love our environment 
Energy & Carbon 
 
Catchment management 
Our estate covers around 28,000ha of land across Yorkshire, the majority of which surrounds our 
reservoirs in the west of the region. We manage this land primarily to ensure a reliable and clean 
supply of water for our customers, but also work with our farm tenants and other partners to provide 
further benefits for flood management, recreation, farming, wildlife, and carbon storage.  

Examples of ongoing work in this area include expanding our woodland estate through an 
ambitious tree planting programme, restoring substantial areas of peatland, creating pollinator 
superhighways to improve wildlife diversity, and introducing biosecurity facilities at our reservoirs 
to counter the spread of non-native invasive species. 
 
Nature-based solutions 
Traditional hard engineering solutions are often associated with negative environmental impacts 
due to their high use of energy and raw materials. To ensure we are able to achieve our goal of net 
zero by 2030, we have begun to trial the use of nature-based solutions to treat wastewater and 
reduce the risk of flooding.  

This year saw the opening of our first integrated constructed wetland at Clifton in South Yorkshire, 
which uses more than 24,000 plants to create an innovative, low-carbon approach to treat 
wastewater to a high standard before returning it to the environment. In contrast to a traditional 
treatment site, the wetland requires no onsite chemicals and has extremely low operational energy 
and carbon costs, in addition to delivering a net increase in biodiversity. We anticipate that this site 
will act as a template for similar nature-based solutions in future, with a further six treatment 
wetland projects now underway across the region. 

We are also working to trial the use of nature-based solutions to reduce flood risk to downstream 
homes and businesses. For example, in collaboration with the National Trust and other 
organisations we have installed hundreds of ‘leaky dams’ in the Calder Valley in West Yorkshire. 
These small wooden structures act to slow the flow of water during storm events, which reduces 
downstream flood risk and can also help alleviate pressure on our wastewater network and the 
operation of storm overflows into watercourses. 

Energy & Carbon 
Reducing our energy use and associated greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions continues to be a 
priority for us as we work towards our target of net zero operational emissions by 2030. Our energy 
and carbon reduction efforts span all areas of our business, from increasing our own renewable 
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energy generation capacity to encouraging a shift towards electric and more efficient company 
cars. 

Our energy efficiency measures are focused on improving site efficiency for our major treatment 
processes and on improving pumping efficiency throughout the business. Pumping currently 
makes up a significant proportion of our electricity consumption and projects are underway to 
introduce newer technologies and optimise our control philosophies. The majority of our sites have 
smart meters allowing us to collate, analyse and optimise our electricity usage across the day and 
to circulate daily consumption reports targeted for specific sites. To complement our energy 
efficiency work, we aim to reduce the amount of electricity imported into our sites by maximising 
our self-generation capacity, particularly from our anaerobic digestion and combined heat and 
power (CHP) plant, with a multi-site solar programme under development. Our solar programme 
will start later this calendar year and we plan to have 28 sites in place by 2025. 
Table 1: energy performance  

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

*We are not currently able to report the amount of renewable heat that we generate and consume. 
**Only trace amounts of kerosene are used. 
1Prior year numbers have been restated to disclose renewable electricity generated and consumed 
separately, and to reflect our revised intensity ratio methodology. 

We are continuing to work with academia and industry to grow our scientific understanding of 
emissions in the water industry and develop ways to improve our asset operations to minimise their 
emissions. Ongoing work over the past year on sludge digester optimisation with the University of 
York and on methane and nitrous oxide emissions with our strategic partners, Stantec, have been 
particularly promising. Another area we feel has great potential to reduce carbon emissions is the 
use of smart networks. These are interconnected devices such as smart customer meters, flow 
meters and acoustic monitors that together can improve our service to customers by reducing 
leakage and bursts and improving overall operational efficiency. In 2021 we finished a 12-month 
pilot scheme across Sheffield that involved approximately 3,500 smart meters. Over the duration of 
the trial, we reduced visible leaks in the trial area by 57% and reduced mains bursts by 28% 
compared to the year before the trial. Being able to pre-empt and target repair jobs also resulted 
in a 41% reduction in vehicle movements, leading to a saving of approximately 1,200 kgCO2e. We are 
now planning to expand the smart networks concept to other areas of Yorkshire and expect this to 
lead to further energy and emissions savings as a result. 

Fuel use, GWh 20211 2022 
Grid electricity  536 530 
Renewable electricity* generated and consumed 81 93 
Diesel 72 60 
Gas Oil 30 34 
Kerosene** - - 
Natural gas 9 12 
Petrol 2 2 
Total 730 731 

Intensity 
ratios 
  

kWh per megalitre of water 
supplied 

693 706 

kWh per megalitre of wastewater 
treated 

605 630 
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You can read more about our net zero strategy on our website here: 
www.yorkshirewater.com/environment/climate-change-and-carbon/our-carbon-strategy. The 
key areas of our net zero approach are: 

1. Carbon resilience; 
2. Carbon reduction through efficiency; 
3. Carbon reduction through renewables and green fuels; 
4. Improving carbon storage; and 
5. Forming key partnerships. 

We are continuing to work towards achieving our regulatory PC for operational carbon emissions 
set by Ofwat, which you can read more about in our APR for this year. This commitment requires a 
reduction in our operational emissions by a minimum of 12% by 2025 from a 2020 baseline. In order 
to ensure comparability with other organisations within the water sector, we use the water industry 
standard tool, the Carbon Accounting Workbook, to calculate our emissions. We expect this 
workbook to be made publicly available in due course. We also obtain external verification over our 
input data to the workbook, aligned with the ISO14064 greenhouse gas reporting standard. Our 
reporting approach uses both ‘location-based’ and ‘market-based’ methodologies. Under a 
location-based approach, we use standard emission factors published by the UK Government or 
other bodies. Under a market-based approach, we use supplier-specific emission values which 
reflect our procurement decisions. We purchase all our grid electricity on a certified zero-carbon 
tariff, which means under a market-based approach these emissions do not contribute to our 
carbon footprint as they are backed by renewable sources. For the first time this year, we also 
purchased green gas certificates, equivalent to our natural gas use, backed by certified UK-based 
renewable sources. 
Scope 1 emissions are those we directly release to the atmosphere, for example from burning fossil 
fuels on our sites, driving fossil fuel powered company vehicles, and releasing gases during 
treatment processes. In line with the Carbon Accounting Workbook, this does not currently include 
emissions from our land. 
Scope 2 emissions are those indirectly released to the atmosphere through our purchase of 
electricity, primarily to pump and treat water and wastewater. 
Scope 3 emissions are other indirect emissions. In line with the Carbon Accounting Workbook we 
include business travel on public transport and in private vehicles, activities from outsourced 
operators and emissions from the transmission and distribution of the grid electricity that we 
purchase. 

Our GHG emissions and energy performance for the 2022 financial year are detailed in the tables 
below, as well as last year’s performance data for comparison. 

Table 2: GHG emission performance  

Measure Units 
20211 2022 

Market-
based 

Location-
based 

Market-
based 

Location-
based 

Scope 1 kt CO2e 87 87 86 88 
Scope 2 kt CO2e - 125 - 113 
Scope 3 kt CO2e 10 21 8 18 
Total GHG emissions kt CO2e 97 233 94 219 

Intensity ratios 

kg CO2e per megalitre 
of water supplied 

6 183 2 171 

kg CO2e per megalitre 
of wastewater treated 

119 216 123 212 

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/environment/climate-change-and-carbon/our-carbon-strategy
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1Prior year numbers have been restated to (i) reflect the latest version of the water sector Carbon Accounting 
Workbook; (ii) reflect our revised intensity ratio sludge measurement methodologies; and (iii) to reflect 
transmission and distribution losses under the terms of our certified zero-carbon tariff. 
 

Note that the figures listed above are calculated using the relevant emission factors for the 
corresponding year. For our regulatory PC target of 12% reduction between 2020 and 2025, we use 
fixed emission factors and methodologies to show the reduction against our baseline attributable 
to performance gains, rather than as a result of changes to the carbon intensity of the underlying 
grid. Further details of our PC can be found in our APR, at: https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-
us/reports/. Greenhouse gas emissions from combustion of biomass and biomass-derived 
products for the year are 64 kt CO2e (2021: 44 kt CO2e). 
 

Disclosing our climate change risks and strategy  

As early adopters of the Financial Stability Board’s Taskforce on Climate-related Financial 
Disclosures (TCFD) recommendations, we recognise the scale of the climate emergency and its 
current and future impact on our ability to maintain our services. Our disclosures set out how 
Yorkshire Water assesses and manages its priority climate risks and opportunities, and how these 
are governed and reported.  

Our most significant climate risks arise from drought, flooding and transitioning our business to net 
zero. Addressing these risks are a challenge for any business, but as we provide a life critical service 
to more than five million customers, the regulatory environment in which we operate presents 
additional complexity. We need to deliver significant infrastructure investment into our long-life 
asset-based, high energy-use business at a price Ofwat determines our customers can afford – 
and we need to do this whilst also responding to rising drinking water quality and environmental 
standards, many of which have significant carbon impacts.  
 
Governance 
Climate-related risks are included in our principal and corporate risk register (see Managing risks 
and uncertainties) which is reviewed regularly by the Board. A risk appetite has been set specifically 
for climate and the Board monitor risk against this using agreed key risk indicators. As climate is so 
significant to Yorkshire Water, the Board’s oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities spans 
several Board committees as well as featuring on the agenda of the main Board. Climate risks are 
also incorporated into our long-term viability analysis, which is assessed every year by the Board. 
  
The Public Value Committee has primary responsibility for our climate strategy, including our 
adaptation response and our transition to net zero. This includes consideration of the short, medium 
and long-term risks and opportunities that we face in relation to climate, given the significant 
impact of climate change on our services to the public as our key stakeholders. For example, its 
consideration of the risk of drought and flooding includes oversight of our Water Resource 
Management Plan (WRMP) and our Drainage and Wastewater Management Plan (DWMP).  
 
The Audit and Risk Committee oversee our risk appetite, tolerance, and strategy, as set out in the 
Managing risks and uncertainties section. This has identified ‘climate change and carbon transition’ 
as a principal risk for Yorkshire Water and noted its interconnectivity with several other principal 
risks. The Committee also oversees adherence to our SFF, which has specific use of proceeds 
categories for investment in renewable energy, energy efficiency, clean transportation, and climate 
change adaptation.  
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The Safety, Health and Environment Committee and its remit over all our environmental impacts, 
includes consideration of Yorkshire Water’s cultural approach to the environment and embedding 
the desired culture into decision making across the business. It also advises the Board on tone at 
the top on all environmental matters. Greenhouse gas emissions by their very nature are inherently 
a part of this, but so are the changing climate’s impact on extreme weather and its contribution to 
pollution incidents, and internal and external sewer flooding events. 
 
The Nomination Committee oversees the adequacy of the Board and leadership team skill set, 
leads the process of Board recruitment, and makes recommendations on Board appointments. 
During the financial year, this has included appointments of Vanda Murray, Russ Houlden and Nicola 
Shaw all of whom bring experience, knowledge, and skills in relation to climate change.  
 
The People and Remuneration Committee determine the policy for directors’ and senior leaders’ 
remuneration. They are responsible for the rules and application of the Executive Incentive Plan 
(EIP), as a discretionary benefit for all directors and senior leaders. Operational carbon performance 
constitutes one of the 11 key performance measures upon which reward under the EIP is based.  
 
Alongside this, Yorkshire Water management’s role in assessing and managing climate-related 
risks and opportunities includes embedding climate into our core business strategy, risk 
management processes and business plan. This year this has led to us: 

• Developing our carbon strategy, setting out our plans to meet net zero operational 
emissions by 2030. 

• Improving our land carbon model to increase our understanding of greenhouse gases 
emitted and sequestered by our land.  

• Updating our corporate flood risk assessment, creating a new visual database to hold all 
our information about above ground asset flood risk. 

• Carrying out a baseline assessment of our customers attitudes towards and knowledge 
around climate change. 

• Embedding climate at the heart of our PR24 planning. 
 
The overarching risk of ‘climate change and carbon transition’ is owned at executive level by Chris 
Offer, Director of Strategy and Regulation. Ownership of achieving our net zero targets has 
transferred to Nicola Shaw from May 2022. 
 
For more information, please see the Governance section. 
 
Strategy 

Physical risks 
As a water company we are highly dependent on weather and the natural environment for our core 
services so we have a long track-record of working to understand, in detail, what our weather and 
climate-related risks are and aligning our strategy accordingly. We have undertaken detailed 
climate change modelling assessing the risks to our ability to supply drinking water since the 1990s 
and have over ten years history of research into the impacts of climate change on the rest of the 
business. Our most recent climate change risk assessment has informed our third Adaptation 
Report to Defra. This report, published in October 2021, contains detailed information about how we 
assess and manage the following: 
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• Risks to public water supply from droughts and low river flows; 
• Risk of sewer flooding in a storm; 
• Risks to public health from poor water quality; 
• Risks to infrastructure from river, surface or groundwater flooding; 
• Risks to infrastructure from coastal flooding and erosion; 
• Risks to bridges and pipelines from high river flows, bank erosion or subsidence; 
• Risks to natural capital; and  
• Risks from cascading impacts. 

Our risk assessment considers different time horizons depending on the risk and the availability of 
risk data. For example, we have modelled our risk of drought and sewer flooding now, in the 2050s 
and the 2080s. Our Adaptation Report is available online here: 
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/media/51fczixc/adaptation-report-summary.pdf 

We have carried out detailed modelling to understand our risk to our two core services (drinking 
water and sanitation) using the latest available climate change datasets. Our current WRMP 
(WRMP19) was published in 2019 and covers in detail the investment we will make in the current 
business planning period from 2020-2025, placing this investment in a 25-year context looking out 
to 2045. The diagram below shows the baseline supply demand forecast for 2015-2045 from 
WRMP19 which this investment plan responds to. 

Water resource plans take a balanced approach to risk and, in line with the methodology published 
by our regulator, use the high emissions scenario from UK Climate Projections 2009 (UKCP09) along 
with population forecasts and predicted changes to our economy to model future water supply 
and demand. WRMP19 is based on a smart sample of 23 of the 10,000 climate model runs available 
from UKCP09 covering a temperature rise of between 1.6 and 5.3 degrees by the 2080s and predicts 
a supply deficit volume range, allowing us to adjust our strategy and planning accordingly. Our 
current WRMP provides our customers with resilience to a one in 500 year drought. 
 
We are also developing a regional pan-company water resource plan in collaboration with 
Northumbrian Water and Hartlepool Water. This plan will be published in 2023 and looks out to 2085, 
assessing the risks to future water supply up to a one in 500 year drought. 
 
On the wastewater side, we welcome the industry-led change to place wastewater and drainage 
planning on the same long-term planning basis as water resources. DWMPs are being developed 
by all water companies, ours was published on our website in June 2022. These plans model the 
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impacts of climate change, population growth and urban changes such as the increasing trend to 
pave over front gardens, reducing the amount of permeable surface area and increasing the 
pressure on our sewer network.  
 
Our sewer network has historically been designed to cope with everyday rainfall up to a 1 in 30 year 
event. However, increasing urbanisation; climate change; and customers flushing wipes, fats, oils, 
and greases into our sewers means that the risk of our network flooding is growing. DWMPs aim to 
understand and manage these challenges over a 25-year timeframe. Our plans for investment to 
manage the risks identified in our DWMPs will be set out in our next business plan in 2025. Across 
the 335 wastewater treatment works’ catchments assessed, our model predicts a 47% increase in 
the number of residential properties at risk of internal sewer flooding between 2020 and 2050. This 
is driven by the impact of future climate change on rainfall along with population growth and urban 
creep.  
 
As part of our strategic response to flood risk, our Living with Water partnership in Hull and East 
Riding has progressed well. During the year we have also launched a similar partnership, 
Connected by Water, focusing on the Don catchment in South Yorkshire. More details can be found 
in the Being a good partner section. 
 
We focus our response to physical climate risks to understand and manage our short, medium, and 
long-term risks, embed resilience into how we operate, and ensure strong emergency planning and 
incident management capabilities. We regularly practice for disasters and civil contingencies with 
local, regional, and national stakeholders including those relating to widespread flooding and 
power cuts. We are also introducing BS65000 (organisational resilience) compliant policies and 
procedures. A key indicator of our supply resilience is our ability to maintain services despite these 
events. This year we have managed services through several major storms including Storms Arwen, 
Barra, Malik, Corrie, Dudley, Eunice, and Franklin – all of which caused severe power disruption and 
extensive flooding across the region.  
 
Transition risks 
Alongside other members of Water UK, we set out our ambition in 2019 to meet net zero operational 
emissions by 2030. Our principal transition risk is that we may not be able to transition to a net zero 
operating model at the pace required at a cost the business can afford. Key contributory and 
associated financial risks we have identified are: 

• Failure to deliver our operational carbon and capital carbon PCs; 
• Failure to account for ‘locked in’ carbon in investment decisions; 
• Downward cost pressures leading to insufficient or delayed investment in climate 

mitigation (and adaptation); 
• Business decisions being made for financial, commercial and/or operational reasons 

without due consideration of carbon impact; 
• Evolving science for process emissions creating measurement and performance 

uncertainty which could lead to failure to meet our operational carbon PC and/or net zero 
ambitions; 

• Failure to accumulate sufficient greenhouse gas sequestration assets by 2030 to 'offset' 
our residual emissions; and 

• Exposure to market price for REGOs and RGGOs (and offsets should we be unable to 
accumulate sufficient sequestration assets internally). 

We have taken steps towards managing these risks including setting out a strategy to achieve net 
zero operational emissions, embedding climate at the heart of our PR24 planning, accounting for 
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carbon in our investment decision making and developing carbon training. However, our ability to 
finance our transition at the pace required is highly dependent on Ofwat’s response to the climate 
crisis in future price reviews. 

Our net zero strategy focuses on aligning the target with core business decision making; choosing 
renewable energy and low carbon fuels; electrifying our fleet vans and cars; supporting innovation 
and new technology; and extending our tree planting and peatland restoration. You can read more 
about our carbon ambitions and emissions here:  
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/environment/climate-change-and-carbon/. 
 
Risk management 
Our long-term plans for identifying, assessing and managing climate-related risks to our core 
services of providing drinking water and safely removing and treating wastewater are described 
above. We also carry out a significant amount of other risk assessment activity which feeds into our 
various corporate risk control processes, which is described in detail in the Managing risks and 
uncertainties section in this report. Our principal risk register contains 11 risks, many of which are 
related to weather and climate. For example, risks arising from drought and sewer flooding both 
feature in our principal risk profile.  

In addition to oversight by the Board, these risks are each owned by a member of our executive 
team and are reported against on a quarterly basis, with action plans put in place if risks stray 
outside of the corporate appetite.  

For more detail about our risk and assurance procedures please see Our Principal risks section. 
Further details on the processes for assessing and managing our physical climate risks are 
disclosed in our Adaptation Report at the link above. 

Metrics and targets 
The key metrics we use to manage our climate-related risks and opportunities are primarily those 
prescribed by Ofwat. The majority of these have a financial incentive or penalty associated with 
them. 
We have a suite of PCs with associated ODIs that are closely linked to our resilience to physical 
climate risks relating to both water and wastewater services. These metrics help show how we are 
managing the impact of weather and climate on customers and the environment and therefore 
how well we are managing our physical climate risk. Incentive and penalty exposure for 2021 and 
2022 (actual) and remainder of AMP7 (maximum) for the PCs most closely linked to physical risks 
are as follows: 

  Incentives* Penalties* 

  
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Water supply 
interruptions 

-  - 6.2 5.9 5.6 (0.9) (5.5)  (21.1) (21.6) (22.0) 

UPO  - - - - -  - -  (11.7) (12.1) (9.3) 
Internal sewer 
flooding 

 - -  5.9 5.5 5.1 (9.0)   (10.1) (18.7) (24.1) (30.0) 

Pollution 
incidents 

0.2 - 4.4 4.2 3.7 -   (2.5) (7.9) (7.7) (6.7) 

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/environment/climate-change-and-carbon/
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*Some ODIs are uncapped. Therefore, we have modelled our incentive and penalty exposure using the Monte Carlo method. For 
consistency, we have reported the P10 and P90 values for incentives and penalties respectively, across all ODIs, unless more 
reliable information exists to indicate actual outcomes may lie outside of these parameters. Note: the above metrics represent 
a subset of the full suite of PCs and hence the actuals penalty/reward figures above will not reconcile to the overall ODI 
performance figure. 
 

Another notable measure of our resilience to climate change is a long-standing absence of major 
interruptions to water and wastewater services. Customers in Yorkshire have had no restrictions to 
their public water service since the drought in 1995. However, the widespread power outages during 
Storm Arwen led to some customer outages which also affected several of our water pumping 
stations. This is discussed further in our Being great with water section.  

As well as our ambition to achieve net zero operational emissions by 2030, we also have several 
ODIs closely linked to our transition performance. This includes those where successful performance 
would have a positive impact on the amount of greenhouse gases, we emit from energy use and/or 
water treatment. Incentive and penalty exposure for the current year (actual) and remainder of 
AMP7 (maximum) are as follows: 

 Incentives Penalties 
 2021 

£m 
2022 
£m 

2023 
£m 

2024 
£m 

2025 
£m 

2021 
£m 

2022 
£m 

2023 
£m 

2024 
£m 

2025 
£m 

Operational 
carbon 

0.3 0.5 1.3 1.3 0.7 - - (2.2) (2.7) (3.3) 

Leakage* 0.1 0.2 14.0 13.7 13.2 - - (12.6) (8.2) (7.6) 
Repairing or 
replacing 
customer 
owned pipes* 

- 0.1 1.5 1.5 1.6 (1.3) - (1.5) (1.6) (1.7) 

Per capita 
consumption* 

- - 13.3 13.1 13.0 (1.6) - (8.6) (7.7) (7.2) 

Water 
recycling* 

- - 0.1 0.1 0.1 - - (0.1) (0.1) (0.1) 

Total 0.4 0.8 30.2 29.7 28.6 (2.9) - (25.0
) 

(20.3
) 

(19.9
) 

Treatment 
works 
compliance 

 - - - - - -  -  (52.5) (52.5) (52.5) 

Significant 
water supply 
events 

 -  - 1.7 1.7 1.7 (10.0) (7.4) (7.5) (7.5) (7.5) 

External 
sewer 
flooding 

17.0   17.6 23.0 22.2 21.5 -   - (11.6) (10.9) (10.2) 

Bathing water 
quality 

- - 0.6 0.6 0.6 - (2.5) (5.4) (5.4) (5.4) 

Surface water 
management 

-   - - - 0.1 -  - - - (0.1) 

Living with 
water 

- - - - - - - - - (21.4) 

Total 17.2 17.6   41.8 40.1  38.3 (19.9)   (28.0) ( 136.4) (141.8)   (165.1) 
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* These ODIs are also a response to physical risk, linked to the risk of drought highlighted by our WRMP. Note: the above metrics 
represent a subset of the full suite of PCs and hence the actuals penalty/reward figures above will not reconcile to the overall 
ODI performance figure. 

This trend of climate related ODIs is also expected to continue in future AMPs, though details of 
commitments, measurement methodologies and levels of ambition may change. We have also 
paid a climate change levy of £4.0m (2021: £4.2m) in the year. Further details on our energy and 
greenhouse gas metrics, targets and performance can be found in our Energy and carbon section. 

Our Five Big Goals – Being a good partner  

Partnership working with Yorkshire’s institutions and communities is a central part of our strategy. 
Throughout the pandemic we have worked particularly closely with local authorities, and we regard 
ourselves as a public service which happens to be privately owned. As an anchor institution we 
recognise that collaboration with other anchors of the region’s economy and social fabric means 
that we can maximise our impact and contribute to the inclusive growth of the region. If the region 
grows, by extension, this creates opportunity for Yorkshire Water to grow. At a strategic level we 
have engaged with the Yorkshire Leaders Board to ensure it plays a significant role in the delivery 
of our business plan for the next price review. The Leaders Board brings together the leaders and 
chief executives of Yorkshire’s local and mayoral authorities, so this engagement delivers on the 
aspiration of the National Infrastructure Strategy for regional elected bodies to help set the priorities 
for water utilities. The early stages of this process have been very positive, and it has quickly become 
clear that investment in our network is an important enabler for the growth ambitions of local 
authorities, particularly with regards to house building. As work on the plan develops further, we 
expect this engagement to continue and to deepen.  
 
Living with Water 
At a sub-regional level, our most mature partnership, Living with Water, in Hull and East Riding, has 
now been in place for four years and has provided tangible benefits in improving flooding resilience 
and incident response. On a tactical level, the four partners, Yorkshire Water, the EA, Hull City Council 
and East Riding of Yorkshire Council, now collaborate very effectively in planning for and responding 
to extreme weather incidents. This coordination and the deployment of new blue-green assets 
(water retention areas) have helped to ensure that Hull has not flooded during the numerous 
named storms of recent years. On a more strategic level, the Living with Water partners have 
developed a city water resilience approach and a joint blue-green vision for the city which will be 
the framework within which future flood resilience investment will be delivered.  
 
Connected by water 
In 2021, we worked with four local authorities: Barnsley, Sheffield, Rotherham, and Doncaster, as well 
as the South Yorkshire Mayoral Combined Authority and EA, to form Connected by Water. This is a 
South Yorkshire alliance which draws on our experience of collaboration in Hull and aims to build 
flood resilience in the River Don catchment and respond to the climate emergency. The drive for 
the creation of the alliance came from the impact of the 2019 floods in the catchment and from a 
clear realisation that resilience needed to be managed on a catchment wide basis, with a single 
strategic plan and aligned investment from all the partners. Connected by Water opened a 
consultation on its action plan in January 2022. This plan is built around four themes: responding to 
the climate emergency; smart investment; technology and operational management; and 
community engagement and resilience. The consultation received a very positive response, and 
the final version of the plan will be published later this year. Discussions are underway with the West 
Yorkshire Mayor - Tracy Brabin, and other local authorities to replicate this model in the Aire and 
Calder catchments. 
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Land anchor network 
Yorkshire Water is the second biggest landowner in Yorkshire, and we have known for some time 
that the management of our landholdings has a significant part to play in water quality, climate 
response and adaptation and nature recovery. Realising that anything we can achieve on our own 
will be magnified by collaboration with other institutional landowners, we convened the Yorkshire 
Land Network to facilitate collaboration in all these areas. The Network has been supported by the 
large private estates such as Devonshire, Wentworth and Fitzwilliam, and the Duchy of Lancaster as 
well as Crown Estates, Church Commissioners, the National Trust and Forestry England. The network 
has already made good progress in collaborative projects on recreation and is looking to focus on 
joint land use projects over the next 12 months. 

Other partnerships 
As part of our Working With Others PC, over the past year we have invested £267,000 in nine projects in partnership 
with other organisations to tackle our shared challenges. This has unlocked a further £11m of external funding. 
Examples of projects we have been involved in include: 

• Multi-million-pound flood risk management schemes in Otley and Sheffield, which have removed 
surface water from our network and created new wildlife and public amenity spaces, including 
daylighting a previously culverted section of watercourse. 

• Installation of a new flood education centre at Wilberforce College in Hull through our Living with Water 
partnership. 

• Collaborating with other water companies to support national drought resilience by assessing the 
biosecurity risks of transferring water across England. 

 

Our Five Big Goals – Keeping services affordable  

We are committed to eradicating water poverty in Yorkshire. The ‘Direct Support to Customers’ PC 
aims to provide bill support to our most financially vulnerable customers. We have continued to 
overperform this measure by exceeding our targeted support on Water Support, our social tariff 
designed for customers on low incomes, and Resolve, our payment matching scheme for 
customers in arrears. The voids measure aims to maximise the number of properties billed and is 
designed to ensure billed income is maximised resulting in lower bills for all customers in future 
years. The weighted average voids performance for the full year significantly exceeded target 
because of changes implemented on identification of occupied properties, this allowed Yorkshire 
Water to identify and charge more customers. Our performance is now at the 2025 Ofwat-targeted 
level and ahead of plan.  
 
Our key measures* 

  Units 2021 2022 2023 
    Actual Target Actual Target 
Voids % 4.73 ≤4.33 3.78 ≤4.15 
Direct Support to Customers No. customers 61,406 ≥69,000 80,778 ≥75,000 
Customers agreeing we 
are “value for money” in an 
independent survey by the 
CCW 

% 82 81 79 83 

*In the prior year Gap sites was reported as a key measure within this section. Last year’s APR process resulted in revised 
reporting definitions of this measure and it no longer being a measure of customer affordability and one of Developer services 
performance. We have therefore removed this measure from our key measures. 
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In the coming year our customers are anticipated to face growing affordability issues through 
higher energy bills, rises in National Insurance contributions and rising interest rates. We will 
continue to offer meaningful financial support to our most financially vulnerable customers. 
Support will continue to come from our established help schemes through increases in the number 
of financially vulnerable customers’ bills reduced through social tariffs or water meters. 

Households across the country have been impacted by rising costs of living, with double digit 
headline inflation and annual food bills set to increase this year. Yorkshire Water has responded to 
the cost of living increase, with an additional £15m from the company’s shareholders available for 
support with bills through to 2025. It brings total support for customers to £115m across the five-year 
AMP. Building on improvements to our voids services, we plan to again exceed the targeted level 
within the FD next year. Performance at this anticipated level will continue to ensure billed income 
is maximised, resulting in lower bills for all customers in future years.  
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Section 172(1) statement 

In 2018 the Companies (Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations introduced a requirement for large 
companies to publish a statement describing how the directors have had regard to the matters set 
out in section 172(1)(a) to (f) of the Companies Act 2006. The statement here relates predominantly 
to Yorkshire Water, as the largest subsidiary within the group. 
 
Yorkshire Water is a privately owned 
company providing an essential public 
service. We live and work in the 
communities in which we operate, and the 
vast majority of our employees are also 
Yorkshire Water customers, as are their 
neighbours and often their extended 
families. This creates an even greater 
responsibility not only to have ‘regard’ to 
our key stakeholders, as required by section 
172 of the Companies Act 2006, but to 
always be aware of how our actions impact 
upon them, both now and in the long-term. 

This is reflected in our purpose – ‘we're 
proud to play water's role in making 
Yorkshire a brilliant place to be - now and 
always' and our ambition ‘to put people at 
the heart of everything we do’. 

Our purpose makes us think of the long-
term and our impact on the communities 
we serve throughout Yorkshire. Our 
ambition makes us consider people in all of 
our decision-making, including not just our 
colleagues but our customers and the 
communities around us. 

Our use of the Six Capitals to measure our performance also helps in the consideration of 
stakeholders by the Board, as it means the impact of decisions on human, manufactured, 
intellectual, natural, and social capital is considered alongside any financial impact. More 
information on our Six Capitals approach can be found earlier in this Strategic Report.  

How does the Board consider the long-term in its decisions? 

We are committed to thinking about the long-term in our decision-making and our impact on 
Yorkshire, now and always. The decisions we make now will have long-term implications for 
Yorkshire, particularly in relation to the long-term availability of water which is clearly impacted by 
the environment, climate change and the demographics and usage habits of the communities we 
serve. 

At least twice a year the Yorkshire Water Board considers long-term trends, risks, and opportunities 
through a ‘horizon scan’ which is presented to and discussed by the Board. The Board also receives 
other updates on long-term trends through various Board workshops and deep dives and has 
considered the long-term strategies for both carbon and energy during the year at the Public Value 
Committee. 

Focus on the environment – the River Wharfe 

The environment is central to all we do at Yorkshire Water. 
Our approach to the environment affects not just the 
quality of our water and the amount of water that we may 
have in the future, but also the people in our communities 
who want to enjoy the water outdoors as part of their daily 
lives. 

As detailed earlier in this Strategic Report, the River Wharfe 
in Ilkley is the first designated inland bathing water in 
England and presents a significant opportunity for 
Yorkshire Water to work with stakeholders to deliver 
improvements to river quality, through traditional 
investment, deployment of nature and community-based 
solutions and the use of smart technology. The Board has 
heard a lot about the work ongoing in Ilkley during the year 
and a number of Board members have visited the site 
themselves to learn first-hand about the proposed 
approach. This has influenced much of the Board 
discussion and the approval of the required investment 
with a view to learning from this scheme to then roll out the 
same approach in other areas of Yorkshire to ensure more 
of our communities can benefit from this work. 

 



Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited  
Strategic Report  
for the year ended 31 March 2022 

34 
 

Within the business, the work on horizon scanning feeds into the longer-term strategy for the 
business, which in turn informs the annual business plan and key decisions being made day-to-
day in the business. We publish a WRMP at regular intervals which sets out how we plan to maintain 
a secure supply of water to all of our customers over the next 25 years. The Board has oversight of 
the drafting of this plan. The latest version of this plan can be found at 
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/resources/water-resources-management-plan/. The 
Board has also considered long-term risks and opportunities as part of the scenario planning for 
our long-term viability (LTV) statement. Each year the Board receives information on the different 
scenarios considered and challenges the assumptions made to ensure that the scenarios are 
appropriate and comprehensive. 

How does the Board consider stakeholders in its decisions? 

Colleagues 

The Yorkshire Water Board receives regular 
insight into the views of colleagues from the 
Colleague Engagement Forum, which meets a 
few weeks prior to each Board meeting. There 
is an open invitation to all Board members to 
attend any of the meetings, with nine of the 13 
directors who were members of the Yorkshire 
Water Board during the year attending at least 
one Forum meeting in the year under review. 
The Forum is made up of colleagues from 
across the business, representing all areas of 
the organisation, and the agenda is set based 
on key items due to be discussed at the Board 
or topics suggested by the Forum members. 
Forum members are encouraged to be as 
open and candid as possible and the minutes 
are made available on our intranet after each 
meeting. 

We also carry out a colleague engagement 
survey which seeks to understand how our 
colleagues are feeling about multiple topics. 
This includes the opportunity to comment on 
any of the questions being asked. Our survey in 
late 2021 had 3,260 responses, including many 
comments which were summarised and 
shared with the Board for information. This 
information has fed into Board discussions on 
a number of different topics. 

Customers and communities 

The Yorkshire Water Board receives monthly performance updates on customer metrics and 
receives updates from our Director of Customer Experience at each Board meeting. Customer 
experience and community engagement have also been considered in more depth at Yorkshire 
Water’s Public Value Committee, which has spent time in the year focusing specifically on our 
ongoing work in Ilkley in relation to the River Wharfe as a designated bathing water, as well as the 
reporting of ‘Our Contribution to Yorkshire’ which will be published in the autumn. 'Our Contribution 

Focus on our people – The Colleague 
Engagement Forum 

The Yorkshire Water Colleague Engagement 
Forum has met six times during the year and 
there is always at least one Board director 
present, with an average of two Board 
members attending the meetings during the 
year. 

The purpose of the Forum is to provide a direct 
voice for colleagues to the Board. The Board 
members at each meeting get to hear directly 
from the Forum, plus the discussions are 
carefully minuted and the minutes circulated 
to the Board with a standing agenda item at 
each Board meeting to consider the feedback 
from the Forum. 

During the year a ‘fix the basics’ programme 
ran which was a direct response to feedback 
from the Forum, and sought to remove the ‘red 
tape’ that can prevent improvements being 
made quickly across the business to improve 
efficiency and provide better customer 
service. 

The Forum also had several discussions on 
post Covid-19 ways of working, and informed 
the approach adopted across the business for 
the return to the office. 

 

https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/resources/water-resources-management-plan/
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to Yorkshire' provides customers with insights into how we are contributing to the local economy, 
the environment, and the community. 

 

 

 

 

Suppliers and partners 

The Yorkshire Water Board is regularly asked to approve 
procurement decisions, and as part of that considers the 
impact of Yorkshire Water on its suppliers and strategic 
partners. 

A new approach to vendor management within Yorkshire 
Water was discussed in detail at the SHE Committee. The 
Committee challenged the accountability and 
responsibility in relation to this and spoke directly to some 
vendor managers to ensure the new approach was fully 
understood and operating effectively. 

Two partners also attended Committee meetings during 
the year to enable the Committee members to hear first-
hand the experience of working with Yorkshire Water from 
a health and safety perspective, and how Yorkshire Water 
might improve its approach to better support suppliers 
and partners in their work. 

Other stakeholders 

As a water and sewerage company and an anchor 
institution in Yorkshire, we have a broad range of 
stakeholders from a variety of backgrounds, including 
local authorities, customer bodies, landowners, 
government departments, environmental bodies, 
regulators, trade unions and other utility companies. 

Yorkshire Water has a Corporate Affairs team within the 
business which is responsible for handling our 
relationships with our key stakeholders, and which reports 
regularly to the YWLT and Yorkshire Water Board on these 
relationships and the key messages being received from 
the different stakeholder groups. This enables the YWLT 
and Board to consider stakeholder interests when making 
decisions, both on a day-to-day basis and at a more 
strategic level. A number of the YWLT members, including the executive directors, are directly 
involved in the relationships with key stakeholders and are therefore able to bring first-hand 
knowledge of the thoughts and concerns of these stakeholders back to discussions at both the 
YWLT and Board. 
 
 
 
 

Focus on our suppliers and partners – 
Partnership for Yorkshire 

In November 2020 Yorkshire Water launched 
‘Partnership for Yorkshire’ which signified a 
new delivery model for our capital delivery 
programme. This approach has continued 
and gathered momentum during the year 
under review. 

The model adopts the ‘Project 13’ approach 
and is designed to drive quality, safety, 
sustainability, innovation, and efficiency whilst 
putting people at the heart of everything we 
do. We are doing this by moving away from a 
transactional model for our infrastructure 
projects, and instead working with partners, 
advisers, and suppliers in a more integrated 
and collaborative way, focusing on the needs 
of the ultimate user and emphasising the 
delivery of outcomes rather than outputs. 

To do this we have had to think longer-term to 
define the outcomes we want from our 
infrastructure projects and make changes 
within our business to ensure we have the 
right governance, operating model, and 
capabilities in place to support this approach. 

The Yorkshire Water Board has been fully 
supportive of this change since its initial 
proposal and continues to receive updates on 
how this is progressing, including directly from 
others within the Partnership for Yorkshire. 
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Our shareholders 

The group parent company, Kelda Holdings Limited, has four shareholders and all are represented 
on the Board of Kelda Holdings Limited. In addition, the three largest shareholders are represented 
on the Yorkshire Water Board, with the four shareholders entitled to appoint an observer to attend 
the Board meetings. In this way, we ensure that we treat all of our shareholders fairly and that their 
views are fairly represented in key decisions. This is further ensured by a Shareholder Agreement, 
which was signed in 2010 and which sets out the rights of each of the shareholders in relation to the 
company and the matters which require specific investor consent. Further information on how our 

Board operates can be found in the 
Directors’ Report.  

How does the Board consider the 
reputation of Yorkshire Water for high 
standards of business conduct? 

Trust is extremely important for all 
businesses, but particularly when 
operating in a monopoly as we do in our 
household business. It is critical that our 
stakeholders trust us, and so we believe it is 
very important that we maintain high 
standards of business conduct in all that 
we do. This forms part of our Customer 
Promise, which aims to ensure that our 
customers can rely on us. 

Yorkshire Water seeks to be open and 
transparent in the data that we share and 
report openly on our performance. Our 
Board receives assurance on the 
information it uses to make decisions 
through various means, including internal 
audit reports, external assurance reports or 
from the Yorkshire Water Board 
committees, which have the capacity to 
scrutinise information more closely before 
it is discussed by the Board.  

A reputation dashboard is shared with the 
Board on a quarterly basis which sets out 
stakeholder sentiment and customer 
perception. We have a Code of Ethics which 
sets out the ethical standards which are 
expected of all those working on behalf of 
Yorkshire Water. This was relaunched 
during the year following approval from the 
Board and is accompanied by an e-
learning module which is mandatory for all 
colleagues every year. 

 
 

Focus on the environment – Connected by 
Water – www.connectedbywater.co.uk 

One of the key considerations in relation to the 
environment is the impact of flooding on our 
communities. During the year, in response to this, 
‘Connected by Water’ was launched, which is a 
South Yorkshire alliance of Yorkshire Water, local 
councils and the EA, working together to build 
flood resilience. This follows on from our 
internationally recognised alliance in Hull and 
Haltemprice called ‘Living with Water’. The Board 
visited Living with Water in 2019 and the learnings 
from this have been key in the decision to seek 
similar models elsewhere within our region. 

The plan for the alliance began after floods 
devastated South Yorkshire in 2019 and 
communities were evacuated from their homes 
and businesses and infrastructure were severely 
disrupted. 

The partners are working together to build a plan 
around the four main themes of: 
• responding to the climate emergency; 
• smart investment; 
• technology and operational management; 

and 
• communication, engagement and building 

resilience. 

The partnership plan was open to public 
consultation until 11 March 2022, as we wanted our 
customers to provide feedback on the plan. We 
have also run workshops for colleagues across 
the business to help create the plan and we 
continue to provide updates to colleagues 
through our Intranet. 

 

http://www.connectedbywater.co.uk/
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Our corporate structure 

The diagram below shows a summary of the active companies within the group. All companies are 
wholly owned unless stated otherwise. Details of the group’s shareholders and capital structure are 
also published on the group’s website, found at this link: www.keldagroup.com.  

Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited group corporate structure at 31 March 2022 

 

 

 

 

Summary of group company activities 

The details and activities of the companies within the condensed group structure chart above are 
as follows: 

Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited, Kelda Finance (No.2) Limited, Kelda Finance (No.3) Plc – these 
companies were incorporated to issue debt and raise loan financing facilities outside of the Whole 
Business Securitisation (WBS) group, described below. They are all incorporated in England and 
Wales and are wholly and exclusively resident for tax in the UK. 

Yorkshire Water Services Holdings Limited – incorporated in England and Wales and wholly and 
exclusively resident for tax in the UK. The company is the immediate holding company of Yorkshire 
Water Services Limited. 

Yorkshire Water Services Limited - incorporated in England and Wales and wholly and exclusively 
resident for tax in the UK. This is the main company in the Kelda group, providing water and 
wastewater services to the Yorkshire region. This is the company to which this ARFS publication 
refers. 

Yorkshire Water Finance Plc, Yorkshire Water Services Finance Limited – companies within the 
WBS described below. 

Whole Business Securitisation 
Yorkshire Water has had a well-established financing structure, known as a WBS, since 2009. The 
WBS enhances the creditworthiness of Yorkshire Water by setting strict rules that demonstrate to 
lenders the company is a safe and reliable business in which to invest. Lenders are therefore more 
prepared to lend to Yorkshire Water at lower rates which is in the long-term interest of customers. 

This WBS works by placing a protective ring-fence around Yorkshire Water's business which 
includes the way it operates, the way it trades with other group companies outside the WBS and 
the way it finances itself. The protections include limits on borrowings, dividends, and the ability to 

http://www.keldagroup.com/
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lend money to other Kelda companies. The protections also require profits to more than cover the 
amount of interest that Yorkshire Water pays. 

Yorkshire Water Finance Plc is the principal financing vehicle for the WBS group. Yorkshire Water 
Services Finance Limited remains part of the WBS as a legacy finance company for debt issued 
prior to the introduction of the WBS. Both companies are incorporated in England and Wales and 
are wholly and exclusively resident for tax in the UK.  

Delivering and governing our investment programmes  
Our Business Investment Committee (BIC) governs the delivery of our investment programmes. 
Capital additions for 2022 were £446.6m (2021: £448.3m) (see note 11 to the Financial Statements). 
Our investment programmes help us maintain and enhance our operational efficiency and the 
resilience of Yorkshire Water's infrastructure. We are increasingly focused on how we ensure the 
most sustainable investment choices.  
 

Our Programme of investment supports the delivery of service level performance improvements 
required to meet our stretching targets. Our single largest programme which will deliver our Water 
Industry National Environment Plan (WINEP) commitments is underway and early benefits have 
been realised. 

Managing and governing our borrowing requirements 

Our financing strategy is designed to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates, to rule out 
speculation, and to source and structure the group’s borrowing to meet projected funding 
requirements. Our treasury operations are controlled by a central team on behalf of the Kelda 
Finance (No.1) Limited group (Kelda group or group).  
 
Our operations and investments are financed through a combination of retained profits, long-term 
debt instruments, finance leases and bank facilities. Any new funding is raised in the name of the 
appropriate group company and subject to relevant debt covenants. Within the conditions of the 
Whole Business Securitisation (WBS), explained in Our corporate structure above, funds raised may 
be lent to or from Yorkshire Water on an arm’s length basis.  

Any cash surplus to operating requirements is invested in short-term instruments with institutions 
having a long-term rating of at least A-/A-/A3 and a short-term rating of at least A1/F1/P1 issued, 
respectively, by S&P Global Ratings (S&P), Fitch Ratings (Fitch) and Moody’s Investors Service 
(Moody’s). 

During the year, we:  

• Repaid £145m of US private placement notes, £95m of bank facilities and £40m of finance 
leases; 

• Renewed a liquidity facility in March 2022 at £90m with six banks, which is required as a 
standby facility to cover Yorkshire Water’s operating and maintenance cost obligations; 
and 

• Replaced an existing liquidity facility provided by banks, required to cover Yorkshire Water’s 
debt service obligations, with a £170m rolling five-year evergreen debt service reserve 
guarantee issued by Assured Guaranty UK Limited. 

• Raised new debt totalling £77.0m outside of the WBS in Kelda Finance (No.2) Ltd in the form 
of £48.1m 5.09% fixed rate notes and a £28.9m floating rate loan (4.50% margin). Both have 
a tenor of seven years. The company used the funds raised to repay £80.0m bridging debt 
entered into in February 2020 and which was due in August 2021. 
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On 20 April 2021, Yorkshire Water Finance Plc agreed terms for the issue of £350.0m of sustainable 
bonds with a tenor of 11 and half years and at a coupon of 1.75%. The net proceeds from the issue of 
these bonds were loaned to Yorkshire Water and used to repay a £320.0m drawdown on its £560.0m 
revolving credit facility. 

To date, £1,200m of debt financing has been raised in accordance with our SFF, which aligns the 
group’s financing with its long-term strategy and values as discussed earlier in this Strategic Report. 
The majority of Yorkshire Water’s debt will continue to be issued in accordance with this framework, 
with reporting aligned to our innovative Six Capitals approach to give stakeholders an insight into 
the impacts of the group and its investments. 

On 7 April 2022, Kelda Finance (No.2) Ltd successfully raised £65.0m new borrowings in the form of 
a secured bank loan (SONIA + 3.00% margin) with a tenor of seven years. Proceeds were used to 
refinance an existing loan that was otherwise due for repayment in December 2022. 

Total borrowings, including amounts owed to other group companies, were £5,884.3m as at 31 
March 2022 (2021: £5,900.4m) and net debt was £5,852.7m at 31 March 2022 (2021: £5,691.1m). The 
maturity profile of our borrowings and further detail on net debt are set out in notes 13 and 19 of the 
Financial Statements.  

Senior net indebtedness to Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) (Senior RAR or gearing) is a key 
covenanted gearing ratio within Yorkshire Water’s financing arrangements, and gearing levels are 
monitored and forecasted on a regular basis. On a covenanted basis at 31 March 2022, Yorkshire 
Water Financing Group’s (YWFG) (being Yorkshire Water Finance Plc, Yorkshire Water and Yorkshire 
Water Services Finance Limited) Senior RAR was 73.40% (2021: 77.66%). These metrics are 
fundamental to discussions with investors and is our covenant number, therefore a key 
performance indicator for the business. A reconciliation of this percentage to the closest statutory 
measure can be found in the Alternative Performance Measures section of the Yorkshire Water 
Services ARFS.  

Managing financial risk 
Treasury operations are governed by guidelines for the management of interest rate risk, foreign 
exchange risk, exposure to fluctuations in the rate of inflation and the use of financial instruments. 
A broad portfolio of debt is maintained, diversified by source and maturity, designed to ensure there 
are sufficient funds available for operations. Treasury policies and procedures are incorporated 
within our financial control procedures. 

The long-term sustainability of the group’s financing is of primary importance. Levels of debt and 
associated measures, such as gearing and interest cover, are monitored frequently and forecast 
against levels defined in financing documents and those needed to protect the group’s credit 
ratings. These forecasts take account of future expectations and stress-case scenarios relating to 
future business performance, future regulatory price determinations, economic conditions, and 
market conditions. We have provided more information about credit ratings later in this section.  

Our leadership team receives regular reports from all areas of the business to enable prompt 
identification of financial and other risks so that appropriate actions can be taken. 

Our operations expose Yorkshire Water to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of 
changes in debt and loan market prices, inflation, liquidity, interest rates and exchange rates. 
Derivative financial instruments, including cross-currency swaps, interest rate swaps, and forward 
currency contracts, are employed to manage the interest rate and currency risk arising from the 
debt instruments used to finance our activities. 
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Yorkshire Water’s revenues are partly linked to the underlying rate of inflation measured by the retail 
price index (RPI) and partly linked to the rate of inflation measured by the consumer price index 
including owner-occupiers’ housing costs (CPIH) and is therefore subject to fluctuations in line with 
changes in both RPI and CPIH. In the absence of any management action, negative inflation could 
potentially lead to a breach of gearing limits, however this risk is mitigated by Yorkshire Water 
maintaining levels of inflation linked debt and being a counterparty to inflation linked swaps. 

For inflation linked swaps, following cessation of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), receipts 
are now based on the historical Sterling Overnight Index Average (SONIA) for an interest period, and 
interest is paid at fixed amounts plus RPI. Movements in RPI are also applied to the nominal value of 
inflation linked debt and swaps to determine additional amounts to be paid either at maturity or 
during the life of some inflation linked swaps. Therefore, the impact of RPI and CPIH reductions on 
income and RCV is mitigated by reduced interest charges and lower value of inflation linked debt 
used in calculating gearing as a percentage of RCV.  

The maturity dates of the group’s portfolio of inflation linked swaps ranges from 2026 to 2063. With 
long-term interest rate expectations continuing, the swaps held by the Kelda group gave rise to a 
negative fair value at 31 March 2022 of £2,482.1m (2021: £2,199.7m). See note 19 of the Financial 
Statements for more details on the financial derivatives held by the group. The transition of swaps 
referring to LIBOR for interest receipts or payments were transitioned to SONIA before the cessation 
of LIBOR in January 2022. 

Another financial risk includes the exposure to commodity price risk, especially energy prices. The 
aim is to manage this risk by fixing contract prices where possible and operating within an energy 
purchasing policy that is designed to manage price volatility risk. As at 31 March 2022, Yorkshire 
Water had fixed over 70% of its wholesale energy costs for AMP7, including 100% for the 2022 year, 
through a combination of forward contracts and energy swap transactions. 

In addition to the above financial management measures, our Insurance team also works to ensure 
that we manage and mitigate our exposure to costs from public liabilities and damage to our 
assets. 

Credit ratings 

Yorkshire Water and its financing subsidiaries have credit ratings assigned by three rating agencies. 
These provide an external view on creditworthiness for our debt investors. The latest published 
ratings are as follows: 

Credit rating 
agency 

Class A rating Class B rating Outlook Date of 
publication 

(latest 
available) 

Fitch A- BBB- Stable June 2021 
Moody’s Baa2 Ba1 Stable September 2021 

S&P A- BBB Stable April 2021 
 
On 14 April 2021, S&P published an update and affirmed its ratings whilst changing its outlook to 
stable from negative. 

On 9 June 2021, Fitch published an update and affirmed its ratings with an unchanged stable 
outlook. 
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On 12 May 2021, Moody’s withdrew its Baa2 corporate family rating for its own business reasons. 

On 19 November 2021, Moody’s published an update and affirmed its ratings whilst changing its 
outlook to stable from negative. 

The most recent credit rating reports for all three of the rating agencies that assign credit ratings 
to Yorkshire Water and the other companies within the YWFG can be found on our group website at 
www.keldagroup.com/investors/creditor-considerations/ratings-reports. 

Corporation and other taxes 

We are committed to acting with integrity and transparency in all tax matters. Our tax strategy and 
policies require that we: 

• Comply with both the letter of UK tax law and its application as it was intended; 
• Do not make interpretations of tax law considered to be opposed to the original published 

intention of the specific law; 
• Do not enter into transactions that have a main purpose of gaining a tax advantage; and 
• Make timely and accurate tax returns that reflect our fiscal obligations to the government. 

We do not use artificial tax avoidance schemes or tax havens to reduce our tax liabilities. All active 
companies in the Kelda group are wholly and exclusively resident for tax purposes in the UK.  

We work openly and proactively with HMRC to maintain an effective working relationship. Each year 
we provide our tax returns to HMRC and they review our position. In cases which are complex or 
open to interpretation we work proactively with HMRC to determine the appropriate tax position. 

A copy of the tax strategy adopted by the Board is publicly available at: 
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/tax/. It provides further detail on our approach to tax 
risk management and governance arrangements. 

Corporation tax 

The accounting tax charge included in these statements of £21.1m (2021: £1.9m) is mainly due to the 
non-cash movement in the group’s deferred tax provision.  

The deferred tax provision represents the temporary differences between the carrying value of 
assets/liabilities in the group accounts and their tax carrying value in tax returns. This is calculated 
at the prevailing rate of corporation tax. Temporary differences will reverse in the future so the 
provision becomes taxation payable. Other differences between accounts and tax returns are 
permanent differences as they represent costs or revenue that are not subject to corporation tax. 

The 2021 and 2022 movements in deferred tax are due to the effects of: 
• Timing differences between when capital assets are depreciated for accounts purposes 

versus tax depreciation; and 
• The effects of changes in the fair value liability of the group’s inflation linked swap portfolio 

(explained below). Increases or reductions in the fair value liability of the group’s inflation 
linked swap portfolio represent an increase or reduction in the net interest the financial 
markets expect will be payable on those inflation linked swaps in future years. Changes to 
the fair value of the liability are not tax deductible under UK tax regulations as tax 
deductions are only available as and when the future interest payments are actually paid. 
The increase in the fair value of the inflation linked swap portfolio will therefore create an 
accounting cost which is not subject to taxation until the interest is paid and therefore 

http://www.keldagroup.com/investors/creditor-considerations/ratings-reports
https://www.yorkshirewater.com/about-us/tax/
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creates a timing difference. The fair value of the inflation linked swap portfolio can fluctuate 
significantly and there will be a consequential impact on the deferred tax provision.  

• For 2022 only, a significant part of the deferred tax charge relates to the increased 
corporation tax rate of 25% from April 2023. Deferred tax balances must be recognised at 
this higher rate compared to the current rate of 19%. 

 
A full reconciliation of the group tax charge for the year is contained in note 9 to the Financial 
Statements. The group continues to believe that it has made adequate provision for current tax and 
deferred tax liabilities. The ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided 
and is dependent upon HM Revenue & Custom's agreement of the basis on which the group's tax 
returns are filed. In assessing these tax uncertainties, management is required to make judgements, 
evaluating the circumstances, facts and other relevant information in respect of the tax position 
taken together with estimates of amounts that will be necessary to provide. The nature of the 
group's uncertain tax positions can relate to complex tax legislation that can be open to 
interpretation. Original estimates are always refined as additional information becomes known. Any 
uncertain tax positions are assessed using internal expertise, experience and judgement together 
with assistance and opinions from professional advisors. There are no current material 
uncertainties. 
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Our financial performance  
 

 

 
2022 

performance 
2021 

performance 
Revenue 
Income receivable for services 
provided 

£1,128.6m £1,109.3m 

Operating profit 
Revenue less operating expenses 

£251.8m £248.6m 

Adjusted EBITDA 
Earnings before interest, tax, 
depreciation, amortisation, and 
exceptional items 
- Reconciled to Operating Profit on 
the next page 

£593.5m £601.0m 

Net assets £825.7m £565.8m 

Net debt#1 
See note 19 to the Financial 
Statements  

£5,852.7m £5,691.1m 

#1 Net debt shown above is as reported in the Financial Statements, which includes accounting adjustments such as fair valuation and 
discounted cashflow - please see note 19 of the Financial Statements for more details.  

Below we explain the highlights of our financial performance: 

• The increase in revenue to £1,128.6m (2021: £1,109.3m) is largely due to allowed inflationary price increases and 
changes in consumption. Whilst there were variations for household and business customers caused by 
ongoing home-working and restrictions due to Covid-19 impacting consumption, the net impact of these 
variations overall was small. 

• Operating costs continue to be tightly managed with total costs (excluding exceptional costs) of £871.1m (2021: 
£832.3m) for the year. Operations have experienced various pressures on expenses in 2022, as a result of severe 
storms, unforeseen increases in electricity and chemical costs, and additional provisions for household bad 
debts due to the expected increased pressure on household income. 

• Exceptional costs of £5.5m includes costs of £10.5m relating to a strategic review of our business processes to 
identify efficiencies and provide a step change in operational performance; offset by £3.0m insurance income 
relating to extreme weather events in prior years; and £2.0m income relating to deferred consideration 
receivable following the final true-up of the sale on the non-household retail customer business in the year 
ended 31 March 2020. 

• The above movements result in a decrease in adjusted EBITDA to £593.5m (2021: £601.0m) compared with an 
increase in operating profit of £3.2m. A reconciliation between this and the statutory measure can be found 
overleaf.  

• The net finance costs have increased to £613.5m (2021: £244.4m). This was predominantly a result of adverse 
fair value movements in the current financial year, coupled with an increase in RPI. The total fair value 
adjustments are a net £369.6m expense (2021: £101.6m expense). See the Managing Financial Risk section 
below for more detail. 

• We are therefore reporting a loss for the financial year for 2021 of £382.8m (2021: £2.3m profit). This represents 
an adjusted profit for the financial year of £107.7m (2020: £16.0m). A reconciliation between this and the 
statutory measure can be found below. 
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• We have revalued infrastructure assets as at 31 March 2022 based on the value in use. The revaluation 
increased the asset value by £901.8m (2021: £217.0m uplift) which has been reflected in the revaluation reserve. 
Refer to note 12 to the Financial Statements for more detail. 

Adjusted EBITDA is calculated as follows:  

  
2022 
£m 

2021 
£m 

(Loss)/profit before tax (361.7) 4.2 
Add back net finance costs 613.5 244.4 
Add back depreciation and impairment (note 11) 307.8 299.6 
Add back amortisation of intangible assets (note 10) 28.4 24.4 
EBITDA including exceptional items 588.0 572.6 
Add back exceptional items (note 5) 5.5 28.4 
Adjusted EBITDA 593.5 601.0 

.  

Adjusted (loss)/profit for the financial year is calculated as follows:  

  
2022 
£m 

2021 
£m 

(Loss)/profit on ordinary activities before taxation  (361.7) 4.2 
Add back exceptional items (note 5) 5.5 28.4 
Add back fair value movements (note 7) 369.6 101.6 
Total 13.4 134.2 
Effects of taxation* (114.8) (26.5) 
Adjusted profit for the financial year  101.4 107.7 

* Effects of taxation represents the total tax charge (current and deferred tax) on adjusted profit. This is calculated by adjusting 
the total tax charge included in the profit and loss account as shown in note 9 to the Financial Statements for the deferred tax 
associated with the adjusting items noted above. 
 

The adjusted results exclude exceptional items and fair value derivative movements. Fair value derivative 
movements are also excluded from the adjusted results, due to their non-cash nature and their volatility year on 
year, which is not representative of business performance. Further information on the derivative fair value 
movements can be found in note 19.  
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Managing risks and uncertainties 

Strong risk management allows Yorkshire Water to consistently meet customer needs whilst keeping our 
colleagues safe and well, whatever happens. It is at the heart of our ways of working, improving our ability to predict 
and prepare for challenges. It is not about refusing to take risks. We accept the balance of risk that our Board 
agrees will allow us to transform the way we work and achieve our goals now and long into the future.  
 
Our risk management framework 

 
 
Our risk management cycle set out above, promotes operational and strategic resilience through early 
identification of what could go wrong and putting controls in place to mitigate the effects before they happen. 
Given the life-critical nature of the service we provide we expect a strong control environment with effective 
response plans in place if risk escalates or materialises. 
 
The Board sets our purpose, ambition and long-term goals and agrees the nature and extent of risk that it is willing 
to take in pursuit of those goals, our risk appetite. It has responsibility for ensuring risks are managed effectively 
across the business, working with the Audit and Risk Committee.  

We acknowledge the uncertainty in our operating environment and use our subject matter experts to scan and 
capture the potential impact of this. Risk identification is embedded in all our operational systems and a standard 
risk assessment matrix is used to ensure consistent measurement. Risk owners set the tolerable level for each risk 
and monitor early warning signs to react if the level of risk becomes intolerable. If risk is outside the Board’s appetite, 
risk owners implement focused action plans to further reduce the likelihood of the risk materialising and its 
potential impact.  

Our coordinated assurance programme tests the design and operation of our control framework and the delivery 
of plans, recommending improvement actions where needed. The Audit and Risk Committee maintains oversight 
of the achievement of actions as well as the quality of the risk and assurance processes. 

 

2
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Our principal risks  

Our principal risks are those individual or aggregated risks which have the potential to threaten resilience or take 
the business significantly beyond risk appetite. The heat map plots our current risk exposure after controls have 
been applied, by impact and likelihood. To be prudent, for aggregated risks such as cyber security, it shows the 
worst-case individual risk score. The table over the following pages describes each of these risks in more detail, 
alongside our approach to mitigation and the change over the past year. These principal risks have also been 
considered in our assessment of financial resilience, as shown in our LTV statement.  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
The impact of Russia and Ukraine  
Our strong risk management processes enabled us to swiftly map the potential impact of the myriad of potential 
threats arising from the Russian invasion of Ukraine, and shape mitigation, monitoring arrangements and triggers 
for escalation. Severe but plausible scenarios have been considered as part of the LTV assessment, and business 
continuity exercises. There are four key strands to our response: 

• The wellbeing and workforce impacts arising from the humanitarian crisis; 
• The impact of economic uncertainty and inflationary pressures on financial resilience and business plans; 
• The resilience of the supply for critical operational products, most notably chemicals; and 
• Security including cyber-resilience, as well as protection of water quality and supply. 

During the year, an exercise has been performed by management to ensure compliance across the business with 
sanctions imposed as a result of the invasion.  

We have not identified the situation in Ukraine as a separate principal risk but recognised its potential to accelerate 
our principal risks. 
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Our principal risks 
1. Cyber security  
We may fail to keep our key business systems or data secure due to a malicious 
attack or failure of cyber security. Sensitive data could be released in breach of 
the Data Protection Act, GDPR or Environmental Information Regulations (EIR). 

  
 

Our Security Steering Group monitors the delivery of our information security policy and procedures. 
It is committed to the continuous improvement of our cyber controls and culture. The General IT 
Control (GITC) Framework automates and embeds security controls, particularly over access. We are 
improving the resilience of our infrastructure through targeted investment. We regularly test our 
back-up and recovery procedures. There is ongoing training, development, and communication for 
all colleagues to improve our security culture and compliance. A range of information and cyber 
security projects are further improving the control environment, to maintain GDPR compliance, 
Network Information Systems Directive and other external standards. 

 
2. Environmental protection and flooding 
We may harm the water environment through unsafe abstraction or discharge 
leading to pollution, or failure to adapt to flood inundation of our assets. 

  

 

Our pollution incident reduction plan has focused on improving day-to-day compliance with our 
ISO9001 and ISO14001 assured operational procedures. We operate a risk-based prioritisation process 
for the maintenance and replacement of our assets. We monitor the effectiveness of our asset 
management through a number of asset health measure. In 2022, we have improved our proactive 
maintenance programme. We are ISO55000 certified demonstrating that we follow best practice. We 
have well established business continuity plans and use our corporate incident management 
process to respond and recover. We have invested to protect our vulnerable assets from flooding and 
work actively with the EA to reduce the impact of flooding for others where we can.  

 
3. Political, regulatory, or statutory change 

We may fail to adapt quickly to externally driven political and regulatory change. 
  

 

This rise in this risk reflects the increasing regulatory engagement with the water sector and the real-
time working arrangements. Our Corporate Affairs and Regulation teams lead our engagement with 
policy makers and the water sector to ensure the needs of our customers are understood. This 
provides early visibility of regulatory and statutory change allowing a timely response. We have also 
enhanced our approach to scanning the horizon for early sight of potential change. Our network of 
legislation champions helps senior managers ensure business processes are compliant with 
statutory and regulatory obligations and allows an agile response to change. A suite of cross-
business training and development promotes awareness of new obligations. 

 
4. Financial sustainability and economic uncertainty 

We may be unable to access funding at acceptable market rates due to market 
uncertainty or a downturn in our credit rating. 

  
 

This risk has risen due to the increased volatility in our economic working environment and the impact 
of inflationary pressures. The Board has approved treasury policies to manage this risk. Financial 
restructuring programmes are providing headroom, to support resilience. Our five-year plan 
identifies our financing requirements. We are committed to maintaining our credit ratings and we 
manage our expenditure and funding accordingly. The BIC oversees all capital expenditure, and the 
annual business plan and budget is set in in line with the plan. We maintain clear financial policies 
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and procedures. Arrangements are in place to support customer affordability and managing 
customer debt. 

 
5. Customer experience and stakeholder trust 

We may not consistently meet the expectations of our customers by failing to 
deliver on our commitments. 

  

 

We recognise and seek to meet the increasing expectations of customers, Our customer experience 
strategy was created with our customers so that we understand and capture what is important to 
them. We continue to capture customer views to inform our plans through our Customer Forum and 
online Customer Panel consultation. Meeting customer expectations is at the heart of our 
transformation plan and our daily performance management and prioritisation processes. Our 
operational policies and procedures align to the achievement of customer service objectives. We 
continue to improve our support to customers in vulnerable circumstances. We are committed to 
eradicating water poverty in Yorkshire. We have reviewed our processes in light of the impact of 
Covid-19 on customers’ ability to pay. 

 
6. Organisational transformation 

We may fail to achieve the transformation required to meet our customer 
expectations and achieve our objectives. 

  
 

We significantly enhanced our Enterprise Change capability in 2022. We have a monthly Change 
Board which oversees the successful delivery of the Change portfolio. This is supported by an 
Enterprise Change function which has a clear framework to ensure that business design meets our 
customer needs, and the totality of the Change programme delivers the expected benefits. 

 
7. Climate change and carbon transition 

We may fail to deal with the impacts of climate change, extreme weather 
conditions and population growth on the resilience of our water resources and 
the integrity of our assets 

  

 

We face extreme weather events with increased frequency. We perform extensive modelling to 
understand what our weather and climate-related risks are and align our strategy accordingly. In 
addition to the steps to improve resilience noted above, we are introducing policies and procedures 
compliant with BS65000 (organisational resilience). We are collaborating to develop resilient low 
asset solutions and ways of working, most notably by the Living with Water partnership in Hull and 
East Riding and Connected by Water partnership in South Yorkshire. We have taken steps towards 
managing our transition risks by setting out a strategy to achieve net zero operational emissions, 
embedding climate at the heart of our PR24 planning, accounting for carbon in our investment 
decision making and developing carbon training. We continue to improve our renewable energy 
generation through our bio-resources and solar programmes whilst reducing our energy use through 
new technology. More detail on our response to climate risk can be found in our Climate-related 
financial disclosures section. 

 
8. Public and colleague safety and wellbeing 
We may fail to protect the safety, health and wellbeing of our colleagues, 
contract partners and customers leading to harm. 

  
 

The safety, health and wellbeing of our colleagues, contractors and customers is our top priority. We 
are proud of our safety performance this year and our outturn against annual targets. However, we 
are not complacent. We are working hard to improve it further, with a focus on process safety and 
learning lessons. Health and Safety matters are prioritised at all meetings of the Yorkshire Water 
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Leadership Team (YWLT) and the Board. The Health and Safety Committee drives a focus on 
continually improving controls. We remain committed to our ten life-saving rules across the business, 
improving our safety behaviours. A Covid-19 safe management procedure operated through the 
year, taking a cautious but flexible approach based on risk assessments. We continue to invest 
significantly in colleague wellbeing, including mental health, with sector leading initiatives including 
access to GPs and physiotherapy, diabetes training and mental health first aider training.  

 
9. Enough clean, safe drinking water 
A problem with our system could cause a failure to meet the level or quality of 
water our customers need 

  
 

We undertake detailed water resources planning and carefully monitor demand, raw water quality 
and asset availability to meet our customers’ needs. We use our flexible grid network to move water 
across Yorkshire to where it is needed. We operate a risk-based prioritisation process for the 
maintenance and replacement of our assets. We monitor the effectiveness of our asset management 
through asset health measures. We have improved our proactive maintenance programme. We are 
ISO55000 (asset management) certified, demonstrating that we follow best practice. We have well 
established business continuity plans and use our corporate incident management process to 
respond and recover. 

 
10. People: talent, culture, succession, and retention 

Our plans may fail to ensure we have the talent and culture to achieve our 
objectives both now and in the future. 

  

 

We put people at the heart of everything we do. We have demonstrated commitment to our core 
behaviours through our response to the pandemic, focusing on clear, regular communication as well 
as colleague wellbeing. As part of our broader transformation programme, we are running a suite of 
initiatives aimed at reviewing our culture, the embedding of our Big Ambition and developing and 
implementing new frameworks to support performance and leadership development, capabilities 
and talent. The programme is well under way and will continue throughout AMP7.  
Our HR policies and procedures are published on our Intranet. These will be reviewed and revised 
(where necessary) to ensure they both align to appropriate legislation and support our Big Ambition. 

 
11. Governance, conduct and organisational resilience 

We may not achieve the standard of conduct and reporting expected by our 
stakeholders. 

  

 

We are committed to reporting clearly, openly, and accurately to all our stakeholders. Our 
coordinated internal and external assurance regime provides confidence to our leaders, customers, 
and regulators that we achieve this. We have re-established our values and expected behaviours to 
meet customer needs with integrity. We continue to promote our Speak Up policy and investigate 
and learn from all issues raised. We have reviewed our Code of Ethics with the Board and are 
cascading the requirements through the business. We have clarified our risk governance and 
responsibilities, to provide a clear line of sight to the Board. We are aware of the White Paper on the 
Corporate Governance Code and the potential for a new regulator. We are mapping the impact and 
assessing the risk, including our supply chain. We are confident that we have foundations for a 
positive response. 
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The Strategic Report was approved by a duly authorised committee of the Board of directors on 27 July 2022 and 
was signed on its behalf by: 

 

 

 

C I Johns 

Chief Financial Officer 
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Principles of Corporate Governance 
 

The Board is accountable to the group’s shareholders for maintaining standards of corporate governance. 
 
Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited is part of the Kelda Holdings Limited group of companies. All corporate governance 
relating to Kelda Holdings Limited group is detailed in the ARFS of that company, which can be found on our website 
at: www.keldagroup.com. Additional detail can be found in the Yorkshire Water ARFS.  
 
The Board of directors 
 
The Board holds meetings when it is considered appropriate or where business needs required. The Board held two 
meetings during the year. 
 
The Board comprises two directors: 
 
K O H Smith 
C I Johns  
 
Internal control and risk management 
 
The Board is responsible for the group’s internal control systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The Board 
confirms that procedures providing an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the principal 
risks and uncertainties faced by the group have been in place for the year to 31 March 2022 and up to the date of 
approval of the ARFS and are reviewed by the Board. The group has a comprehensive and well-defined risk 
management policy, including control policies, with clear structures, delegated authority levels and 
accountabilities, described within the Strategic Report. The process is designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives. The process can only provide reasonable, not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. The Board monitors the overall level of risk, the quality of control frameworks 
and the delivery of action plans to bring risk in line with appetite. In relation to financial reporting, the systems of 
risk management and internal control include an accounting policy manual and an established system of 
accounting processes, including management monitoring and review. 
 
In 2022 the group has reviewed the effectiveness of its risk management process, to ensure that it is 
comprehensive, integrated, proactive and based on constant monitoring of business risk. All risks are managed at 
the appropriate level through the risk register hierarchy and stated controls, owners and action plans where 
necessary. The key features of the process include the following: 

• The key risks facing the group are identified through a clear risk assessment matrix and recorded in the 
corporate risk register; 

• The Risk Committee reviews all movements in strategic risk as well as considering the adequacy of the 
controls in place to mitigate strategic risks to risk appetite; 

• Risk registers are maintained by individual business units, with clear allocation of management 
responsibility for risk identification, recording, analysis and control; 

• Risk assessment is completed with use of strategic risk impact and probability scales and results plotted 
to enable prioritised action; 

• Key risk indicators are used to monitor changes in risk position; 
• The Kelda Holdings Limited, the ultimate parent company, Board reviews and monitors the effectiveness of 

the risk management process, systems, controls and resources on behalf the group; and 
• Delivery of the risk based internal audit plan provides independent assurance to the Yorkshire Water Audit 

and Risk Committee and senior leaders. 
 

https://www.keldagroup.com/
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The Kelda Holdings Limited Board has considered the control environment and control activities which the Board 
can rely on for disclosures in this report. During the reporting year, the Kelda Holdings Limited Board has also acted 
on behalf of the group to review the effectiveness of risk management, internal audit and external audit. 
 
The Kelda Holdings Limited Board confirms that it has reviewed the system of internal control. It has received the 
reports from the Risk and Resilience Committee and has conducted a formal review covering all controls including 
financial, operational, compliance and risk management. No significant failings of internal control were identified 
during these reviews, limited weaknesses were identified, none of which are significant, and all have clear action 
plans to address them in an appropriate timeframe. 
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The directors present their report and the audited consolidated Financial Statements for the group for the year ended 
31 March 2022. The Directors’ Report should be read in conjunction with the Strategic Report. The Corporate 
Governance Report forms part of this Directors’ Report. 

Financial results for the year 

The loss for the financial year was £382.8m (2021: profit of £2.3m), as a result of high financing costs and fair value 
movements. 

Dividends 

During the year, dividends of £45.2m, £0.45 per share (2021: £52.0m, £0.52 per share), were declared and settled in 
cash. No dividends were paid to the ultimate shareholders during the year (2020: £nil). 

Principal activity 

The principal activities of the group are to manage the collection, treatment and distribution of water in Yorkshire. At 
the same time the group also collects, treats and disposes of wastewater safely back into the environment. Yorkshire 
Water, the group’s regulated utility business in the UK, is responsible for both water and wastewater services. The 
principal activity of the company is to be a holding company within the Kelda Holdings Limited group and is expected 
to continue to be so for the foreseeable future.  

Business review 

A review of the development and performance of the group, including strategy, the financial performance during the 
year, key performance indicators, health and safety policy, forward-looking statements and a description of the 
principal risks and uncertainties facing the group are set out in the Strategic Report.  

The purpose of this annual report is to provide information to the group’s stakeholders and contains certain forward-
looking statements with respect to the operations, performance and financial condition of the group. By their nature, 
these statements involve uncertainty since future events and circumstances can cause results to differ from those 
anticipated. Nothing in this report should be construed as a profit forecast. 

The financial risk management policy can be found in the Strategic Report.  

Employees and employment policies 

The employees and employment policies, including the employment of disabled persons, can be found in the 
Strategic Report.  

Customers, suppliers and key stakeholders 
Our approach to engagement with customers, suppliers, regulators and other key stakeholders can be found in our 
Being a good partner section.  

Directors 

The directors who served during the year and up to the date of signing these financial statements, including any 
changes, are shown below: 
   
K O H Smith 
C I Johns 
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The company had directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in place throughout the financial year and up to the date 
of approval of the financial statements. By virtue of the articles of association, the company had also provided 
indemnity for its directors and the Company Secretary, which is a qualifying third-party indemnity provision for the 
purposes of the Companies Act 2006. 

Shareholders  

As at the 31 March 2022, the shareholders of the group were as follows: 

• Wharfedale Hong Kong Limited (managed by DWS): 23.37% shareholding 
• Gateway Infrastructure HK Limited, Gateway HK Water Limited and Gateway HK Water II Limited, (managed 

by Corsair Infrastructure Management L.P.): 30.32% shareholding 
• GIC: 33.56% shareholding 
• SAS Trustee Corporation: 12.75% shareholding 

 
Research and development 
 
The group undertakes a programme of research in pursuit of improvements in service and operating efficiency. In 
2022 £2.9m (2021: £2.8m) was committed to research and development. In addition, £3.7m (2021: £3.7m) of costs have 
been accrued by Yorkshire Water In relation to the Innovation in Water Challenge scheme operated by Ofwat for AMP7. 
These expenses offset revenue recognised during the year. The amounts accrued will either be spent on innovation 
projects that the group successfully bids for or will be transferred to other successful water companies in accordance 
with the scheme rules. 
 
Fixed assets 
 
The directors are aware that the value of certain land and buildings in the balance sheet may not be representative 
of their market value. However, a substantial proportion of land and buildings comprises specialised operational 
properties and structures for which there is no ready market and it is not therefore practicable to provide a full 
valuation. 
 
Previous movements in fixed assets have included transfers to Keyland Developments Limited, another subsidiary of 
Kelda Holdings Limited, which were all made on the basis of independent external valuations obtained specifically for 
the purpose and approved by Ofwat. With effect from 1 April 1996, only those transfers with a value of over £500,000 
have been subject to approval by Ofwat. 
 
Revaluation of assets 
 
Certain classes of the group’s tangible assets were revalued in the year, as detailed in note 12 to the Financial 
Statements. As a result of the valuation carried out at 31 March 2022 the carrying value of the infrastructure assets 
has increased by £901.8m and the resulting revaluation gain taken to the revaluation reserve (2021: £217.0m gain).  

Political donations 
 
The group does not support any political party and does not make what are commonly regarded as donations to any 
political party or other political organisations. However, the definition of “donations” in the Political Parties Elections 
and Referendums Act 2000 covers a number of activities which form part of the necessary relationship between the 
company and stakeholders, for example attendance at party conferences or other events. Due to the ongoing 
restrictions caused by Covid-19, Yorkshire Water did not attend any such events in 2022 and therefore did not incur 
any such expenditure as part of its stakeholder engagement programme (2021: £100).  
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Annual General Meeting 

The shareholders of Kelda Eurobond Co Limited, the largest UK parent company, do not require an annual general 
meeting to be held, given their representation on the Board and therefore the company has dispensed with the 
requirement to hold an annual general meeting. 

Going concern 

The directors have a reasonable expectation that the company has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence over a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the Financial Statements. For this reason, 
they continue to consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the Financial 
Statements. Please see note 2 of the Financial Statements for full going concern considerations.  

Post balance sheet event  

Kelda Finance (No.2) Limited raised £65.0m new borrowings on 7 April 2022. Proceeds were used to refinance an 
existing loan, within the same entity, that was otherwise due for repayment in December 2022.  

Independent auditor 
 
Deloitte LLP have expressed their willingness to continue in office as auditor and appropriate arrangements have been 
put in place for them to be deemed reappointed as auditor in the absence of an Annual General Meeting. 
 
Disclosure of information to auditors 
 
Each director in office at the date of this report confirms that: 

• So far as the director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the group’s auditor is unaware; 
and 

• Each director has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken as a director in order to make him or 
herself aware of any relevant audit information, and to establish that the group’s auditor are aware of that 
information. 

 
Statement of directors' responsibilities 
  
The directors are responsible for preparing the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
regulations. Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that 
law the directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. The 
financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company and of the 
profit or loss of the company for that period.  
  
However, directors are also required to: 
 
• properly select and apply accounting policies; 
• present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable 

and understandable information;  
• provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRSs are insufficient to 

enable users to understand the impact of particular transactions, other events and conditions on the entity's 
financial position and financial performance; and 

• make an assessment of the company's ability to continue as a going concern. 
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The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any 
time the financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the 
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking 
reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 
 
The Directors’ Report was approved by a duly authorised committee of the Board of directors on 27 July 2022 and 
signed on its behalf by: 
 

 
 
C I Johns 
Director 
Western House 
Halifax Road 
Bradford  
West Yorkshire 
BD6 2SZ 
  
Company Secretary: K O H Smith 



Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Consolidated statement of profit or loss  
for the year ended 31 March 2022 
 

 

57 

 

 
  2022 2021 
 Note £m £m 
    
Revenue 3 1,128.6 1,109.3 
    
Operating costs (including exceptional items of £5.5m (2021: £28.4m) 
(note 5))  4 (876.8) (860.7) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Operating profit  251.8 248.6 
    
Finance income 7 49.7 53.3 
    
Finance costs before fair value movements 7 (293.6) (196.1) 
Fair value movements 7 (369.6) (101.6) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Finance costs 7 (663.2) (297.7) 
  ──────── ──────── 
(Loss)/profit before taxation  (361.7) 4.2 
    
Tax charge 8 (21.1) (1.9) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total (loss)/profit for the year  (382.8) 2.3 
  ════════ ════════ 

 
The notes on pages 63 to 122 form an integral part of the Financial Statements. 
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  2022 2021 
 Note £m £m 
    
Total (loss)/profit for the year   (382.8) 2.3 
    
Other comprehensive income/(expense)    
    
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:    
Gain on revaluation of infrastructure assets before taxation 11 901.8 217.0 
Deferred tax movement on revaluation of infrastructure assets 8 (243.4) (41.2) 

  ──────── ──────── 
  658.4 175.8 
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit obligations:  ──────── ──────── 
Remeasurement of employer funded retirement benefit scheme 
before taxation (EFRBS)  (0.1) (0.6) 
Deferred tax movement in relation to retirement benefits  0.1 0.1 

  ──────── ──────── 
  - (0.5) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss    
Gains on hedges taken to equity before taxation  39.9 9.8 
Deferred tax movement in relation to hedges 8 (10.4) (1.8) 
  ──────── ──────── 
  29.5 8.0 
  ──────── ──────── 
Other comprehensive income for the year  687.9 183.3 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total comprehensive income for the year  305.1 185.6 
  ════════ ════════ 
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  2022 2021 
 Note £m £m 
Non-current assets    
Intangible assets  10 189.8 170.1 
Derivative financial assets 19 172.2 202.4 
Property, plant, and equipment 11 9,202.6 8,162.4 
Trade and other receivables 12 1,124.3 1,132.3 
Right of use assets 11 45.5 55.6 
  ──────── ──────── 
  10,734.4 9,722.8 
  ──────── ──────── 
Current assets    
Inventories  6.6 4.8 
Trade and other receivables 12 270.7 277.8 
Tax assets  2.4 2.4 
Cash and cash equivalents 13 31.6 208.9 
Derivative financial assets 19 44.3 29.6 
  ──────── ──────── 
  355.6 523.5 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total assets  11,090.0 10,246.3 
  ──────── ──────── 
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 (447.5) (408.9) 
Deferred contributions on depreciated assets 16 (12.4) (11.8) 
Borrowings 13 (632.4) (599.0) 
Lease liabilities  14 (4.3) (5.5) 
  ──────── ──────── 
  (1,096.6) (1,025.2) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Non-current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 (1.2) (2.1) 
Deferred contributions on depreciated assets 16 (530.6) (503.1) 
Borrowings 13 (5,251.9) (5,301.4) 
Derivative financial liabilities 19 (2,630.9) (2,343.9) 
Provisions for other liabilities and charges  (11.8) (0.4) 
Lease liabilities 14 (48.4) (82.3) 
Deferred income tax liabilities 17 (692.9) (422.1) 
  ──────── ──────── 
  (9,167.7) (8,655.3) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total liabilities  (10,264.3) (9,680.5) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net assets  825.7 565.8 
   ════════ ════════ 
 



Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Consolidated statement of financial position (continued)  
 as at 31 March 2022 
 

 

60 
 

 

    

  2022 2021 
 Note £m £m 
Equity attributable to owners of the parent    

Equity shares 18 - - 
Hedging reserve  35.2 5.7 
Revaluation reserve  914.1 255.7 
Accumulated profits  (123.6) 304.4 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total equity   825.7 565.8 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
 
 
 
 
The Financial Statements on pages 57 to 122 were approved by a duly authorised committee of the Board of directors 
on 27 July 2022 and signed on its behalf by: 
 
 

 
 
 
C I Johns 
 
Director 
Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Registered in England no. 08066326 
 
Registered Address: 
 
Western House 
Halifax Road 
Bradford 
West Yorkshire 
BD6 2SZ 
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 Note 
Share 

premium 
Hedging 

reserve 
Revaluation 

reserve 
Accumulated 

profit 
Total 

equity 
  £m £m £m £m £m 
       
At 1 April 2020  - (2.3) 79.9 354.6 432.2 
       
Loss for the year  - - - 2.3 2.3 
Dividends paid 9 - - - (52.0) (52.0) 
Revaluation of infrastructure assets before 
taxation  - - 217.0 - 217.0 
Deferred tax movement on revaluation of 
infrastructure assets  - - (41.2) - (41.2) 
Revaluation of employer funded retirement 
benefit scheme  - - - (0.5) (0.5) 
Gains on cash flow hedges taken to equity 
before taxation 19 - 

 
9.8 - - 9.8 

Deferred tax movement in relation to hedges  - (1.8) - - (1.8) 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for 
the year  - 8.0 175.8 (50.2) 133.6 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
At 31 March 2021  - 5.7 255.7 304.4 565.8 
       
Profit for the year  - - - (382.8) (382.8) 
Dividends paid 9 - - - (45.2) (45.2) 
Revaluation of infrastructure assets before 
taxation  - - 901.8 - 901.8 
Deferred tax movement on revaluation of 
infrastructure assets  - - (243.4) - (243.4) 
Revaluation of employer funded retirement 
benefit scheme  - - - - - 
Gains on cash flow hedges taken to equity 
before taxation 19 - 

 
39.9 - - 39.9 

Deferred tax movement in relation to hedges  - (10.4) - - (10.4) 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the 
year  - 29.5 658.4 (428.0) 259.9 
  ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
At 31 March 2022  - 35.2 914.1 (123.6) 825.7 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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 Note 2022 2021 
  £m £m 
    
Cash flow from operating activities 20 605.6 619.4 
    
Income taxes paid  (12.3) (10.6) 
Interest paid  (181.0) (166.4) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash generated from operating activities  412.3 442.4 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash flows from/ (used in) investing activities    
Interest received  48.9 54.9 
Net proceeds from disposal of operations  1.7 - 
Proceeds on disposals of property, plant, and equipment  7.0 4.0 
Purchases of property, plant, and equipment  (403.3) (472.6) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash used in investing activities  (345.7) (413.7) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash flows from/ (used in) financing activities    
Dividends paid  (45.2) (52.0) 
Borrowings raised  668.8 (5.8) 
Repayments of borrowings  (835.7) (55.3) 
Repayment of lease liabilities   (39.9) (4.1) 
Repayment of loan received from parent company  8.1 8.1 
Redemption of preference shares  - (0.2) 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net cash from/ (used in) financing activities  (243.9) (109.3) 
  ──────── ──────── 
    
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents  (177.3) (80.6) 
    
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  208.9 289.5 
  ──────── ──────── 
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 13 31.6 208.9 
  ════════ ════════ 
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1. Authorisation of Financial Statements 

Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited consolidated Financial Statements for the year ended 31 March 2022 were authorised for 
issue by the Board of directors on 27 July 2022 and the consolidated statement of financial position was signed on the 
Board's behalf by Chris Johns, Director. Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited is a private company limited by shares, 
incorporated in the UK under the Companies Act 2006, registered in England and Wales, and resident for tax in the UK. 
The registered office address of Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited is Western House, Halifax Road, Bradford, BD6 2SZ. The 
principal activities of the company and its subsidiaries (the Group) and the nature of the group’s operations are set 
out in the Strategic Report.  

2. Accounting policies 
 

 

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated Financial Statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  

Basis of accounting 

The consolidated Financial Statements of Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited have been prepared on the going concern 
basis in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) interpretations and those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to 
companies reporting under IFRS as they apply to the Financial Statements of the group for the year ended 31 March 
2022. 

The consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for certain 
categories of property, plant and equipment which are held at valuation, and all derivative financial instruments and 
financial assets which have been measured at fair value. 

The preparation of Financial Statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the group's accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the Financial Statements, are disclosed later in note 2. 
 
Going concern 

The group’s business activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, performance and 
position are described in the Strategic Report.  

The directors have considered the business plan and the cash position of the group, specifically the sufficiency of the 
funds available to fund the operating and capital investment activities of the group for the 12 months from the date 
of signing the Financial Statements, and the headroom against applicable covenants.  
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2 Accounting policies (continued) 

Going concern (continued) 

In addition, Yorkshire Water, the largest subsidiary of the group, has an indefinite licence to operate as a water and 
sewerage operator terminable with a 25-year notice period. In assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, the directors have considered:  

• The group’s business activities, including the group’s financial and operational performance and strength of 
the year end net asset position. Whilst the consolidated results report a net liability position, this has not 
adversely impacted going concern considerations due to the operating profit position and assessment of 
overall group performance; 

• The group’s available combination of cash and committed undrawn facilities totalling £724.6m at 31 March 
2022 (2021: £699.7m), comprising £693.0m (2021: £490.8m) undrawn committed facilities and £31.6m (2021: 
£208.9m) of cash and cash equivalents (note 19);  

• The group’s securitised financing arrangements include covenants with 'trigger' and 'default' thresholds, 
which are reported bi-annually. The forecast cash flow model, established from the group’s business plan, 
shows sufficient liquidity and headroom for debt covenants, when considering 'trigger' as well as 'default' 
thresholds; 

• Historical accuracy of managements forecasts through a comparison of actual results to budgets to assess 
the accuracy of forecast cash flows; and  

• The impact of wider factors on operations and business performance, for example climate change and 
macroeconomic challenges such as the increased pressure on household income.  

The forecast cash flow model, combined with the above considerations, allowed the directors to conclude that from 
a liquidity perspective the group would have significant liquidity and covenant headroom on facilities available to 
manage its business risks over a period of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the Financial Statements. 
For this reason, despite the net liability and net current liability position, they continue to consider it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the Financial Statements.  

Basis of consolidation 

The consolidated Financial Statements consolidate the Financial Statements of Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited and its 
subsidiaries (note 23). The results of undertakings acquired or sold are consolidated for the periods from the date of 
acquisition or up to the date of disposal. Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for under the purchase method 
of accounting. Associates and joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method of accounting. Intra-group 
balances, and any unrealised gains and losses or income and expenses arising from intra-group transactions, are 
eliminated in preparing the consolidated Financial Statements. 

Foreign currencies 

On an individual company basis, individual transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated into 
functional currency at the actual exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currency at the rates ruling at the balance sheet 
date. Profits and losses on both individual foreign currency transactions during the year and monetary assets and 
liabilities are dealt with in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Revenue  

Water charges  

This revenue stream comprises charges to customers for water, wastewater and other services excluding value 
added tax and arises only in the United Kingdom. 

Revenue is recognised when the performance obligations have been discharged to the customer with respect to the 
services detailed above, and the amounts receivable in respect of these services are deemed probable of collection. 
Revenue relates to charges due in the year, excluding any amounts paid in advance. Revenue for measured water 
charges includes amounts billed plus an estimation of the amounts unbilled at the year end. The accrual is estimated 
using a defined methodology based upon daily average water consumption, which is calculated based upon 
historical billing information.  

No revenue is recognised for unoccupied properties and no bills are raised. If a bill has been issued, and the group 
subsequently become aware that the property is unoccupied, the bill and relevant revenue is cancelled. Generally, a 
property is classed as void if it is unoccupied and unfurnished. 

Connection and Infrastructure charges 

This revenue stream comprises charges to property developers for the connection of new properties to the water and 
sewerage network, and charges to property developers to compensate for the additional strain on the infrastructure 
system. The associated revenue is deferred and recognised over the expected useful life of the network.  

Diversions 

This revenue stream comprises income for structural alternations to the network. Revenue from diversions is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, with an element of deferred income on the consolidated 
statement of financial position. Revenue is recognised over the time it takes to complete the diversion.  

Net operating costs 

Net operating costs include the following: 

Rental income 

Rental income arising on investment properties is accounted for on a straight line basis over the lease term on on-
going leases. 

Other operating income 

Profit relating to the sale of commercial and residential properties to third parties is included within other operating 
income, which is part of operating costs. 

Finance income 

Interest receivable is recognised as the interest accrues using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate 
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the financial instrument to 
its net carrying amount. 

Dividends payable 

Interim and final dividends payable are recognised once declared. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Research and development expenditure 

Research expenditure is written off in the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred. 

Development expenditure is charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except where the expenditure 
meets the criteria for recognition as an internally generated intangible asset as outlined in IAS 38 "Intangible assets". 
Where the recognition criteria are met, intangible assets are capitalised and amortised over their useful economic 
lives from the date of commissioning. 

Taxation 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other 
comprehensive income or expense, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income 
or expense. 

Current tax  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not 
provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in 
a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

Goodwill and intangible assets 

Goodwill represents the excess of the fair value of the consideration paid for a business over the fair value of the 
identifiable assets and liabilities acquired after costs incurred directly in relation to the transaction. Goodwill is 
capitalised and subject to an impairment review, both annually and when there are indications that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. 

Other intangible assets 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation 
Software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. The useful life of software is estimated to be five years. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Property, plant, and equipment 

Residential properties, non-specialised properties and rural estates held within land and buildings are held at 
valuation. Infrastructure assets are held at valuation (note 11). Other property, plant, and equipment (PPE) are included 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Depreciation is charged on property, plant, and equipment on a straight-line basis 
over their estimated useful economic lives, or the estimated useful economic lives of their individual major 
components, from the date of commissioning.  

Useful economic lives are principally as follows: 

Buildings 25 - 100 years 

Plant and equipment  

Fixed plant 5 - 40 years 

Vehicles, mobile plant, and computers 3 - 10 years 

Infrastructure assets  

Water mains and sewers 40 - 125 years 

Earth banked dams and reservoirs 200 years 

Assets under the course of construction are not depreciated until commissioned. 

In the UK regulated water services business, infrastructure assets comprise a network of systems being mains and 
sewers, impounding and pumped raw water storage, reservoirs, dams, and sea outfalls.  

Infrastructure assets, residential properties, non-specialised properties, and rural estates are held at valuation, with 
the latest infrastructure valuations performed at 31 March 2022 and property valuation at 31 March 2019. An interim 
valuation is recorded in the intervening years if there has been a material change. Residual values and depreciation 
rates are reviewed on revaluation. On sale of a revalued asset, the revaluation reserve is recycled to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. 

In respect of borrowing costs relating to qualifying assets for which the capitalisation date is on or after 1 January 
2009, the group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction, or production of a 
qualifying asset as part of the cost of that asset. 

Impairment of property, plant and equipment and goodwill 

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives and residual values are reviewed 
annually. Where adjustments are required, these are made prospectively. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Government grants and contributions 

Government grants and contributions in respect of property, plant and equipment are deferred and credited to the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss by instalments over the expected economic lives of the related assets. 
Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received, and all attaching conditions will be complied with. 

Government grants and contributions received in respect of an item of expense during the year are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss on a systematic basis in line with the cost that it is intended to compensate. 

Investments in joint ventures and associates 

The group has several contractual arrangements with third parties which represent joint ventures, these take the form 
of agreements to share control over other companies. The group recognises its interest in the entity's assets and 
liabilities using the equity method of accounting. 

The group's interest in its associates, being those entities over which it has significant influence, and which are neither 
subsidiaries nor joint ventures, are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the joint venture or associate is carried in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the group's share of its net assets, less distributions 
received and less any impairment in value of individual investments. The group consolidated statement of profit or 
loss reflects the share of the joint ventures' and associates' results after tax. 

Financial Statements of joint ventures and associates are prepared for the same reporting period as the group. Where 
necessary, adjustments are made to bring the accounting policies used into line with those of the group. The group 
ceases to use the equity method on the date from which it no longer has shared control over or significant influence 
in the joint venture or associate. Any unrealised gains or losses between the group and its joint ventures and 
associates are eliminated on consolidation. 

Inventories  

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value less any provision necessary to recognise damage 
and obsolescence. 

Provisions 

Provision is made for self-insured claims incurred but not reported, contracts which are considered onerous, 
accumulated losses related to associated undertakings and other known liabilities which exist at the year end as a 
result of a past event. 

Provisions are recognised where: 
• There is a present obligation as a result of a past event; 
• It is probable that there will be an economic outflow to settle; and 
• A reliable estimate of this outflow can be made. 

Provisions are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised in relation to public to private concession arrangements to the extent that the group 
has a contractual right to receive cash of a specified and determinable amount independent of when and how much 
the service is used and the only risk of non-recovery is credit deterioration of the counterparty. They are measured at 
fair value through profit and loss. 

Cash and cash equivalents  

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other short-term highly liquid investments.  

Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently remeasured at amortised cost, net of any 
allowance for impairment. Invoices for unmeasured water charges are due on predetermined dates, irrespective of 
date of receipt. Invoices for measured water charges are billed quarterly in arrears and generally have seven day 
payment terms. 

Provision for doubtful debts 

In relation to the impairment of financial assets, IFRS 9 requires an expected credit loss model. The expected credit 
loss model requires the group to account for expected credit losses and changes in those expected credit losses at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial assets. In other words, it is 
no longer necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are recognised. 

Trade and other payables 

Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently remeasured at amortised costs. 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial 
recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at either: 

• Amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses arising on repurchase, settlement or 
otherwise cancellation of liabilities are recognised respectively in finance income and finance costs; or 

• Fair value at the measurement date. The movement in the fair value of the loan or borrowing is recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The fair values of the borrowings are determined by reference to quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the group can access at the measurement date.  
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Derivative financial instruments 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
re-measured at their fair value at the balance sheet date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument and, if so, the nature of the item being 
hedged. The group designates certain derivatives as either (1) hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or 
liabilities or (2) cash flow hedges. 

The group documents at the inception of the transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and hedged 
items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The group 
also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an on-going basis, of whether the derivatives that 
are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values of hedged items. 

Fair value hedge 

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability 
that are attributable to the hedged risk. 

Cash flow hedge 

The portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised 
in equity. Any ineffective portion is immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The gains 
or losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the same 
period in which the hedged cash flows affect the consolidated statement of profit or loss. In the event the hedged 
item is no longer expected to occur, or the hedge relationship ceases to be effective, accumulated gains or losses 
held in the cash flow hedge reserve are immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any such derivative 
are immediately recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
Employee benefits 

Defined contribution scheme 

The group operates two defined contribution schemes for those members of staff who are not members of its defined 
benefit scheme. Two pension plans exist under which the group pays a fixed contribution into a separate entity which 
operates the schemes. The other provides the employees with a lump sum on retirement. Other than this contribution, 
the group has no further legal or constructive obligation to make further contributions to the scheme. 

Obligations for contributions to the scheme are recognised as an expense in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss in the year in which they arise. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Exceptional items 

Exceptional items are items which derive from events or transactions that individually or, of a similar type, in 
aggregate fall outside the normal activities, or are significant in value. Such items may include, but are not limited to, 
extreme weather events including related insurance claims, the sale of businesses and significant asset impairments. 
Exceptional items, whether debits or credits, are disclosed separately within the relevant statutory account line item 
to which they relate.  

Fair value estimation 

The fair value of any financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance 
sheet date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the group is the current bid price; the 
appropriate quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as 
estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair 
value of interest rate and currency swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows. The 
fair value calculations have been adjusted to incorporate own and counter-party credit risk and funding risk. 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate 
to their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the group for similar financial 
instruments. 

Management base their estimate of discount rate on a consideration of the long-term risk free interest rate for the 
UK, an industry specific risk factor (beta factor), a market risk premium at the date of valuation and a company 
specific risk factor. 

Leases 

IFRS 16 determines a control model to distinguish between lease agreements and service contracts on the basis of 
whether the use of an identified asset is controlled by the group for a period of time. If the group is deemed to have 
control of an identified asset, then a lease is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position. A right of 
use asset and a corresponding lease liability are recognised. 

The right of use asset is initially measured at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the future lease payments discounted using the discount 
rate that is implicit in the lease. If this discount rate cannot be determined from the agreement, the liability is 
discounted using an incremental borrowing rate. The borrowing rate is derived from a series of inputs including 
benchmark government bond rates and adjustments for credit risk based on publicly traded bonds.  

For short-term leases (lease term of twelve months or less) and leases of low-value assets (such as personal 
computers and office furniture), the group will opt to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as permitted 
by IFRS 16. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

New standards and interpretations 

Software-as-a-Service 

During the year, the group has updated its accounting policy in relation to the treatment of configuration and 
customisation costs incurred in implementing Software-as-a-Service (SaaS) arrangements. The updated 
accounting policy is presented below. A detailed review has been performed on the existing asset base which 
concluded that prior projects have been accounted for correctly and in line with the latest guidance.  

Costs incurred to configure or customise SaaS application software are expensed when the costs are incurred. Costs 
which relate to the development of software code that enhances or modifies on-premise software, or costs incurred 
for software which meet the recognition criteria for an intangible asset, are capitalised as incurred. Any costs 
expensed will be recognised in line with the service provided. Any intangible assets identified will be initially carried at 
cost and follow the existing accounting policy for intangible assets. 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform 

In September 2019, the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) issued Phase 1 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 
and IFRS 7 in relation to Interest Rate Benchmark Reform. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) issued equivalent 
amendments to FRS 102 which are in line with the IASB’s changes. This allowed the group to continue hedge 
accounting for its benchmark interest rate exposures during the period of uncertainty arising from interest rate 
benchmark reforms. 

In August 2020, the IASB issued Phase 2 Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, and IFRS 16 in relation to replacement 
issues. The FRC also issued equivalent amendments to FRS102. During the year, the group transitioned all of its external 
exposures from GBP London Inter-bank Offered Rate (LIBOR) to Sterling Overnight Index Average Rate (SONIA) as a 
direct consequence of the reforms and on an economically equivalent basis. Phase 2 Amendment reliefs have been 
applied, resulting in a continuation of hedge accounting and financial instruments not being derecognised. No gains 
or losses have been recognised as a result of the transition. The completion of the transition brings an end to the 
period of uncertainty and has not resulted in any changes to the group’s accounting policies. There has been no 
change to the group’s risk management strategy as a result of the transition. 

In May 2020, the IASB issued Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions (Amendment to IFRS 16). There has been no impact 
on the group as a result of this amendment.   
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New standards issued but not yet effective 

The group has not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective and, in 
some cases, had not yet been adopted by the UK: 

IFRS 10 (amended) 
IAS 28 (amended) 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) 
 

IAS 16 (amended) Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds before Intended Use 
IAS 37  
IFRS 3 
 

Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract 
Reference to the Conceptual Framework 

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards  
 
IFRS 17 

2018–2020 Cycle 
 
Insurance contracts 

IAS 1 (amended) 
IAS 1 (amended) 
IAS 8 (amended) 
IAS 12 (amended) 
 
IAS 12 (amended) 

Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-current 
Disclosure of Accounting Policies 
Definition of Accounting Estimates 
Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a 
Single Transaction  
Income Taxes - Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 
Transaction 

 

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the 
Financial Statements of the group in future periods. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

In the application of the group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements (other than those 
involving estimations) that have a significant impact on the amounts recognised and to make estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered 
to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

The directors consider the principal accounting estimates made in the Financial Statements to be: 

a) Infrastructure assets valuation 

Infrastructure assets are held under a revaluation model. Fair value is determined with the support of a third party 
using a market value approach, which uses discounted cash flow modelling to calculate a valuation range for the 
Enterprise Value (EV) of Yorkshire Water. Management conclude on the appropriate EV to be used from within this 
range using their judgement. Yorkshire Water's working capital balances and existing asset carrying amounts are 
then deducted from the selected EV and the remaining EV is attributed by management to the infrastructure assets. 

Estimates are made in respect of the key assumptions applied in the valuation model. The key assumptions 
requiring estimation are the discount rate (which is based on the regulatory weighted average cost of capital and 
cost of equity of Yorkshire Water), retail price index (RPI), the underlying forecast cash flows and the terminal value. 
The discount rate applied is 7.50% (2021: 7.63%). A long-term RPI rate has been adopted of 2.90% (2021: 2.90%). See 
note 12 for the revaluation in the year and total net book value of tangible assets held as at the year end. 

The key judgements inherent within the valuation methodology are the selection of the appropriate point within the 
range of EVs calculated by the third party valuation expert, and the attribution of the EV less working capital 
balances wholly to the infrastructure assets. The selection within the range is undertaken with due consideration of 
the regulatory capital value of the infrastructure assets.  

The key sensitivities to assumptions that would cause a material1 movement in the model's valuation output are: a 
0.02% movement in RPI and consumer price index including owner-occupiers' housing costs (CPIH)2; a £1.48m pa 
movement in the underlying cash flows2; and a 0.04% movement in the discount rate.  

b) Fair value of financial instruments 

The group’s accounting policy for financial instruments is detailed earlier in this note. In accordance with IFRS, financial 
instruments are recognised in the Financial Statements at fair value. The fair value of financial instruments that are 
not traded on an active market is determined using a discounted cash flow valuation technique. After taking advice 
from external parties, management uses its judgement to determine the derivative valuations. These are subject to 
adjustments to ensure they are compliant with IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement. A credit valuation adjustment (CVA), 
debit valuation adjustment (DVA) and funding valuation adjustment (FVA) is calculated using expected exposures, 
probability of default and loss given default. Details of the nature of the assumptions inherent within the financial 
instrument fair valuations can be found in note 19. Particular estimation uncertainty exists in relation to counter-party 
funding adjustments and own and counter-party credit risk assumptions since these are unobservable inputs to 
which the valuation model is materially sensitive.  
1 Material as defined in the Independent Auditor’s Report. 
2 Across all years of the model. 
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2. Accounting policies (continued) 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued) 

Fair value of financial instruments (continued) 

The fair value of net derivative financial liabilities of £2,414.4m (2021: £2,111.9m) would be £45.1m (2021: £45.1m) higher 
or lower were the counter-party funding assumption to change by ten basis points. The fair value of net derivative 
financial liabilities of £2,414.4m (2021: £2,111.9m) would be £25.8m (2021: £31.2m) higher or lower were the credit curve 
assumption to change by ten basis points. The fair value of net derivative financial liabilities of £2,414.4m (2021: 
£2,111.9m) would be £90.1m (2021: £87.4m) higher or lower were the recovery rate assumption to change by ten basis 
points. 

b) Revenue recognition from household customers where payment is not considered probable and Covid-19 
bad debt provision 

Each year management estimate the revenue attributable to customers who are not deemed probable of paying 
and ensure these amounts are excluded from reported revenues. Given the number of customers to whom the group 
provides services is significant, the estimate of those household customers who are not likely to pay their bills requires 
significant judgement. Management’s estimate of revenue receivable that should not be recorded as revenue in the 
Financial Statements is based on amounts billed and unbilled relating to: 

• household customers who have not paid their bill in over two years; and 
• new household customer accounts where no payments have been received in the first six months. 

At each reporting date, management also make an estimate regarding future cash collection to form the basis of the 
household bad debt provision. Estimates associated with this provision is based on historic, current, and forward-
looking information where available. A high level of uncertainty remains around how current economic conditions 
could impact the recoverability of household debtors, particularly in light of the backdrop of Covid-19, rising energy 
prices, and high inflation rates which have adversely impacted typical household's disposable income affecting some 
customers' ability to pay. The bad debt provision is primarily based on reviewing customer payment profiles over two 
years. If this were changed to two and a half years, the bad debt provision would decrease by £12.6m (2021: £9.3m).  

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations (which are dealt with separately 
above), that the directors have made in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies and that have 
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the Financial Statements. 

The directors consider the critical accounting judgements made in the Financial Statements to be: 

a) Capitalisation of labour costs 

Additions made to property, plant and equipment include £63.3m (2021: £58.4m) of own work capitalised. Judgement 
is made to ensure these costs relate to relevant assets and that future economic benefits will flow to the group. 
Judgement is also made as to whether certain costs constitute repairs and maintenance or the enhancement of 
assets. 

b) Depreciation 

The group’s accounting policy for property, plant and equipment is discussed earlier in this note estimated useful 
economic lives of PPE are based on management’s judgement and experience. When management identifies that 
actual useful lives differ materially from the estimates used to calculate depreciation, that charge is adjusted 
prospectively. Due to the significance of capital investment to the group, variations between actual and estimated 
useful lives could impact operating results both positively and negatively. Historically, only minor changes to 
estimated useful lives have been required. 
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3. Revenue 

 

 2022 2021  
 £m £m  
    
External revenue 1,126.0 1,106.3  
Inter-company revenue 2.6 3.0  
 ──────── ────────  
Total revenue from continuing operations 1,128.6 1,109.3  
 ════════ ════════  
 

Timing of revenue recognition 

 2022 2021  
 £m £m  
    
At a point in time 1,106.2 1,087.2  
Over time 22.4 22.1  
 ──────── ────────  
Total revenue from continuing operations 1,128.6 1,109.3  
 ════════ ════════  
 

 
  



Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Notes to the consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
for the year ended at 31 March 2022 
 

 

77 
 

4. Operating costs from continuing operations before exceptional items 
 
Operating costs before exceptional items includes the following: 
 2022 2021  
 £m £m  
    
Own work capitalised (63.3) (58.4)  
Raw materials and consumables 46.3 36.8  
Staff costs (note 6) 188.4 171.2  
Pension deficit contributions 13.8 13.8  
Depreciation (note 11) 307.9 299.6  
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 10) 28.4 24.4  
Net impairment of trade receivables 6.6 0.2  
Profit on disposal of property, plant, and equipment (7.0) (3.1)  
 ════════ ════════  
 
Auditor's remuneration 

Services provided by the group's auditor are analysed as follows: 
 2022 2021  
 £m £m  
Fees payable to the group's auditor for:    
Audit of the group pursuant to legislation 0.5 0.4  
Other assurance services 0.2 0.1  
 ──────── ────────  
 0.7 0.5  
 ════════ ════════  
Other assurance services predominantly relate to regulatory reporting obligations. 
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5. Exceptional items  
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Exceptional operating costs - 7.9 
Exceptional payments to delivery partners - 3.8 
CMA referral costs - 10.5 
Strategic business process review 10.5 8.7 
Extreme weather events (3.0) (2.5) 
Deferred consideration receivable on business disposal (2.0) - 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total exceptional items including in operating profit 5.5 28.4 
 ════════ ════════ 
Net exceptional items of £5.5m (2021: £28.4m) include £10.5m (2021: £8.7m) in relation to a strategic review of our 
business processes to identify efficiencies and provide a step change in operational performance, including 
associated severance expenses. This transformation project commenced in the prior period as a result of a 
challenging Price Review process in 2019 in which Yorkshire Water referred the Final Determination to the Competitions 
and Markets Authority (CMA). 

These costs are offset by the final instalment of insurance income of £3.0m (2021: £2.5m income net of costs), relating 
to extreme weather events in previous years. In addition, £2.0m income was received relating to a final true-up on the 
sale of the non-household retail customer business in the year ended 31 March 2020. This treatment as exceptional is 
consistent with the treatment of other aspects of the disposal in previous years. 

The 2021 exceptional items included £7.9m in relation to discretely identifiable increases in operational costs as a 
result of factors such as enhanced cleaning regimes, social distancing requiring additional vehicles, and protective 
equipment to keep our colleagues safe and allow essential working in accordance with government guidance; and 
£3.8m in relation to payments made to key delivery partners to enable them to continue to employ personnel who 
were considered critical responders in the event of operational emergencies in the business such as leakage 
incidents, and to cover their discretely identifiable additional costs of operation in the Covid-19 environment. 

In addition, following the decision to refer the AMP7 Final Determination to the CMA, £10.5m of legal and advisory 
related costs were classified as exceptional in 2021. 
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6. Directors and employees 
 2022 2021 
 Number Number 
Average monthly number of people employed by the group   
   
 3,931 3,707 
UK regulated water services ════════ ════════ 
   
   
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Total employment costs:   
Wages and salaries 158.6 143.2 
Social security costs 16.6 15.8 
Other pension costs 13.2 12.2 
 ──────── ──────── 
 188.4 171.2 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
Directors' emoluments 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Aggregate emoluments 0.9 1.4 
 ════════ ════════ 
The amounts in respect of the highest paid director are as follows:   
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Aggregate emoluments 0.5 0.7 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
During the financial year, none of the executive directors (2021: none) were contributory members of the Kelda group 
Pension Plan, a defined benefit scheme. The accrued pension benefit of the highest paid director in 2022 was £nil 
(2021: £nil). 
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7. Finance income and finance costs 
 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Finance income   
Interest on bank deposits 0.2 0.7 
Interest receivable on loans to group companies 49.5 52.6 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total finance income 49.7 53.3 
 ──────── ──────── 
Finance costs   
Interest payable on fixed rate and inflation guaranteed bonds and notes (163.8) (156.4) 
Interest payable on fixed rate USD notes (8.9) (10.4) 
Interest payable on fixed rate AUD bonds (2.0) (2.0) 
Interest receivable from swaps in hedge relationships 16.6 15.3 
Amortisation of issue costs in respect of bonds and private notes (4.8) (4.9) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total finance costs for bonds and private notes (162.9) (158.4) 
   
Interest payable on bank borrowings (21.0) (24.6) 
Index accretion on inflation linked borrowings (119.6) (21.6) 
Interest payable on leases 0.9 (0.6) 
Commitment fees and miscellaneous interest (4.5) (5.1) 
Loss on early redemption of guaranteed bonds  (1.0) - 
 ──────── ──────── 
Finance costs before interest capitalisation and fair value movements (308.1) (210.3) 
Interest capitalised 14.5 14.2 
 ──────── ──────── 
Finance costs before fair value movements (293.6) (196.1) 
Fair value movements (note 19)  (369.6) (101.6) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total finance cost (663.2) (297.7) 
 ════════ ════════ 

For more information on borrowings refer to note 13.  

Fair value movements are explained below. 
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7. Finance income and finance costs (continued) 

 

The following table summarises the fair value movements through the consolidated statement of profit or loss: 
   
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Total fair value movements 
   
Movement in fair value of inflation linked swaps (see below) 368.3 98.9 
Movement in fair value of floating to fixed interest rate swaps (3.9) (1.2) 
Movement in fair value of cross-currency interest rate swaps 26.6 37.4 
Movement in fair value of foreign currency debt (24.5) (35.6) 
Movement in fair value of fixed to floating interest rate swaps 39.5 23.3 
Movement in the fair value of debt associated with fixed to floating interest rate swaps  (36.4) (20.8) 
Movement in fair value of energy derivatives - (0.4) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total fair value movements 369.6 101.6 
 ════════ ════════ 

Movement in fair value of inflation linked swaps of £368.3m (2021: £98.9m) includes a charge of £96.4m (2021: £48.3m) 
in relation to the RPI bullet accumulated as at 31 March 2022, interest receivable of £55.8m (2021: £69.0m), interest 
payable of £55.4m (2021: £52.3m) and other fair value movements of £272.3m (2021: £67.3m). 

 

 
Finance costs   
Financial liabilities held at fair value through profit and loss or in 
fair value hedge relationships (380.6) (115.4) 
Financial liabilities held at amortised cost (282.6) (182.3) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total finance costs  (663.2) (297.7) 
 ──────── ──────── 
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8. 

Tax charge/(credit) 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Current tax   
UK Corporation tax at 19% (2021: 19%) 3.9 10.8 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods 0.1 1.5 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total current tax charge on continuing activities 4.0 12.3 
 ──────── ──────── 
Deferred tax   
UK credit for origination and reversal of temporary differences (74.7) (9.0) 
Under/(over) provision of tax in respect of previous periods 1.0 (1.4) 
Effect of tax rate changes 90.8 - 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total deferred tax charge/(credit) to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss (note 17) 17.1 (10.4) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total tax charge on profit to the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss 21.1 1.9 
 ════════ ════════ 
Tax relating to items charged to equity   
Deferred tax:   
Movement in cash flow hedges 10.4 1.8 
Revaluation of infrastructure assets 243.4 41.2 
Actuarial gains in respect of defined benefit pension schemes (0.1) (0.1) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Tax charge in the group statement of comprehensive income 253.7 42.9 
 ════════ ════════ 
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8. Tax charge/(credit) (continued) 
 

The differences between the total current and deferred tax charge shown and the amount calculated by applying the 
rate of corporation tax of 19% (2021: 19%) to the profit/(loss) on ordinary activities before tax is as follows:  

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
(Loss)/Profit from continuing operations before taxation (361.7) 4.2 
 ──────── ──────── 
Current and deferred tax on group (loss)/profit on ordinary activities at the tax 
rate of 19% (2021: 19%) (68.7) 0.8 
Effects of:   
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1.9 2.4 
Income not taxable (0.4) (1.0) 
Difference in tax rates 90.8 - 
Adjustments in relation to prior periods 1.1 0.1 
Super deduction expenditure (3.0) - 
Other timing differences (0.6) (0.4) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total group current and deferred tax charge for the year to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss  21.1 1.9 
 ════════ ════════ 

The Provisional Collection of Taxes Act, enacted on 17 March 2020, set the corporation tax rate at 19% from 1 April 2020, 
the rate which has been used in preparing these Financial Statements. 

The Finance Bill 2021 introduced an increase to the main rate of corporation tax to 25% from April 2023. This rate was 
substantively enacted on 24 May 2021. As a result, deferred tax balances expected to reverse after April 2023 and 
calculated at the previous 19% rate have been re-measured using the increased 25% rate. 

The group continues to believe that it has made adequate provision for current tax and deferred tax liabilities. The 
ultimate liability for such matters may vary from the amounts provided and is dependent upon HM Revenue & 
Custom's agreement of the basis on which the group's tax returns are filed. In assessing these tax uncertainties, 
management is required to make judgements, evaluating the circumstances, facts, and other relevant information 
in respect of the tax position taken together with estimates of amounts that will be necessary to provide. The nature 
of the group's uncertain tax positions can relate to complex tax legislation that can be open to interpretation. Original 
estimates are always refined as additional information becomes known. 

Any uncertain tax positions are assessed using internal expertise, experience, and judgment together with assistance 
and opinions from professional advisors. 

The deferred tax credit for continuing operations for the year reflected in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
relates to the following: 
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8. Tax charge/(credit) (continued) 
 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Property, plant, and equipment 217.9 - 
Financial instruments (198.3) (10.0) 
Pension and employment obligations (2.5) (0.8) 
Research and development (R&D) expenditure credit  - 0.4 
 ──────── ──────── 
Deferred tax credit (17.1) (10.4) 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
9. Dividends 
 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Total dividends 45.2 52.0 
 ════════ ════════ 
During the year, dividends of £45.2m, £0.45 per share (2021: £52.0m, £0.52 per share), were declared and settled in 
cash. 
 
10. Intangible assets 
 

Software 

Software 
under 

construction Goodwill Total 
 £m £m £m £m 
Cost     
Balance at 1 April 2021 178.0 45.3 14.2 237.5 
Additions 16.6 26.0 - 42.6 
Transfers on commissioning 29.3 (29.3) - - 
Other transfers 4.8 0.7 - 5.5 
Disposals (10.9) - - (10.9) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2022 217.8 42.7 14.2 274.7 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Amortisation      
Balance at 1 April 2021 67.4 - - 67.4 
Amortisation for the year 28.4 - - 28.4 
Disposals (10.9) - - (10.9) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2022 84.9 - - 84.9 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Net book value     
At 31 March 2022 132.9 42.7 14.2 189.8 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
At 31 March 2021 110.6 45.3 14.2 170.1 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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10. Intangible assets (continued) 

 
Goodwill arose on the transfer into Yorkshire Water of the trade and net assets of The York Waterworks Limited on 1 
April 2000. The directors do not believe this should be impaired as it relates to assets which are still contributing to the 
generation of positive cash flows within the business. 
 

Software 

Software 
under 

construction Goodwill Total 
 £m £m £m £m 
Cost     
Balance at 1 April 2020 159.5 42.3 14.2 216.0 
Additions 19.6 3.0 - 22.6 
Disposals (1.1) - - (1.1) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2021 178.0 45.3 14.2 237.5 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Amortisation      
Balance at 1 April 2020 44.1 - - 44.1 
Amortisation for the year 24.4 - - 24.4 
Disposals (1.1) - - (1.1) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2021 67.4 - - 67.4 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Net book value     
At 31 March 2021 110.6 45.3 14.2 170.1 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
At 31 March 2020 115.4 42.3 14.2 171.9 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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11.  Property, plant, and equipment 

 
Land and 
buildings 

Infrastructure 
assets 

Plant and 
equipment 

Under 
construction Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 
Cost or valuation      
Balance at 1 April 2021 2,056.5 6,187.0 2,696.0 531.7 11,471.2 
Additions 10.6 124.3 42.5 269.2 446.6 
Transfers on commissioning 54.5 49.7 220.0 (324.2) - 
Other transfers - - (4.8) (0.7) (5.5) 
Disposals (12.0) (6.5) (184.3) - (202.8) 
Revaluation - 901.8 - - 901.8 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2022 2,109.6 7,256.3 2,769.4 476.0 12,611.3 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Depreciation and impairment       
Balance at 1 April 2021 563.6 1,519.8 1,225.4 - 3,308.8 
Depreciation charge for the 
year 

42.9 98.2 161.6 - 302.7 

Disposals (12.0) (6.5) (184.3) - (202.8) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 

Balance at 31 March 2022 594.5 1,611.5 1,202.7 - 3,408.7 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 

Net book value at 31 March 
2022 

1,515.1 5,644.8 1,566.7 476.0 9,202.6 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 

Net book value at 31 March 
2021 

1,492.9 4,667.2 1,470.6 531.7 8,162.4 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 

 
During the year the group capitalised borrowing costs amounting to £14.5m (2021: £14.2m) on qualifying assets. 
Borrowing costs were capitalised at the weighted average rate on the group’s borrowings of 3.05% (2021: 3.14%). 
Included in the net book value as at 31 March 2022 are £155.3m of capitalised borrowing costs (2021: £145.6m). 
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11. Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 
 
Right of use assets  
 
 Land and 

Buildings 
Infrastructure 

assets 
Plant and 

equipment Total 
 £m £m £m £m 
Cost      
At 1 April 2021 13.9 37.3 11.6 62.8 
New leases recognised  1.1 - 6.5 7.6 
Disposals (10.1) - (7.5) (17.6) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ─────── 
At 31 March 2022 4.9 37.3 10.6 52.8 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Depreciation and impairment     
At 1 April 2021 0.9 2.2 4.1 7.2 
Charge for the year 0.6 1.1 3.5 5.2 
Disposals (1.2) - (3.9) (5.1) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ─────── 
At 31 March 2022 0.3 3.3 3.7 7.3 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
     
Net book value  

At 31 March 2022 4.6 34.0 6.9 45.5 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
At 31 March 2021 13.0 35.1 7.5 55.6 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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11. Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 

 
Land and 
buildings 

Infrastructure 
assets 

Plant and 
equipment 

Under 
construction Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m 
Cost or valuation      
Balance at 1 April 2020 2,045.7 5,776.4 2,736.5 453.1 11,011.7 
Additions 22.5 47.0 33.3 345.5 448.3 
Transfers on commissioning 24.6 152.6 89.7 (266.9) - 
Disposals (36.3) (6.0) (163.5) - (205.8) 
Revaluation - 217.0 - - 217.0 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2021 2,056.5 6,187.0 2,696.0 531.7 11,471.2 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Depreciation and impairment       
Balance at 1 April 2020 557.3 1,435.9 1,224.4 - 3,217.6 
Depreciation charge for the year 42.6 90.0 163.5 - 296.1 
Disposals (36.3) (6.1) (162.5) - (204.9) 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ─────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2021 563.6 1,519.8 1,225.4 - 3,308.8 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Net book value      
At 31 March 2021 1,492.9 4,667.2 1,470.6 531.7 8,162.4 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
At 31 March 2020 1,488.4 4,340.5 1,512.1 453.1 7,794.1 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Right of use assets  

 Land and 
Buildings 

Infrastructure 
assets 

Plant and 
equipment Total 

 £m £m £m £m 
Cost      
At 1 April 2020  19.3 37.3 9.4 66.0 
New leases recognised 3.1 - 2.2 5.3 
Disposals (8.5) - - (8.5) 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ─────── 
At 31 March 2021 13.9 37.3 11.6 62.8 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Depreciation and impairment     
At 1 April 2020 1.8 1.1 2.1 5.0 
Charge for the year 0.4 1.1 2.0 3.5 
Disposals (1.3) - - (1.3) 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ─────── 
At 31 March 2021 0.9 2.2 4.1 7.2 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Net book value     
At 31 March 2021 13.0 35.1 7.5 55.6 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
At 31 March 2020 17.5 36.2 7.3 61.0 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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11. Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 

Revaluation - Infrastructure assets 

The group’s infrastructure assets were valued by management at 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 using the approach 
outlined in note 1. These annual valuations are performed on a consistent basis in accordance with IFRS which requires 
that assets subject to a policy of revaluation should be carried at their fair value less any subsequent accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. IFRS allows, where market based evidence of fair value is not 
available due to the specialised nature of the items of property plant and equipment, an entity to estimate fair value 
using an income approach. 

The increase in infrastructure assets valuation that results from the annual revaluation has been incorporated into 
the Financial Statements and the resulting revaluation adjustments taken to the revaluation reserve. A revaluation 
gain of £901.8m, before deferred tax, was recognised in the year ended 31 March 2022 (2021: £217.0m gain). The 
directors note that the revaluation reserve position may be subject to movements in future periods as key discounted 
cash flow (DCF) model assumptions are revised as information regarding future price controls and regulatory policy 
becomes available. 

Revaluation - Land and buildings 

Certain categories of the group's land and buildings are also held under a revaluation model, on the basis of existing 
use, and were valued by independent qualified valuers as at March 2019.  

The valuations were undertaken in accordance with the Appraisal and Valuation Manual of the Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors in the UK by the following surveyors 

Non-specialist properties Cushman & Wakefield  

Rural estates Carter Jones LLP 

Residential properties Savills (UK) Limited 

The external valuations on properties will be re-performed on a periodic basis. An interim valuation is booked in 
intervening years based on directors’ valuations. The valuations carried out at 31 March 2019 have been considered 
at 31 March 2022 by the directors, taking into account indicators such as the impact of Covid-19 and climate change, 
and have concluded that the current book values are not materially different to current market values. 

Land and Buildings  

The net book value of land and buildings comprises: 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Freehold 1,491.7 1,479.8 
Long leasehold 25.9 21.6 

Short leasehold  2.1 0.6 
 ──────── ──────── 
 1,519.7 1,502.0 
 ════════ ════════ 
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11. Property, plant, and equipment (continued) 

The following information relates to tangible assets carried on the basis of revaluation: 
 Valuation Historical cost basis 
 £m £m 
Infrastructure assets 5,678.8 4,245.5 
Non-specialist properties 39.2 37.7 
Rural estates 51.7 0.5 
Residential properties 2.4 - 
 ──────── ──────── 
 5,772.1 4,283.7 
 ════════ ════════ 

Analysis of the net book value of the revalued non-specialised properties, rural estates and residential properties is 
as follows: 

  
Valuation 

 
Historical cost basis 

 £m £m 
At 1 April 2020 69.2 13.7 
Additions 23.3 23.3 
Depreciation (0.9) (0.7) 
 ──────── ──────── 
At 1 April 2021 91.6 36.3 
Additions 2.9 2.9 
Depreciation (1.2) (1.0) 
 ──────── ──────── 
At 31 March 2022 93.3 38.2 
 ════════ ════════ 
Analysis of the net book value of the revalued infrastructure assets is as follows: 
  

Valuation 
Restated 1 

Historical cost basis 
 £m £m 
Valuation/cost at 31 March 2022 7,325.4 5,861.3 
Aggregate depreciation (1,646.6) (1,615.9) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Net book value at 31 March 2022 5,678.8 4,245.4 
 ════════ ════════ 
   
Valuation/cost at 31 March 2021 6,256.1 5,693.8 
Aggregate depreciation (1,553.8) (1,531.1) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Net book value at 31 March 2021 4,702.3 4,162.7 
 ════════ ════════ 
1 The amounts reported in the 2021 Annual Report and Financial Statements in respect of the historical cost, aggregate depreciation 
and net value as at 31 March 2021 were misstated due to an error in compilation of the disclosure. Accordingly, the disclosures herein 
in relation to 2021 have been updated to reflect the corrected amounts. There has been a £17.4m increase to the historical cost, an 
increase in aggregate depreciation of £145.5m and a reduction in net value on a historical cost basis of £128.1m as previously 
reported. 
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12. Trade and other receivables 
 
 2022 2021 
Amounts falling due within one year: £m £m 
Trade receivables 180.7 180.9 
Provision for impairment of trade receivables (36.8) (27.5) 
 ──────── ──────── 
 143.9 153.4 
   
Prepayments  7.8 10.8 
Accrued Income 84.2 78.5 
Amounts owed by group companies 20.0 17.8 
Other tax and social security 12.0 13.6 
Other receivables 2.8 3.7 
 ──────── ──────── 
 270.7 277.8 
Amounts falling due after more than one year: ════════ ════════ 
 ──────── ──────── 
Amounts owed by group companies 1,124.3 1,132.3 
 ════════ ════════ 

All receivables are reviewed regularly to assess any associated credit risk. There are no significant concentrations of 
credit risk. Any impairment considered necessary has been made to the amounts included above. See note 19 for 
further details of credit risks associated with financial instruments. 

Amounts owed by group companies within one year and after more than one year include £199.2m (2021: £207.3m) in 
respect of a loan that reflected the fair value of inflation linked swaps at the date of novation from Saltaire Water 
Limited to Yorkshire Water in August 2008 and a £742.1m loan to Kelda Eurobond Co Limited (2021: £742.1m). 

With effect from 21 February 2022 the loans transitioned from bearing interest at six month LIBOR plus 4.25% to an 
economically equivalent SONIA based rate plus 4.25%. In addition, the loans are unsecured, have no contracted 
repayment date and are repayable on demand. A repayment profile is in place to repay £8.1m per annum of the 
£199.2m loan. Therefore, £8.1m is shown in amounts due within one year and the balance is reflected in amounts due 
after more than one year. 

Amounts owed by group companies after more than one year also includes a £191.1m (2021: £191.1m) loan to Kelda 
Eurobond Co Limited at an interest rate calculated as the weighted average of interest rates due on Kelda Finance 
(No.2) Limited’s secured bank loans maturing in May 2024 and May 2027 plus 0.01%. 

Credit control policies and procedures are determined at the individual business unit level. By far the most significant 
business unit of the group is Yorkshire Water Services Limited, which represents 99.8% of group turnover and 100.0% of 
net trade receivables. Yorkshire Water has a statutory obligation to provide water and wastewater services to 
domestic customers within its region and therefore there is no concentration of credit risk with respect to its trade 
receivables from these services and the credit quality of its customer base reflects the wealth and prosperity of all 
the domestic households within its region. 

The expected credit loss rate is 3.3% (2021: 2.5%), calculated as the impairment write off as a percentage of revenue.   
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12. Trade and other receivables (continued) 

As at 31 March 2022 

  Past due   
 Not due Less than 1 

year 
overdue 

Between 1 
and 2 
years 

overdue 

Between 2 
and 3 
years 

overdue 

Between 3 
and 4 
years 

overdue 

More than 
4 years 

overdue 

Total 

Trade 
receivables (£m) 

0.3 77.4 23.7 19.6 16.4 43.3 180.7 

Expected credit 
loss (£m) 

- (4.2) (1.4) (5.2) (6.0) (20.0) (36.8) 

Expected credit 
loss (%) 

- 5.4 5.9 26.5 36.6 46.2 20.4 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 

 

As at 31 March 2021 

  
  Past due   
 Not due Less than 1 

year 
overdue 

Between 1 
and 2 
years 

overdue 

Between 2 
and 3 
years 

overdue 

Between 3 
and 4 
years 

overdue 

More than 
4 years 

overdue 

Total 

Trade 
receivables (£m) 

0.3 87.8 23.8 18.2 15.3 35.5 180.9 

Expected credit 
loss (£m) 

- (1.1) (1.8) (3.6) (5.4) (15.5) (27.4) 

Expected credit 
loss (%) 

- 1.3 7.6 19.8 35.3 43.7 15.2 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
 
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows: 
 2022 2021 

 £m £m 

Provision brought forward 27.5 30.5 
Charge in the year 31.9 19.6 
Amounts written off (22.6) (22.6) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Provision carried forward 36.8 27.5 
 ════════ ════════ 

In all cases, the fair value of trade and other receivables is considered to be the carrying value as stated above. 
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13. Financing 

(i) Cash and cash equivalents 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Cash and cash equivalents 31.0 93.8 
Short-term deposits 0.6 115.1 
 ──────── ──────── 
 31.6 208.9 
 ════════ ════════ 

At 31 March 2022, the group had available £693.0m (2021: £490.8m) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities. 

(ii) Borrowings 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Current borrowings:   
Bank borrowings 64.8 110.3 
Fixed rate USD notes - 168.7 
Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes 410.6 - 
Other borrowings 157.0 320.0 
 ──────── ──────── 
 632.4 599.0 
 ════════ ════════ 
   
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Non-current borrowings:   
Bank borrowings 722.7 768.9 
Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in less than 5 years 298.8 218.6 
Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in more than 5 years  2,480.9 2,667.2 
Inflation linked guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in more than 5 years 1,508.8 1,406.0 
Floating rate notes due in more than 5 years 74.4 74.4 
Fixed rate USD notes due in less than 5 years 137.0 136.6 
Fixed rate AUD bonds due in less than 5 years 29.3 29.7 
 ──────── ──────── 
 5,251.9 5,301.4 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
Bank borrowings due in less than one year have been considered current as this demonstrates a reasonable split 
between the age of the debt. ‘Other borrowings’ includes the drawn portion of Yorkshire Water’s RCF.  
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13. Financing (continued) 

(ii) Borrowings (continued) 

Included within borrowings are: 

 2022 2021 
£m £m 

Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in less than 1 year are made up of:    
Bonds repayable on 21 February 2023. Interest is charged at 6.5876% 212.4 - 
Bonds repayable on 22 March 2046. Interest is charged at 3.75%1 198.2 - 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in less than 1 year 410.6 - 
 ════════ ════════ 
Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in less than 5 years are made up of:   
Bonds repayable on 21 February 2023. Interest is charged at 6.5876% - 212.6 
Bonds repayable on 21 February 2023. Interest is charged at 5.375%4 - 6.0 
Bonds repayable on 26 November 2026. Interest is charged at 1.75% 298.8 - 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in less than 5 years 298.8 218.6 
 ════════ ════════ 
Fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in more than 5 years are made up of:     
Bonds repayable on 26 November 2026. Interest is charged at 1.75% - 298.6 
Bonds repayable on 28 May 2027. Interest is charged at 5.5% 6.9 6.8 
Bonds repayable on 28 May 2027. Interest is charged at 6.454% 136.4 136.6 
Private notes repayable on 22 September 2028. Interest is charged at 2.03% 59.8 59.8 
Bonds repayable on 1 August 2029. Interest is charged at 3.625% 245.5 264.9 
Private notes repayable on 30 October 2029. Interest is charged at 3.54% 94.1 102.4 
Bonds repayable on 17 April 2031. Interest is charged at 6.6011% 264.8 263.7 
Bonds repayable on 17 April 2031. Interest is charged at 6.625%4 - 0.8 
Private notes repayable on 22 September 2031. Interest is charged at 2.14% 49.8 49.8 
Bonds repayable on 27 October 2032. Interest is charged at 1.75% 344.7 - 
Private notes repayable on 22 September 2033. Interest is charged at 2.21% 49.8 49.8 
Bonds repayable on 13 June 2033. Interest is charged at 4.965% 96.8 105.3 
Private notes repayable on 28 September 2034. Interest is charged at 3.08% 49.8 49.7 
Private notes repayable on 22 September 2036. Interest is charged at 2.30% 39.8 39.8 
Private notes repayable on 22 September 2036. Interest is charged at 2.30% 49.8 49.8 
Bonds repayable on 28 May 2037. Interest is charged at 5.5% 196.0 195.8 
Private notes repayable on 28 September 2038. Interest is charged at 3.17% 49.7 49.7 
Bonds repayable on 19 August 2039. Interest is charged at 6.375% 302.3 302.6 
Bonds repayable on 18 April 2041. Interest is charged at 2.75% 444.9 444.9 
Bonds repayable on 22 March 2046. Interest is charged at 3.75%1 - 196.4 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total fixed rate guaranteed sterling bonds and notes due in more than 5 years 2,480.9 2,667.2 
 ════════ ════════ 
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13. Financing (continued) 

(ii) Borrowings (continued) 
 2022 2021 

 £m £m 
Inflation linked guaranteed sterling bonds due in more than 5 years are made up of:   
Bonds repayable on 29 July 2033. Interest is charged at 3.3066%2 195.1 187.6 
Bonds repayable on 29 July 2033. Interest is charged at 3.048%4 - (0.8) 
Bonds repayable on 30 December 2039. Interest is charged at 2.718%2 397.2 369.3 
Private notes repayable on 13 December 2041. Interest is charged at 2.16%2 66.5 61.7 
Bonds repayable on 22 May 2042. Interest is charged at 1.803%3 65.8 61.1 
Bonds repayable on 1 February 2050. Interest is charged at 1.8225%2 100.5 93.2 
Bonds repayable on 1 August 2051. Interest is charged at 1.462%2 198.8 184.3 
Bonds repayable on 1 February 2054. Interest is charged at 1.75756%2 131.6 122.0 
Bonds repayable on 1 August 2056. Interest is charged at 1.46%2 198.7 184.2 
Bonds repayable on 1 February 2058. Interest is charged at 1.7085%2 154.6 143.3 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total inflation linked guaranteed sterling bonds due in more than 5 years 1,508.8 1,405.9 
 ════════ ════════ 
Fixed rate USD notes are made up of:   
$115.0m USD fixed rate private notes repayable 13 December 2021. Interest is charged at 
3.77% 

- 84.3 

$40.0m USD fixed rate private notes repayable 5 January 2022. Interest is charged at 
3.77% 

- 29.4 

$75.0m USD fixed rate private notes repayable 5 January 2022. Interest is charged at 
5.07% 

- 55.0 

$150.0m USD fixed rate private notes payable on 13 December 2023. Interest is charged 
at 3.87% 

114.2 113.8 

$30.0m USD fixed rate private notes repayable on 5 January 2024. Interest is charged 
at 3.87% 

22.8 22.8 

 ──────── ──────── 
Total fixed rate USD notes 137.0 305.3 
 ════════ ════════ 
Fixed rate AUD bonds are made up of:     
$50m AUD bonds repayable on 26 April 2023. Interest is charged at 5.875%. 29.3 29.7 
 ──────── ──────── 
Total fixed rate AUD bonds 29.3 29.7 
 ════════ ════════ 
   

All guaranteed borrowings above are repayable in one instalment unless stated otherwise. 
1 This bond also has a step-up and call date on 22 March 2023. A deed poll has been signed, which is an enforceable and legally 
binding pledge, to exercise the optional redemption right on the bond prior to the end of the fixed rate period (22 March 2023). 
2 Interest is charged on these bonds and notes at the above percentages multiplied by an index ratio and the principal amount is 
increased semi-annually in line with the RPI. 
3 Amortising – repayments commence 2032. 
4 On 16 March 2022 the group exercised options to redeem these bonds. 
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13. Financing (continued) 

(ii) Borrowings (continued) 

Non-current bank borrowings 

Non-current bank borrowings are made up of: 
 

(i) Bank loans: 
• Loan facilities of £nil with maturities between 1 and 2 years. 
• Loan facilities of £nil with maturities between 2 and 5 years. 
• Loan facilities of £148.1m with maturities in more than 5 years.  

  
(ii) Term loan facilities: 

• An inflation (CPI) linked term facility of £108.0m due March 2029 with interest is charged at 0.4745% multiplied 
by an index ratio and the principal amount is increased semi-annually in line CPI. 

• A fixed rate term facility of £49.9m due July 2031 with interest charged at 2.881%. 
• An inflation (CPI) linked term facility of £27.1m due July 2031 with interest charged at 0.8125% multiplied by 

an index ratio and the principal amount is increased semi-annually in line with CPI.  

The long-term bank loans stated above include £389.6m (£394.9m loan less £5.3m unamortised issue costs) held at 
Kelda Finance (No.2) Limited. (2021: £378.7m (£383.2m loan less £4.5m unamortised issue costs)). 

 

14. Lease liabilities 

 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Current 4.3 5.5 
Non-current 48.4 82.3 
 ──────── ──────── 
 52.7 87.8 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
The group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities.  
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15. Trade and other payables 
 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Amounts falling due within one year:   
Trade payables 139.4 128.7 
Capital payables 122.8 78.8 
Social security and other taxes 4.2 3.8 
Receipts in advance 79.8 88.1 
Amounts owed to group companies 16.3 18.3 
Interest payable 71.7 70.5 
Other payables 13.3 20.7 
 ──────── ──────── 
 447.5 408.9 
 ════════ ════════ 
   
Amounts falling due after more than one year:   
Other payables  1.2 2.1 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
Trade and other payables principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and on-going costs. The 
directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other payables approximate to their fair value. 
 
Amounts owed to group companies relate to trading balances and are interest free, unsecured, and repayable on 
demand. 
 
16. Deferred contributions on depreciated assets 

 
Amounts falling due in less than one year: 2022 2021 

 £m £m 
   

Contributions to depreciated assets 12.4 11.8 
 ════════ ════════ 

 
Amounts falling due after more than one year: 2022 2021 

 £m £m 
   

Contributions to depreciated assets 530.6 503.1 
 ════════ ════════ 
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17. Deferred income tax liabilities 
 
 

 

 
PPE 

  
Financial 

instruments 

 
Pension 

obligations 

 
 

R&D credit Total  
  £m £m £m £m £m 
       
At 1 April 2020  806.2 (414.4) (1.8) (0.5) 389.5 
Charge/(credit) to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss 

 
- (10.1) (0.8) 

 
0.5 (10.4) 

Charge/(credit) to equity  41.1 2.0 (0.1) - 43.0 
  ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
At 1 April 2021  847.3 (422.5) (2.7) - 422.1 
Charge/(credit) to consolidated statement of 
profit or loss 

 
217.9 (198.3) (2.5) 

 
- 17.1 

Charge/(credit) to equity  243.4 10.4 (0.1) - 253.7 
  ────── ────── ────── ────── ────── 
At 31 March 2022  1,308.6 (610.4) (5.3) - 692.9 
  ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 

 
18. Ordinary shares 
 
  Ordinary shares of £1 
 2022 2021 
 £ £ 
Issued and fully paid:   
100 (2021: 100) Ordinary shares of £1.00 each 100 100 
 ════════ ════════ 
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19. Financial instruments 

The disclosures below exclude short-term receivables and payables which are primarily of a trading nature and 
expected to be settled within normal commercial terms. 

Net debt and associated financial instruments comprise the following: 

 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 
 Less than 

 one year 
More than  

one year Total 
Less than 
 one year 

More than  
one year Total 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Derivative financial assets:       
Inflation linked swaps - 129.4 129.4 - 119.1 119.1 
Fixed to floating interest rate 
swaps 

- 17.3 17.3 - 56.8 56.8 

Cross-currency interest rate 
swaps 

- 22.9 22.9 24.9 24.3 49.2 

Energy derivatives 44.3 2.6 46.9 4.7 2.2 6.9 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total derivative financial assets 44.3 172.2 216.5 29.6 202.4 232.0 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Derivative financial liabilities:       
Inflation linked swaps - (2,611.5) (2,611.5) - (2,318.8) (2,318.8) 
Floating to fixed interest rate 
swaps 

- (14.7) (14.7) - (21.1) (21.1) 

Cross-currency interest rate 
swaps 

- (4.7) (4.7) - (4.0) (4.0) 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total derivative financial 
liabilities 

- (2,630.9) (2,630.9) - (2,343.9) (2,343.9) 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Net debt:       
Cash and short-term deposits 31.6 - 31.6 208.9 - 208.9 
Borrowings (632.4) (5,251.9) (5,884.3) (599.0) (5,301.4) (5,900.4) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Total net debt (600.8) (5,251.9) (5,852.7) (390.1) (5,301.4) (5,691.5) 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ═══════ 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
The following table summarises the fair value movements on the derivative instruments: 

2022 2021 
£m £m 

 
Included in finance costs   
Movement in fair value of inflation linked swaps 368.3 98.9 
Movement in fair value of floating to fixed interest rate swaps (3.9) (1.2) 
Movement in fair value of cross-currency interest rate swaps 26.6 37.4 
Movement in fair value of foreign currency debt (24.5) (35.6) 
Movement in fair value of fixed to floating interest rate swaps 39.5 23.3 
Movement in the fair value of debt associated with fixed to floating interest rate swaps  (36.4) (20.8) 
Movement in fair value of energy derivatives - (0.4) 
 ──────── ──────── 
Net fair value movement 369.6 101.6 
 ════════ ════════ 
 

Movement in the fair value of inflation linked swaps 
Inflation linked swaps have been valued at the reporting date at fair value, which at 31 March 2022 resulted in a net 
liability of £2,482.1m (2021: £2,199.7m liability), comprising £129.4m assets and £2,611.5m liabilities (2021: £119.1m assets 
and £2,318.8m liabilities). Included within the net liability are net assets of £76.1m (2021: £88.2m) relating to day one 
deferred gains and losses recognised on the restructuring of certain inflation linked swaps in prior years.  
This year has seen the liability on the inflation linked swaps increase by £282.4m (2021: £100.1m increase). Of this 
amount, £368.3m relates to the fair value movement as disclosed above (2021: £98.9m cost), £0.4m relates to net 
interest paid on inflation linked swaps (2021: £16.7m received) and £85.5m relates to an accretion payment made in 
the year (2021: £15.5m expense). 

Movement in the fair value of floating to fixed interest rate swaps 
The group holds a number of legacy floating to fixed rate swaps. The fair value movement of floating to fixed interest 
rate swaps has resulted in £3.9m income to the consolidated statement of profit or loss (2021: £1.2m income).  

Movement in the fair value of cross-currency interest rate swaps and associated debt 
The group holds a number of cross-currency interest rate swaps which have been designated in fair value hedge 
relationships and have been valued at the reporting date at fair value. The carrying value of associated debt 
designated in the hedge relationships has been adjusted for the hedged risk. The movement in the valuation of the 
cross-currency interest rate swaps has resulted in £26.6m expense (2021: £37.4m expense) to the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. This is offset by the fair value movement in the associated debt of £24.5 income (2021: 
£35.6m income). The net impact to the consolidated statement of profit or loss is £2.1m of expense (2021: £1.8m 
expense). Currency basis has been included in the hedge designation which acts as a source of ineffectiveness. 

Movement in the fair value of fixed to floating interest rate swaps and associated debt 
The group holds a number of fixed to floating interest rate swaps which are designated in fair value hedge 
relationships and have been valued at the reporting date at fair value. The carrying value of associated debt 
designated in the hedge relationships has been adjusted for the hedged risk. The fair value movement of fixed to 
floating interest rate swaps has resulted in £39.5m expense (2021: £23.3m expense) to the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. The fair value movement of associated debt is £36.4m income (2021: £20.8m income). This is a total 
impact to the consolidated statement of profit or loss of £3.1m of expense (2021: £2.5m expense). This represents 
ineffectiveness in the hedge relationships due to factors such as credit risk.  
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19. Financial instruments (continued)  
(a) Interest rate risk profile of financial assets and liabilities  

 
The following table provides information about the maturity of the nominal amount and interest payable rates 
attached to the swaps held by group as of 31 March 2022 to hedge its interest rate risk: 
 

 Period of maturity 
 First year Second to fifth year After five years Total 
 £m £m  £m 
 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 
Notional amount (GBP) - 146.9 430.0 576.9 
Average interest rate – fixed to 
floating interest rate swaps 

- - 3.9% - 

Average interest rate – cross-
currency interest rate swaps 
(USD) 

- 3.9% - - 

Average interest rate – cross-
currency interest rate swaps 
(AUD) 

- 3.8% - - 

 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
(b) Financial risks 

Capital risk management 

The group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group's ability to continue as a going concern to 
provide benefits to stakeholders, returns to shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure. In order to do 
this, the group will consider the amount of debt and assets held and their liquidity. 

When monitoring capital risk, the group considers its gearing and the ratio of net debt to Yorkshire Water’s RCV.  

Maximum exposure relating to financial assets is represented by carrying value as at the balance sheet date. 

Credit risk 

The group has some exposure to credit risk through the holding of receivables on the year end consolidated statement 
of financial position. The credit risk associated with these balances is heightened in the year ended 31 March 2022 due 
to economic factors affecting household disposal income such as energy prices and high levels of inflation, this is 
being closely monitored by the group. These can be split into charges against the provision of water and wastewater 
services and other trade receivables. 

For trade receivables, the group measures a provision for expected credit losses at an amount equal to lifetime 
expected credit losses, estimated by reference to past experience and relevant forward-looking factors. 

Risks associated with receivables include limits on the group's ability to restrict supply. However, this does not apply 
to all receivables. The credit risk is mitigated by introducing payment plans, providing advice and support to 
customers where this is viable and where it is considered necessary, using legal procedures to reclaim outstanding 
debts. Other risks associated with trade receivables are mitigated by credit checks performed on customers before 
they are supplied, the cessation of supply to customers who are a high credit risk and payment in advance where this 
is deemed necessary. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(b) Financial risks (continued) 

Credit risk (continued) 

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates to their fair value. The 
amounts presented in the consolidated statement of financial position are net of allowances for doubtful receivables, 
estimated by the group's management based on prior experience and their assessment of the current economic 
environment. 

The group's objective is to manage risk by minimising the amount of overdue debt at any time. The group manages 
the risk by timely review of the ageing profile and employing specific staff to monitor and collect these debts. The risk 
is measured by monitoring of overdue receivables. 

Cash and short-term deposits are invested with a range of counterparties, either AAA rated sterling liquidity funds or 
banks with a rating of at least long-term A, short-term A1/P1, in accordance with approved investment guidelines. 

At 31 March, the maximum exposure to credit risk for the group and company is represented by the carrying amount 
of each financial asset in the statement of financial position: 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 

   

Cash and short-term deposits (note 13) 31.6 208.9 
Trade and other receivables (note 12) 270.7 277.8 
 ════════ ════════ 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the group will not have the level of liquid funding available to meet its requirements. 
Maintaining an inadequate amount of liquidity and being unable to access the debt markets when required exposes 
the group to the risk of being unable to finance its functions and refinance existing indebtedness, whilst maintaining 
excess liquidity potentially exposes the group to the risk of inefficient funding costs. 

The group looks to manage its liquidity by ensuring debt is issued with a range of durations and obtained from a 
variety of sources. The maturity profile is actively managed by the group's treasury function. Existing bank covenants 
require the group to maintain a combination of available cash balances and banking facilities sufficient to cover 
certain requirements for the succeeding 12 months. This is a rolling requirement. Further facilities are not expected to 
be required within the next year to comply with the covenants. 

At 31 March 2022 the group had £724.6m of available liquidity (2021: £699.7m) which comprised £31.6m in available 
cash and short-term deposits (2021: £208.9m) and £693.0m of undrawn committed borrowing facilities (2021: 
£490.8m). 

The liquidity profile of the group's financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2022 is below. This includes interest 
payable or receivable in the year as well as the principal repayments. It is assumed that SONIA and indexation remain 
constant at the year end position. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued)  
 
 (b) Financial risks (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

Year ended 31 March 2022 
 Within 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 More than  
 1 year years years years years 5 years Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Fixed rate        
Bank loans 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 7.0 238.0 273.0 
Guaranteed sterling bonds 
and notes 

534.1 100.4 103.6 102.0 402.0 3,147.9 4,390.0 

USD notes 5.3 141.3 - - - - 146.6 
AUD bonds 1.7 28.6 - - - - 30.3 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 548.1 277.3 110.6 109.0 409.0 3,385.9 4,839.9 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Floating rate        
Inflation linked guaranteed 
sterling bonds and notes 

31.8 31.8 31.8 31.8 31.8 2,049.3 2,208.3 

Inflation linked bank 
borrowings 

2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 2.8 303.2 317.2 

Other bank borrowings 243.9 18.8 112.2 15.5 39.9 341.1 771.4 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 278.5 53.4 146.8 50.1 74.5 2,693.6 3.296.9 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Derivative financial 
instruments 

       

Inflation linked swaps (13.9) (11.9) 0.6 81.8 42.1 1,460.5 1,559.2 
Fixed to floating interest rate 
swaps 

(4.6) (4.1) (5.1) (4.6) (4.6) (17.4) (40.4) 

Cross-currency interest rate 
swaps 

(3.0) (20.5) - - - - (23.5) 

Floating to fixed interest rate 
swaps 

2.2 2.3 2.2 2.2 2.3 10.9 22.1 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 (19.3) (34.2) (2.3) 79.4 39.8 1,454.0 1,517.4 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Non-interest bearing 
financial liabilities 

       

Trade payables (note 15) 139.4 - - - - - 139.4 
Other payables 236.4 1.2 - - - - 237.6 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 375.8 1.2 - - - - 377.0 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
  

(b) Financial risks (continued) 
 
Liquidity risk (continued) 

Year ended 31 March 2021 
 Within 1-2 2-3 3-4 4-5 More than  
 1 year years years years years 5 years Total 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
Fixed rate        
Bank loans 9.4 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 190.8 218.6 
Guaranteed sterling bonds 
and notes 

117.7 535.1 94.3 97.5 95.9 3,157.2 4,097.7 

USD notes 177.5 5.0 134.5 - - - 317.0 
AUD bonds 1.6 1.6 27.7 - - - 30.9 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 306.2 546.3 261.1 102.1 100.5 3,348.0 4,664.2 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Floating rate        
Inflation linked guaranteed 
sterling bonds and notes 

29.8 29.8 29.8 29.8 29.8 1,938.3 2,087.3 

Inflation linked bank 
borrowings 

2.6 2.6 2.7 2.6 2.6 287.2 300.3 

Other bank borrowings 447.3 97.7 30.8 124.5 27.6 351.1 1,079.0 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 479.7 130.1 63.3 156.9 60.0 2,576.6 3,466.6 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Derivative financial 
instruments 

       

Inflation linked swaps 69.9 (1.8) 0.1 9.6 70.6 1,444.9 1,593.3 
Fixed to floating interest rate 
swaps 

(10.2) (10.2) (9.1) (11.3) (10.2) (46.0) (97.0) 

Cross-currency interest rate 
swaps 

(29.9) (4.5) (14.0) - - - (48.4) 

Floating to fixed interest rate 
swaps 

2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 2.5 13.5 26.0 

 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 32.3 (14.0) (20.5) 0.8 62.9 1,412.4 1,473.9 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
Non-interest bearing 
financial liabilities 

       

Trade payables (note 15) 128.7 - - - - - 128.7 
Other payables 209.7 2.1 - - - - 211.8 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 338.4 2.1 - - - - 340.5 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(b) Financial risks (continued) 

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that movements in market conditions, including inflation and interest rates will impact materially 
on the group financial performance. The group's exposure to market risks primarily results from its financial 
arrangements and the economic return which it is allowed on the RCV. 

The group uses a variety of financial instruments, including derivatives, in order to manage the exposure to these risks. 

The group's fixed rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in their fair value due to changes in interest rates. 
The group's floating rate borrowings are exposed to a risk of change in interest cash flows due to changes in interest 
rates. The group uses interest rate swap contracts to hedge these exposures where appropriate. 

The sensitivity of the group's interest and borrowings to the above risks can be summarised as follows: 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Impact on profit before tax   
1% increase in inflation leading to a decrease in profit 11.5 31.6 
1% decrease in inflation leading to an increase in profit (11.1) (31.7) 
1% increase in SONIA leading to an (increase)/decrease in profit (2.8) 5.7 
1% decrease in SONIA leading to a decrease/(increase) in profit 7.4 (1.3) 
 ════════ ════════ 

In order to manage its exposure to movements in SONIA, the group has entered into a number of floating rate to 
inflation linked swaps and also floating interest rate to fixed interest rate swaps. The nominal value of inflation linked 
swaps total £1,289.0m and have an average life to the maturity date of 28 years. The nominal value of the floating 
interest rate to fixed interest rate swaps is £45.0m with an average remaining life of 9 years. 
 
(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities 

The information set out below provides information about how the group determines fair values of various financial 
assets and financial liabilities.  
Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 
based on the degree to which the fair value is observable: 
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical 

assets or liabilities or where the directors consider the carrying amounts of the financial instruments to 
approximate to their fair value; 

• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); 
and  

• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 
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19. Financial instruments (continued)  
 
(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

The following table gives information about how the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are 
grouped into Level 2 and Level 3 are determined (in particular the valuation technique(s) and inputs used). 

The level for inflation linked swaps is determined through assessing the percentage of the DVA and FVA of the Dirty 
Mark to Market value of each swap. Valuations that are classed as level 3 for the inflation linked swaps are defined by 
the proportion of the funding and counter-party adjustment being greater than 10% of the total mark to market 
valuation of the instrument. 

 
Financial assets/ 
financial liabilities  

Fair value as at 
31 March 

Fair value 
hierarchy  

Valuation technique(s) and key 
input(s)  

 2022 2021   

1. Interest rate swaps,  
cross-currency swaps, 
inflation linked swaps, 
bonds and notes 

Assets:  
£169.6m 
Liabilities: 
£1,476.0m 

Assets: £215.7m 
Liabilities: 
£1,584.1m 

Level 2 Swaps: Discounted cash flow. 
Future cash flows are estimated 
based on forward interest rates 
(from observable yield curves at 
the end of the reporting year) and 
contract interest rates, discounted 
at a rate that reflects own or 
counterparty credit risk. 
 
Bonds: Quoted prices for identical 
instruments that can be 
accessed at the measurement 
date. 
Notes: Discounted expected 
future cash flows using prevailing 
rates including credit spreads 
observable in publicly traded 
instruments. 

2. Bank loans and 
overdrafts 

Liabilities: £793.1m Liabilities: £914.7m Level 2 Fair values of bank loans and 
overdrafts are calculated by 
discounting expected future cash 
flows using prevailing rates 
including credit spreads 
observable in publicly traded 
instruments. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

 
Financial 
assets/ 
financial 
liabilities  

Fair value as at 
31 March 

Fair value 
hierarchy  

Valuation 
technique(s) and 
key input(s)  

Significant unobservable 
input(s) 

Relationship of 
unobservable 
inputs to fair 
value 31 March 

 2022 2021     
3. Inflation 
linked swaps, 
bank loans 
and 
overdrafts  

Assets: 
£nil 
Liabilities: 
£1,902.2m 

Assets: 
£9.4m 
Liabilities: 
£1,709.8m 

Level 3 Discounted cash 
flow. Future cash 
flows are 
estimated based 
on forward 
interest rates 
(from observable 
yield curves at the 
end of the 
reporting year) 
and contract 
interest rates, 
discounted at a 
rate that reflects 
the credit risk of 
various 
counterparties. 

Inflation linked swaps: 
• Counterparty cost of 

funding assumption 
• Assumptions relating 

to long-term credit 
beyond observable 
curves 

• Recovery rates 

Bank loans and 
overdrafts: 
• Level 3 instrument 

valuations relate to 
CPI linked 
transactions where 
inputs are from a less 
liquid market. 

 

Unobservable 
inputs contribute 
on average to 
17.6% of the fair 
value of level 3 
instruments, 
equaling a total of 
£437.5m of the 
fair value 
included in the 
Financial 
Statements. A ten 
basis point shift in 
each of these 
assumptions in 
either direction 
gives rise to an 
aggregate impact 
on the valuation 
of £145.0m higher 
or lower. 

 
The following table provides the fair values of the group's financial assets and liabilities at 31 March 2022.  
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 2022 2022 2022 2021 2021 2021 
 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m 
       
Financial assets measured at Fair Value 
Through Profit and Loss       
Inflation linked swaps - 129.4 - - 109.7 9.4 
Fixed to floating interest rate swaps - 17.3 - - 56.8 - 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - 22.9 - - 49.2 - 
       
Financial liabilities measured at Fair 
Value Through Profit and Loss or in fair 
value hedge relationships       
Floating to fixed interest rate swaps - (14.7) - - (21.1) - 
Cross-currency interest rate swaps - (4.7) - - (4.0) - 
Inflation linked swaps - (853.9) (1,757.6) - (751.4) (1,567.4) 
Fixed rate USD notes - (137.0) - - (298.6) - 
Fixed rate AUD bonds - (29.3) - - (36.5) - 
Fixed rate sterling bonds and notes - (436.4) - - (472.5) - 
       
Designated as Fair Value Through Other 
Comprehensive Income       
Energy derivative - 46.9 - - 6.9 - 
       
Financial liabilities held at amortised 
cost not in fair value hedge relationships       
Fixed rate sterling bonds and notes (2,666.4) (246.4) - (2,562.1) (274.3) - 
Inflation linked sterling bonds (445.3) (1,220.6) - (459.0) (1,276.0) - 
Floating rate sterling notes - (76.5) - - (66.0) - 
Bank loans and overdrafts (157.0) (793.1) (144.6) (330.8) (914.7) (142.4) 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 
 
Reconciliation of financial liabilities measured at fair value using level 3 inputs: 

 Inflation swaps 
 £m 
Balance at 1 April 2021  
 1,558.0 
Total unrealised gains or losses:  
- included within finance costs in the profit or loss 299.7 
Transfers from Level 3 to Level 2 (100.1) 
 ──────── 
Balance at 31 March 2022 1,757.6 
 ════════ 

The following table shows the sensitivity of fair values to reasonably possible alternative assumptions as at 31 March 
2022: 

 Reflected in profit or loss 
 Favourable 

change 
Unfavourable 

change 
 £m £m 
Level 3 inflation linked swap assumptions:   

Ten basis point change in counter-party funding assumption 42.0 (42.0) 
Ten basis point change to credit curve assumption 22.9 (22.9) 
10% change in recovery rate assumption 80.1 (80.1) 

 

The fair value of net derivative financial liabilities of £2,414.4m would be £45.1m (2021: £45.1m) higher or lower were the 
counter-party funding assumption to change by ten basis points. The fair value of net derivative financial liabilities of 
£2,414.4m would be £25.8m (2021: £31.2m) higher or lower were the credit curve assumption to change by ten basis 
points. The fair value of net derivative financial liabilities of £2,414.4m would be £90.1m (2021: £87.4m) higher or lower 
were the recovery rate assumption to change by ten basis points. Disclosing an appropriate sensitivity of fair values 
could vary based on what is reasonably possible in the market but a change of ten basis points demonstrates the 
level of movement in the assumption which results in a material difference, this can be scaled up and is consistent 
with sensitivities reported previously. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Inflation linked swaps  

The group holds a number of inflation linked swaps, with a notional value of £1,289.0m. There are three cash flows 
associated with these inflation linked swaps:  

• six monthly interest receivable linked to SONIA;  
• six monthly interest payable linked to RPI; and  
• an RPI-linked bullet that is payable on maturity of the instruments or at certain predetermined dates over the 

duration of the swaps.  

In addition, a proportion of the inflation linked swaps also receives six monthly interest amounts based on a fixed rate 
(see note 7 for further details).  

Interest payments and receipts are accrued in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The RPI bullet accumulated 
at the balance sheet date has been discounted using an appropriate rate applied to the specific life of the future 
accretion paydowns of the inflation linked swaps, this is incorporated into the fair value of the derivative. The RPI bullet 
accrued to 31 March 2022 was £280.9m (2021: £229.5m) which has been reduced by £83.1m (2021: £42.5m) when 
discounted to present value.  

With higher RPI expectations, SONIA and applicable discount rates continuing at relatively low levels, the group's 
portfolio of inflation linked swaps gave rise to a fair value liability of £2,611.5m and a fair value asset of £129.4m (2021: 
£2,318.8m liability and £119.1m asset) at the year end date. Included in this amount, £197.8m (2021: £187.0m) represents 
the discounted value of the RPI bullet accrued to 31 March 2022.  

The valuation model used by the group to determine the fair value of the inflation linked swap portfolio as at 31 March 
2022 includes a FVA, DVA and Credit Valuation Adjustment (CVA) to reflect the long-term credit risk of the group's 
inflation linked swap portfolio. All the swaps in the portfolio have super-senior status. The FVA, DVA and CVA 
adjustments to the valuation represent unobservable inputs that have the potential to materially affect the resultant 
fair valuation, and therefore require estimation techniques to be adopted by management. Management uses a third 
party expert to advise on the appropriateness of these assumptions and have prepared sensitivity analysis in order 
to evaluate the impact of a reasonably possible range of assumptions on the resultant valuation. The total adjustment 
made to the valuation as a result of the assumptions adopted in respect of these key inputs was £456.0m (2021: 
£502.1m).  
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 19. Financial instruments (continued) 

 (c) Fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities (continued) 

Interest rate swaps  

The group entered into several multi-currency interest rate swap transactions involving Fixed USD notes and one AUD 
bond, referred to as cross-currency interest rate swaps between 2011 and 2013. As detailed in this note above, the net 
impact of the fair value movement on the swaps and associated debt resulted in a net expense of £2.1m (2021: £1.8m 
expense) to the consolidated statement of profit or loss. This impact is split out as follows. 

The fair value of cross-currency interest rate swaps resulted in an expense of £26.6m being recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss (2021: £37.4m expense). This is offset by the change in fair value of the 
associated debt resulting in income of £24.5m (2021: £35.6m income). Of the change in fair value of the associated 
debt, £24.1m income (2021: £37.8m income) relates to Fixed USD notes and £0.4m income (2021: £2.2m expense) 
relates to the AUD bond.  

The group holds three fixed to floating interest rate swaps, which mature in 2029 and 2033. The movement in the fair 
value of the swaps resulted in an expense of £39.5m recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (2021: 
£23.3m expense). There is a change in fair value of the associated bonds of £36.4m income (2021: £20.8m income). 
The expense relating to the fair value of the individual associated bonds is as follows. £19.7m of income (2021: £9.7m 
of income) of change in fair value of associated bonds relates to the 3.625% 2029 guaranteed bonds with a fair value 
of £245.5m (2021: £264.9m) at 31 March 2022. £8.5m increase (2021: £6.5m increase) in fair value of associated bonds 
relates to the 4.965% 2033 Class B guaranteed bonds with a fair value of £96.8m (2021: £105.3m) at 31 March 2022. The 
remaining £8.3m increase (2021: £4.6m increase) in fair value of associated bonds relates to the 3.54% 2029 
guaranteed bond issued during the year with a fair value of £94.1m (2021: £102.4m) at 31 March 2022.  

The group holds two floating to fixed interest rate swaps. These have a total nominal value of £45.0m. The movements 
in the fair value of floating to fixed rate swaps resulted in income of £3.9m recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss (2021: £1.2m income). 

 (d) Hedges  

The group's policy is to hedge interest rate risk within approved Board policies and guidelines.  

Interest rate swaps are used to manage interest rate exposure under a hedging strategy that requires that Yorkshire 
Water and its subsidiaries to maintain at all times at least 85% of its total outstanding debt as inflation linked 
obligations or fixed rate obligations either directly or via hedges. At the financial year end the proportion was 108.1% 
(2021: 104.3%). At the Kelda finance group level, the proportion was 100.9% (2021: 96.3%) at the financial year end. 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(d) Hedges (continued) 

Fair value hedges 

Cross-currency interest rate swap contracts, exchanging fixed rate interest for floating rate interest on the group's 
USD notes, are designated and effective as fair value hedges in respect of interest rates and foreign currency risk. The 
group has recognised an asset of £22.9m (2021: £49.2m) for the mark to market gain in the fair value of the cross-
currency interest rate swap instruments. The fair value movement in the year has been recognised in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss. Hedge effectiveness is assessed on an ongoing basis and evaluates whether the hedging 
instrument is effective in offsetting changes in the fair values or cash flows of the hedged item attributable to the 
hedged risk, this is done through evaluating the economic relationship between hedged item and instrument, the 
effectiveness of which can be reliably measured. As, during the year and since inception, there was an effective 
economic relationship in hedging the fair value exposure to interest rate movements and foreign currency exposure, 
the carrying amount of the notes was adjusted in the year for a fair value gain of £24.1m (2021: £37.8m gain) which 
was included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The accumulated fair value hedge adjustment on the 
notes is a liability of £24.0m (2021: £48.1m). 

The group has a £33.8m cross-currency interest rate swap contract, exchanging fixed rate interest for floating rate 
interest on an AUD bond, which is designated as a fair value hedge with the bond. The hedge was highly effective in 
hedging the fair value exposure to interest rate movements in the year. The group has recognised a liability of £4.7m 
(2021: £4.0m) for the mark to market loss in the fair value of the cross-currency interest rate swaps. The fair value 
movement in the year has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As, during the year and 
since inception, the hedge was highly effective in hedging the fair value exposure to interest rate movements and 
foreign currency exposure, the carrying amount of the bond was adjusted in the year for a fair value gain of £0.4m 
(2021: £2.2m loss) which was included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The accumulated fair value 
hedge adjustment on the bond is a £4.6m asset (2021: £4.2m).  

The group has three fixed to floating interest rate swaps with nominal values of £250m, £90m and £90m. These are 
designated as fair value hedges of fixed rate bonds of the same value. The hedges were highly effective in hedging 
the fair value exposure to interest rate movements. The group has recognised assets of £17.3m (2021: £56.8m) for the 
mark to market gain in the fair value of the fixed to floating interest rate swaps. The fair value movement in the year 
has been recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. As, during the year and since inception, the hedge 
was highly effective in hedging the fair value exposure to interest rate, the carrying amount of the bonds was adjusted 
in the year for a fair value gain of £36.4m (2021: £20.8m gain) which was included in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss. The accumulated fair value hedge adjustment on the bonds is a liability of £9.1m (2021: £45.6m).  

Cash flow hedges 

The group holds energy derivatives, which help hedge the group’s exposure to energy price risk by exchanging the 
average day ahead baseload index price of electricity in a given month for a fixed price. These are designated as 
cash flow hedges and hedge accounting has been applied. The gain of £39.9m (2021: £10.1m gain) on the derivatives 
from £6.9m assets to £46.9m assets (2021: movement from £3.2m liabilities to £6.9m assets) has been recognised in 
other comprehensive income (2021: £9.7m recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income and £0.4m 
recognised in the statement of profit or loss). 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
  
(d) Hedges (continued) 

Foreign currency risk management 

The group has a number of long-term interest bearing liabilities denominated in foreign currencies; consequently, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. Exchange 
rate exposures are managed within approved policy parameters utilising cross-currency interest rate swaps. 

Impact of hedging instruments designated in hedging relationships 

The impact of hedging instruments designated in hedging relationships as of 31 March 2022 on the group’s consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: 

 
Nominal amount 

of the hedging 
instrument 

Carrying amount of the hedging 
instrument 

Line item in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 
where the hedging instrument 

is reported 

Fair value changes of the hedging 
instrument used as a basis to 

calculate hedge effectiveness 

  Assets Liabilities   

 £m £m £m  £m 

Fair value hedges 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 

Fixed to floating interest rate swaps 430.0 17.3 - Derivative financial asset (39.5) 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 
(USD) 

113.1 22.9 - Derivative financial asset (26.3) 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 
(AUD) 

33.8 - (4.7) Derivative financial liability (0.7) 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(d) Hedges (continued) 

 Nominal amount of the 
hedging instrument 

Carrying amount of the hedging 
instrument 

Line item in the consolidated statement of 
financial position where the hedging 

instrument is reported 

  Assets Liabilities  
 MWh £m £m  

Cash flow hedges 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 31 March 2022 

Energy derivatives 350,280 46.9 - Derivative financial assets 

 
Nominal amount 

of the hedging 
instrument 

Carrying amount of the hedging 
instrument 

Line item in the consolidated 
statement of financial position 

where the hedging instrument is 
reported 

Fair value changes of the hedging 
instrument used as a basis to 

calculate hedge effectiveness 

  Assets Liabilities   

 £m £m £m  £m 

Fair value hedges 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 

Fixed to floating interest rate swaps 430.0 56.8 - Derivative financial asset (21.1) 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 
(USD) 

257.7 49.2 - Derivative financial asset (39.6) 

Cross-currency interest rate swaps 
(AUD) 

33.8 - (4.0) Derivative financial liability 2.7 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(d) Hedges (continued) 
 

 Nominal amount of the 
hedging instrument 

Carrying amount of the hedging instrument 
Line item in the consolidated statement of 

financial position where the hedging 
instrument is reported 

  Assets Liabilities  
 MWh £m £m  

Cash flow hedges 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 

Energy derivatives 438,120 6.9 - Derivative financial assets 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(d) Hedges (continued) 
 
Impact of hedged items designated in hedging relationships 
The impact of hedged items designated in hedging relationships as of 31 March 2022, on the group’s consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: 
 

 Carrying amount of the 
hedged item 

Accumulated amount of fair 
value hedge adjustments 

included in the carrying 
amount of the hedged item 

From the accumulated 
amount of fair value hedge 

adjustments: part related to 
hedged items that ceased 
to be adjusted for hedging 

gains and losses 

Line item in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 
where the hedged 

item is reported 

Fair value 
changes of the 

hedged item 
used as a basis to 

calculate hedge 
ineffectiveness 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities    
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 2022 
Fair value hedges          

Interest rate risk 
hedged by fixed 

to floating swaps 

- (436.4) - (9.1) - - Borrowings (36.4) - 

Interest rate risk 
hedged by cross-
currency interest 
rate swaps (USD)  

- (137.0) - (24.0) - - Borrowings (24.1) - 

Interest rate risk 
hedged by cross-
currency interest 

rate swaps (AUD) 

- (29.3) 4.6 - - - Borrowings (0.4) - 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
(d) Hedges (continued) 

 Carrying amount of the 
hedged item 

Accumulated amount of 
fair value hedge 

adjustments included in 
the carrying amount of 

the hedged item 

From the accumulated amount of 
fair value hedge adjustments: 

part related to hedged items that 
ceased to be adjusted for 
hedging gains and losses 

Line item in the 
consolidated 
statement of 

financial position 
where the 

hedged item is 
reported 

Fair value 
changes of the 

hedged item 
used as a basis to 

calculate hedge 
ineffectiveness 

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 

 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 
Fair value hedges          

Interest rate risk on 
fixed to floating 

swaps 

- (472.5) - (45.6) - - Borrowings (20.8) - 

Interest rate risk on 
cross-currency 

interest rate swaps 
(USD) 

- (305.4) - (48.1) - - Borrowings (37.8) - 

Interest rate risk on 
cross-currency 

interest rate swaps 
(AUD) 

- (29.7) 4.2 - - - Borrowings 2.2 - 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(e) Offsetting financial assets and liabilities  

No financial assets have been offset against financial liabilities. Balances which are subject to master netting 
agreements or similar are as follows: 

 Amounts available to be offset (but not offset on the Statement of Financial Position) 

 Gross and net 
amounts reported 

on the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Master netting 
agreements 

Financial collateral Net balance 

 2022 2022 2022 2022 

 £m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial 
assets 

216.5 (151.4) - 65.1 

Derivative financial 
liabilities 

(2,630.9) 151.4 - (2,479.5) 

  

Amounts available to be offset (but not offset on the Statement of Financial Position) 

 Gross and net 
amounts reported 

on the Statement of 
Financial Position 

Master netting 
agreements 

Financial collateral Net balance 

 2021 2021 2021 2021 

 £m £m £m £m 

Derivative financial 
assets 

232.0 (179.9) (8.1) 44.0 

Derivative financial 
liabilities 

(2,343.9) 179.9 - (2,164.0) 
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19. Financial instruments (continued) 

(f) D        ‘       ’      /(losses) 

Several transactions have been completed to restructure inflation linked swaps in prior years. These have resulted in 
a ‘day one’ loss/gain adjustments, which are deferred and amortised over the remaining life of the swaps. The 
following table details the movements and amounts of deferred ‘day one’ gains (losses) included in the fair value of 
the swaps held at the balance sheet date: 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Balance at 1 April  (88.2) (53.7) 
Deferred ‘day one’ gains recognised during the year - (37.4) 
Deferred ‘day one’ gains realised during the year 12.1 2.9 
 ──────── ──────── 
Balance at 31 March  (76.1) (88.2) 
 ════════ ════════ 
   

20.  Additional cash flow information   

Analysis of movement in net debt 
 
 At 

31 March 
2020 

Non-cash 
movements 

Cash 
movements 

At 
31 March 

2021 
Non-cash 

movements 
Cash 

movements 

At 
31 March 

2022 
 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 
        
Cash and cash 
equivalents 289.5 - (80.6) 208.9 - (177.3) 31.6 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Debt due within one 
year (370.8) (268.2) 40.0 (599.0) (526.5) 493.1 (632.4) 
Finance leases due 
within one year - - - - - - - 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 (370.8) (268.2) 40.0 (599.0) (526.5) 493.1 (632.4) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Debt due after one 
year (5,603.8) 296.6 5.8 (5,301.4) 461.5 (412.0) (5,251.9) 
Finance leases due 
after one year - - - - - - - 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
 (5,603.8) 296.6 5.8 (5,301.4) 461.5 (412.0) (5,251.9) 
 ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── ──────── 
Net debt relating to 
continuing activities (5,685.1) 28.4 (34.8) (5,691.5) (65.0) (96.2) (5,852.7) 
 ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ ════════ 
 
Net debt does not include financial liabilities which are not considered to be part of the group's borrowings. 
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20. Additional cash flow information (continued) 
 
Cash generated from continuing operations as noted in the group cash flow statement can be derived as follows: 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Total (loss)/profit for the year (382.8) 2.3 
Tax charge 21.1 1.9 
Finance income (49.7) (53.3) 
Finance costs 293.6 196.1 
Net fair value movements (non-cash) on finance income and costs 369.6 101.6 
Depreciation  307.8 299.6 
Amortisation of intangibles 28.4 24.4 
Profit on disposal of operations (1.7) - 
Profit on disposal of fixed assets (7.0) (3.1) 
Movements in provisions 11.4 - 
Increase in inventories (1.9) (1.4) 
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 8.2 (12.6) 
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other payables (11.1) 40.2 
Pension contributions in excess of operating costs - (0.6) 
Amortisation of capital grants (12.3) (11.6) 
Capital contributions 32.0 35.9 
 ──────── ──────── 
Cash generated from continuing operations 605.6 619.4 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
21. Commitments 

 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
Capital and infrastructure renewals expenditure commitments for contracts 
placed at 31 March were: 492.9 378.2 
 ════════ ════════ 

The long-term investment programme for the group, which identified substantial future capital expenditure 
commitments in the period from 2020 to 2025, was agreed as part of the AMP7 Price Review process. £24.3m in 2022 
(2021: £9.6m) of the above capital commitments relate to intangibles (software). 

 

22. Related parties 
 
Compensation of key management personnel (including directors). 
 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Short-term benefits  3.0 3.5 
 ════════ ════════ 
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23. Subsidiary companies 
 
The company, as an individual entity, has the following investments in subsidiaries, associated and jointly controlled 
entities whose registered office, unless otherwise stated, is Western House, Halifax Road, Bradford, West Yorkshire 
BD6 2SZ: 
 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

Country  
of tax 

residence 

Class of 
shares in 

issue 

Proportion of 
class of share 

held 
Water services     

Yorkshire Water Services Limited 
England & 

Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
 
 

 
Country of 

incorporation 

Country  
of tax 

residence 

Class of 
shares in 

issue 

Proportion of 
class of share 

held 
Holding and finance companies     
Yorkshire Water Services Holdings Limited England & Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
Yorkshire Water Services Finance Limited England & Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
Kelda Finance (No.2) Limited England & Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
Kelda Finance (No.3) Plc England & Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
Yorkshire Water Finance Plc England & Wales UK Ordinary 100% 
Southern Pennines Rural Regeneration Company1 England & Wales UK Limited by 

guarantee 
100% 

 
1 Registered office address: Canal & Visitors Centre Butler's Wharf, New Road, Hebden Bridge, England, HX7 8AF 

 

24. Ultimate controlling party 

The company's immediate parent company is Kelda Group Limited. The company's ultimate parent company and 
controlling party is Kelda Holdings Limited, a company registered in Jersey and resident for tax in the UK. 
 
The largest group in which the results of the company are consolidated is that headed by Kelda Holdings Limited, the 
registered office of which is 47 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 0BD, Channel Islands. The largest UK group in which the 
results of the company are consolidated is that headed by Kelda Eurobond Co Limited, incorporated in England and 
Wales. The registered address of Kelda Eurobond Co Limited is the same as that of the company. The consolidated 
Financial Statements of these groups are available to the public and may be obtained from the Company Secretary, 
Kelda Eurobond Co Limited, Western House, Halifax Road, Bradford, BD6 2SZ. 
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25. Contingent liabilities 

Five claims have been issued at various dates between December 2019 and March 2021 against Yorkshire Water by 
personal search companies (PSCs). The claims relate to historical search fees that PSCs have paid to Yorkshire Water 
for water and drainage reports obtained when buying a house. The PSCs state that the historical fees should not have 
been paid to Yorkshire Water as the information should have been provided for no fee under the Environmental 
Information Regulations 2004. Yorkshire Water has adopted the same stance as the rest of the sector in relation to 
this claim in disagreeing with the interpretation taken on behalf of the PSCs.  

Yorkshire Water denies liability in relation to the claims and thus considers any outflow of economic benefit in relation 
to these claims is not probable. Accordingly, no provision has been recognised in this regard (2021: no provision 
recognised). 

Yorkshire Water is subject to ongoing information requests from Ofwat and the EA which were received on 18 
November 2021 by the EA and subsequently on 8 March 2022 from Ofwat. The subject of these investigations has 
impacted all water and sewerage companies in England and Wales. The outcome of these enquiries and any 
potential consequences is not known at this time. 

 
26. Post balance sheet event 

Kelda Finance (No.2) Limited raised £65.0m new borrowings on 7 April 2022. Proceeds were used to refinance an 
existing loan, within the same entity, that was otherwise due for repayment in December 2022.  
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  2022 2021 
 Notes £m £m 
Fixed assets    
Investments 3 778.4 778.4 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total assets less current liabilities  778.4 778.4 
  ──────── ──────── 
Net assets  778.4 778.4 
  ════════ ════════ 
Capital and reserves    
Called up share capital 4 - - 
Profit and loss account  778.4 778.4 
  ──────── ──────── 
Total shareholders' funds  778.4 778.4 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
The profit attributable to the parent company was £45.2m (2021: £52.0m). Advantage has been taken of the exemption 
available under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 not to present a profit and loss account for the company 
alone. 
 
The Financial Statements on pages 125 to 127 were approved by the Board of directors on 27 July 2022 and signed on 
its behalf by: 
 

 
 
C I Johns 
Director 
  
Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Registered number: 08066326 
 
Registered Address: 
Western House 
Halifax Road 
Bradford 
West Yorkshire 
BD6 2SZ 
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Notes 
Profit and 

 loss account 

Total 
shareholders' 

funds 
  £m £m 
    
At 31 March 2020  778.4 778.4 
Profit for the year  52.0 52.0 
Dividends paid 2 (52.0) (52.0) 
  ──────── ──────── 
At 31 March 2021  778.4 778.4 
Profit for the year  45.2 45.2 
Dividends paid 2 (45.2) (45.2) 
  ──────── ──────── 
At 31 March 2022  778.4 778.4 
  ════════ ════════ 
 
During the year, dividends of £45.2m, £0.45m per share (2021: £52.0m, £0.52m) were declared and cash settled with 
the immediate parent company. 
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1. Company accounting policies 
 
Basis of accounting 

Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited’s (the company) Financial Statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the 
historical cost convention in compliance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 
101) and, except where otherwise stated in the notes to the Financial Statements, with the Companies Act 2006. In 
preparing these Financial Statements, the company applies the recognition, measurement, and disclosure 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) but makes amendments where necessary in order 
to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has 
been taken. 

These consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and are available to the public and may be obtained from its registered office address: Western House, 
Halifax Road, Bradford, BD6 2SZ. 

In these Financial Statements, the company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of the 
following disclosures:  

• Cash Flow Statement and related notes; 
• Comparative period reconciliation for share capital; 
• Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries; 
• The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and 
• Disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel. 

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods 
presented in these Financial Statements. In the current year, the Company has applied a number of amendments to 
IFRS Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board that are mandatorily effective for an 
accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2021. Their adoption has not had any material impact on the 
disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial statements. 

The going concern basis has been applied in these Financial Statements. The accounting policies shown below have 
been applied consistently throughout the current and prior year. 

Measurement convention 

The company’s Financial Statements are prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost convention.  

Investments in subsidiaries 

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost and reviewed for impairment if there are indications that the carrying 
value may not be recoverable. 

Dividends receivable 

Dividends receivable are recognised when the shareholders' right to receive the revenue is established. 

Dividends payable 

Interim dividends payable are recognised on payment of the dividend. Final dividends payable are recognised on 
approval by shareholders in the annual general meeting. 

Share capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
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1. Company accounting policies (continued) 

Taxation 

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and loss account 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income or expense, 
in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income or expense. 

Current tax  

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 

Deferred tax 

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary differences are not 
provided for: the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in 
a business combination, and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of 
realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the balance sheet date. 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the temporary difference can be utilised. 

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 

The preparation of Financial Statements under FRS 101 requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It 
also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the company’s accounting policies. 
There were no such areas of judgement or estimation uncertainty deemed significant in these Financial Statements. 

2. Dividends 
 2022 2021 
 £m £m 
   
Dividends of £0.45m per share paid in the year (2021: £0.52m) 45.2 52.0 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
 
 
3. Investments 
 
 Shares in 

group 
undertakings 

 £m 
  
Cost at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2022 (note 23) 778.4 
 ════════ 
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4. Called up share capital 
 
 2022 2021 
 £ £ 
Issued and fully paid: 100 Ordinary shares of £1.00 each 100 100 
 ════════ ════════ 
 
 
5. Other information 

The company had no employees at 31 March 2022 (2021: none). 

Details of directors' emoluments are set out in the directors' remuneration report of the group. No elements related 
specifically to their work in the company. 

Disclosure notes relating to share capital and auditor’s remuneration are included within the Financial Statements of 
the group. 

Auditor’s remuneration has been borne by Kelda Group Limited. 
 
6. Ultimate controlling party 

The company's immediate parent company is Kelda Group Limited. The company’s ultimate parent company is Kelda 
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Jersey and resident for tax in the UK. The directors consider that there is 
no ultimate controlling party.  
 
The largest group in which the results of the company are consolidated is that headed by Kelda Holdings Limited, the 
registered office of which is 47 Esplanade, St Helier, Jersey, JE1 0BD, Channel Islands. The largest and smallest UK group 
in which the results of the company are consolidated is that headed by Kelda Eurobond Co Limited, incorporated in 
England and Wales. The registered address of Kelda Eurobond Co Limited is the same as that of the company. The 
consolidated Financial Statements of these groups are available to the public and may be obtained from the 
Company Secretary, Kelda Eurobond Co Limited, Western House, Halifax Road, Bradford, BD6 2SZ. 
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Independent auditor’s report to the members of Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion: 

• the financial statements of Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘group’) 
give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March 2022 and 
of the group’s profit for the year then ended;  

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting 
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB);  

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure 
Framework”; and 

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. 
 
We have audited the financial statements which comprise: 

• the consolidated statement of profit or loss; 

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income; 

• the consolidated and parent statement of financial position; 

• the consolidated and parent company statements of changes in equity; 

• the consolidated statement of cash flows; 

• the related notes 1 to 26 of the consolidated financial statements; and 

• the related notes 1 to 6 of the parent financial statements.  
 
The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is 
applicable law, international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 
and IFRSs as issued by the IASB. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the 
parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 
 
Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor's responsibilities for the audit of the 
financial statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the group and the parent company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) 
Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
Conclusions relating to going concern 
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. Our evaluation of the directors’ assessment 
of the group’s and parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting included: 
 
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or 
conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and parent company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised 
for issue.  
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Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the directors with respect to going concern are described in the 
relevant sections of this report. 
 
Other information 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information within the annual report. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise 
explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the course of the audit, or 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial 
statements themselves. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of directors 
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent company 
or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 
 
Extent to which the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud 
Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in 
line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below.  
 
We considered the nature of the group’s industry and its control environment and reviewed the group’s 
documentation of their policies and procedures relating to fraud and compliance with laws and regulations. We also 
enquired of management , internal audit and the audit committee about their own identification and assessment of 
the risks of irregularities. 
 
We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework that the group operates in, and identified the 
key laws and regulations that:  

• had a direct effect on the determination of material amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. These 
included UK Companies Act, pensions legislation, tax legislation; and 

http://www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities
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• do not have a direct effect on the financial statements but compliance with which may be fundamental to the 
group’s ability to operate or to avoid a material penalty. These included the license conditions imposed by The 
Water Services Regulation Authority (Ofwat). 

 
We discussed among the audit engagement team including significant component audit teams and relevant internal 
specialists such as tax, valuations, pensions, IT and industry specialists regarding the opportunities and incentives that 
may exist within the organisation for fraud and how and where fraud might occur in the financial statements. 
 
As a result of performing the above, we identified the greatest potential for fraud in the following areas, and our 
specific procedures performed to address it are described below: 

• Valuation of household bad debt provisioning and revenue recognition from customers where payment is not 
deemed probable. We have obtained an understanding and tested relevant controls, recalculated the bad 
debt provision based on management’s policy and challenged the key assumptions within the model. We 
have done this through evaluating potential contradictory evidence, performing sensitivity analysis and 
benchmarking to other water companies with a similar provisioning approach. 

 
In common with all audits under ISAs (UK), we are also required to perform specific procedures to respond to the risk 

of management override. In addressing the risk of fraud through management override of controls, we tested the 

appropriateness of journal entries and other adjustments; assessed whether the judgements made in making 

accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias; and evaluated the business rationale of any significant 

transactions that are unusual or outside the normal course of business. 

In addition to the above, our procedures to respond to the risks identified included the following: 

• reviewing financial statement disclosures by testing to supporting documentation to assess compliance with 
provisions of relevant laws and regulations described as having a direct effect on the financial statements; 

• performing analytical procedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships that may indicate risks of 
material misstatement due to fraud;  

• enquiring of management, internal audit and legal counsel concerning actual and potential litigation and claims, 
and instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations; and  

• reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance and reviewing internal audit reports. 
 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 
 
Opinions on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and 

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements. 

 
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and of the parent company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified any material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
directors’ report. 
 
Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or 

• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or 

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or 

• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 
 
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters. 
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Use of our report 
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
Jane Boardman BSc FCA (Senior statutory auditor) 
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP 
Statutory Auditor 
Leeds, United Kingdom 
27 July 2022 
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Kelda Finance (No.1) Limited 
Glossary  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

AGM Annual general meeting  
AMP Asset Management Period: the five-year period over which our regulatory targets 

and budgets are set 
APR Annual Performance Report 
ARFS Annual report and Financial Statements 
BAME Black, Asian and minority ethnic 
CCW Consumer Council for Water 
CEO Chief Executive Officer 
CMA Competition & Markets Authority 
CMEX Customer Measure of Experience 
CO2e Carbon dioxide equivalent, is a standard unit for measuring carbon footprints 
CPI Consumer Price Index 
CRI Compliance Risk Index 
DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 
DMEX Developer Services Measure of Experience 
DWMP Drainage and Wastewater Management Plans 
DMF Decision Making Framework 
EA Environment Agency 
EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax and depreciation 
EPA Environmental Performance Assessment 
ESG Environmental, social and corporate governance 
EU European Union 
FD AMP7 Final Determination 
GHG Greenhouse gas 
H&S Health & Safety 
HSSE Health, Safety, Security & Environment 
ICR Interest cover ratio 
IIRC International Integrated Reporting Council 
IoT Internet of Things 
KPI Key performance indicator 
Kt Kilo tonnes  
LTIR Lost time injury rate 
MIEx Magnetic ion exchange 
NGO Non-governmental organisation 
ODI Outcome delivery incentive: financial reward/penalty from performance 

commitment results 
PC Performance commitment: AMP7 Ofwat measure for operational performance 
PR Price Review 2019 (relating to AMP7)/ 2024 (relating to AMP8)  
RCF Revolving Credit Facility 
RCV Regulatory capital value  
RPI Retail Price Index 
SDGs Sustainable development goals  
SFF Sustainable Finance Framework 
UN United Nations 
WACC Weighted Average Cost of Capital 
WINEP Water Industry National Environment Programme 
WRMP Water Resource Management plan 
WWTW Wastewater treatment works 
YWLT Yorkshire Water Leadership Team   

 
 


